
 

TOWN OF GRANITE QUARRY 
BOARD OF ALDERMEN  

REGULAR MEETING 
Monday, June 14, 2021 7:00 p.m. 

 
Call to Order   Mayor Feather 
 
Determination of Quorum  
 
Moment of Silence 
 
Pledge of Allegiance   
 
1. Approval of Agenda 

 
2. Approval of Consent Agenda 

A. Approval of the Minutes 
1) Regular Meeting Minutes May 10, 2021 
2) Budget Workshop Minutes May 21, 2021 
3) Budget Workshop Minutes June 3, 2021 

B. Departmental Reports (Reports in Board packet) 
C. Financial Reports (Reports in Board packet) 
D. Chamberlain Exterminators, LLC Annual Agreement for Termite Protection Services 

 
3. Citizen Comments 

(All comments are limited to 6 minutes. No sharing of minutes with other citizens.) 
 
4. Guests and Presentations 

A. Amy Smith, Rowan County  Tobacco Use in Parks 
B. Kendall Henderson, EDC 
 

5. Town Events 
• Parks Master Plan Community Input Session         

Wednesday, June 16, 2021 Lake Park Shelter 5:00 p.m.         
 

6. Town Manager Update (Report in Board packet)      

Old Business     None 

 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 1



New Business 

7. Public Hearing FY 2021-2022 Proposed Budget 

ACTION REQUESTED: Motion to adopt the FY2021-2022 Budget (as recommended / as revised 
and discussed this date 

8. Public Hearing UDO Text ZBA Membership 

Statement of Consistency and Reasonableness: 
In voting to adopt the proposed text amendment to the Unified Development Ordinance, the 
Granite Quarry Board of Aldermen does find this decision to be in the best interest of the public 
and to be consistent in general with policies stated in the Town’s Comprehensive Plan. 

ACTION REQUESTED: Motion to adopt Ordinance 2021-09 to amend the text of the Unified 
Development Ordinance by modifying the zoning board of adjustment membership numbers and 
approve the statement of consistency and reasonableness as written. 

9. Public Hearing Flood Damage Prevention Ordinance 

Statement of Consistency and Reasonableness: 
In voting to adopt the proposed text amendment to the Unified Development Ordinance, the 
Granite Quarry Board of Aldermen does find this decision to be in the best interest of the public 
and to be consistent in general with policies stated in the Town’s Comprehensive Plan. 

ACTION REQUESTED: Motion to adopt Ordinance 2021-11 to amend the text of the Unified 
Development Ordinance by replacing the flood damage prevention ordinance and approve the 
statement of consistency and reasonableness as written. 

10. Public Hearing Conflict of Interest 

Statement of Consistency and Reasonableness: 
In voting to adopt the proposed text amendment to the Unified Development Ordinance, the 
Granite Quarry Board of Aldermen does find this decision to be in the best interest of the public 
and to be consistent in general with policies stated in the Town’s Comprehensive Plan. 

ACTION REQUESTED: Motion to adopt Ordinance 2021-12 to amend the text of the Unified 
Development Ordinance by modifying the Conflict of Interest text and approve the statement 
of consistency and reasonableness as written. 

11. Reappointments Planning Board 
At their May 5, 2021 meeting, the Planning Board voted to recommend the Board of Aldermen 
reappoint Jerry Holshouser, Richard Luhrs, and Joe Hudson to Town resident Planning Board seats and 
Michelle Reid to an ETJ Planning Board seat with term expirations of 7/31/2024. 

ACTION REQUESTED: Motion to reappoint Jerry Holshouser, Richard Luhrs, and Joe Hudson to 
Town resident Planning Board seats and recommend to the County Board of Commissioners that 
Michelle Reid be reappointed to an ETJ Planning Board seat all with term expirations of 7/31/2024. 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 2



12. Reappointment    Community Appearance Commission 
At their May 13, 2021 meeting, the Community Appearance Commission voted to recommend the 
Board of Aldermen reappoint Semone Brisson to ETJ Community Appearance Commission seat with 
a term expiration of 7/31/2024. 

 
ACTION REQUESTED: Motion to reappoint Semone Brisson to ETJ Community Appearance 
Commission seat with a term expiration of 7/31/2024. 

 
13. Reappointments    Zoning Board of Adjustment 

At their May 17, 2021 meeting, the Zoning Board of Adjustment voted to recommend the Board of 
Aldermen reappoint Doreen Luhrs to a Town resident seat and Greg Lowe to an ETJ seat, each with a 
term expiration of 7/31/2024. 

 
ACTION REQUESTED: Motion to reappoint Doreen Luhrs to a Town resident Zoning Board of 
Adjustment seat and recommend to the County Board of Commissioners that Greg Lowe be reappointed 
to an ETJ Zoning Board of Adjustment seat, each with a term expiration of 7/31/2024. 

 
14. Reappointment    Parks, Events, and Recreation Committee 

At their May 24, 2021 meeting, the Parks, Events, and Recreation Committee voted to recommend the 
Board of Aldermen reappoint Melinda Hege to a Parks, Events, and Recreation Committee seat with a 
term expiration of 7/31/2024. 

 
ACTION REQUESTED: Motion to reappoint Melinda Hege to a Parks, Events, and Recreation 
Committee seat with a term expiration of 7/31/2024. 

 
15. Social Media / Website   Updates and Recommendations 

Follow-up on items discussed at Board of Aldermen Planning Retreat. 
 
ACTION REQUESTED: Direction from the Board on how it wishes to proceed. 
 

16. Ordinance Adoption Follow-up  Purchasing Policy 
 
ACTION REQUESTED: Motion to adopt Resolution 2021-12 adopting the new Town Purchasing 
Policy. 

 
17. Clyde Adams Plaque 

 
ACTION REQUESTED: Motion to proceed with the purchase of plaque as presented. 

 
18. Annexation Ratification    2016-09-06 

 
ACTION REQUESTED: Motion to adopt the proposed ratification as presented. 
 

19. Agreement Amendment   Civitans / Legion Hut Agreement 
 
ACTION REQUESTED: Motion to approve the revised Agreement with the Civitan Club for use of 
the Legion Building as presented. 

 
20. Proclamation    Harry Drury 100th Birthday 

 
21. Board Comments 
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 3



22. Mayor’s Notes  Announcements and Date Reminders  
A. Wednesday  June 9 5:00 p.m. Centralina Executive Board Meeting 
B. Thursday  June 10 6:00 p.m. Community Appearance Commission 
C. Tuesday June 15  3:30 p.m. Revitalization Team 
D. Wednesday June 16 5:00 p.m. Parks Community Input Session Lake Shelter 
E. Monday  June 21 5:00 p.m. Parks, Events, and Recreation Committee 
F. Wednesday  June 23  5:30 p.m. Cabarrus-Rowan County MPO TAC 
G. Monday July 5  Independence Day Observed  
H. Tuesday July 6 6:00 p.m. Planning Board  
I. Monday  July 12 5:00 p.m. Rowan Chamber Business After Hours 
J. Saturday July 24 9:00 a.m. Rowan Chamber Dragon Boat Festival 

 
Adjourn  

Town of Granite Quarry Page 4



Agenda Item Summary 
Regular Meeting 
June 14, 2021 
Agenda Item 1                            Approval of Agenda 

          
 
 

Summary: 
 

The Board may discuss, add, or delete items from the Regular 
Meeting agenda. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Action Requested: 
 

Motion to adopt the June 14, 2021 Board of Aldermen 
Meeting Agenda (as presented / as amended). 

Motion Made By: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  

Second By: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  
 
 

 

For: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  

Against: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  

 
 
In case of tie: 
Mayor Bill Feather 
 For              

 Against      
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 5



Agenda Item Summary 
Regular Meeting 
June 14, 2021 
Agenda Item 2                     Approval of Consent Agenda 

          
 
 

Summary: 
 

The Board may discuss, add, or delete items from the Consent 
Agenda. 
 
A. Approval of the Minutes 
1) Regular Meeting Minutes May 10, 2021 
2) Budget Workshop Meeting Minutes May 21, 2021 
3) Budget Workshop Meeting Minutes June 3, 2021 

B. Departmental Reports (Reports in Board packet) 
C. Financial Reports (Reports in Board packet) 
D. Chamberlain Exterminators, LLC Annual Agreement 

for Termite Protection Services 
 

 
 
 
 

Action Requested: 
Motion to approve the consent agenda (as presented / as 
amended).  

 

Motion Made By: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  

Second By: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  
 
 

 

For: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  

Against: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  

 
 
In case of tie: 
Mayor Bill Feather 
 For              

 Against      
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 6



 

                                                                  
TOWN OF GRANITE QUARRY 

BOARD OF ALDERMEN  
REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

Monday, May 10, 2021 
7:00 p.m. 

 

 
Present:  Mayor Bill Feather, Mayor Pro Tem John Linker, Alderman Jim Costantino, Alderman Doug Shelton 
 
Not Present: Alderman Kim Cress, Town Attorney Chip Short 
 
Staff: Town Manager Larry Smith, Town Clerk Aubrey Smith, Fire Chief/ Public Works Director Jason Hord, 
Finance Officer Shelly Shockley, Town Planner Steve Blount 
 
Call to Order:  Mayor Feather called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
 
Determination of Quorum: Mayor Feather determined there was a quorum present. 
 
Moment of Silence:  Mayor Feather led a moment of silence.   
 
Pledge of Allegiance:  The Pledge of Allegiance was led by Scout Kaeden Phillips of Troop 379. 
 
1. Approval of the Agenda 

Alderman Shelton requested that an item, “Budget Schedule”, be added to the agenda after item 17. 
Mayor Pro Tem Linker asked for more information about the item. Alderman Shelton clarified that he 
would like to discuss the timetable for the budget information to be presented. 
 
ACTION:  Mayor Feather accepted Alderman Shelton’s request (that an item, “Budget Schedule”, be 
added to the agenda after item 17) as a motion. Alderman Costantino seconded the motion. The motion 
passed 3-0. 

 
2. Approval of the Consent Agenda 

A. Approval of the Minutes 
1) Regular Meeting Minutes April 12, 2021 
2) Budget Workshop Minutes April 21, 2021 

B. Departmental Reports (Reports in Board packet) 
C. Financial Reports (Reports in Board packet) 
D. Amended 2021 Holiday Schedule for Adoption 

 
ACTION: Alderman Shelton made a motion to approve the consent agenda. Alderman Costantino 
seconded the motion.  The motion passed 3-0. 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 7



 
3. Citizen Comments - There were no citizen comments. 

 
4. Guests and Presentations - There were no guests and presentations. 

 
5. Town Events 

• Dumpsters for Residents    May 13th & 14th 9am-3pm, May 15th 8am-12pm, 1040 Mar Rock Dr. 
 

6. Town Manager’s Update 
Manager Smith reviewed items from his report in the agenda packet. The SECU Roadway “B” naming 
item was included in anticipation of next month’s agenda. Some of the names that had been vetted 
through the county were included for the Board’s feedback. Alderman Shelton commented that he liked 
Stone Cutter Lane, Mayor Pro Tem Linker stated he was also fine with Stone Cutter Lane, and 
Alderman Costantino didn’t state a preference.  
 
Manager Smith stated that no more was expended for GQ Emergency Paid Sick Leave for the month 
of April. The policy runs through June 30, 2021. Finance recommends pulling funds to cover those 
costs out of COVID-19 Relief Funds 4110-29. Manager Smith asked whether there was any Board 
objection to that since the GQEPSL was a Board policy. There were no stated objections from Board 
members. 

 
Old Business     None 
 
New Business 
     
7. Public Hearing               Annexation of Contiguous Teramore Property 

Manager Smith showed maps of the property in question and reviewed the summary of the proposed 
annexation. 

 
Opened: Mayor Feather opened the public hearing at 7:07 p.m. 
 
Comments of those in favor: None 
 
Comments of those opposed: None 
 
Closed: Mayor Feather closed the public hearing at 7:07 p.m. 
 

ACTION: Mayor Pro Tem Linker made a motion to adopt Annexation Ordinance 2021-08 to extend 
the corporate limits of the Town of Granite Quarry, North Carolina as a contiguous annexation. 
Alderman Costantino seconded the motion. The motion passed 3-0. 

 
8. Public Hearing               UDO Text Amendment Stormwater Landscaping 

Planner Blount reviewed his memo on the proposed text amendment that was included in the agenda 
packet. 

 
Opened: Mayor Feather opened the public hearing at 7:10 p.m. 
 
Comments of those in favor: None 
 
Comments of those opposed: None 
 
Closed: Mayor Feather closed the public hearing at 7:10 p.m. 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 8



 
Statement of Consistency and Reasonableness: 
In voting to adopt the proposed text amendment to the Unified Development Ordinance, the Granite 
Quarry Board of Aldermen does find this decision to be in the best interest of the public and to be 
consistent in general with policies stated in the Town’s Comprehensive Plan. 

 
ACTION: Mayor Pro Tem Linker made a motion to adopt Ordinance 2021-06 to amend the text of the 
Unified Development Ordinance by adding requirements for stormwater collection system landscaping 
and approve the statement of consistency and reasonableness as written. Alderman Costantino seconded 
the motion. The motion passed 3-0. 
 
Discussion included questions from the Board regarding appearance standards and upkeep of the 
exposed stormwater control. Mayor Feather asked why the Town didn’t take the steps to prohibit 
exposed stormwater completely. Planner Blount responded that it was because of the economic impact. 
Alderman Shelton voiced no objections to approving this as a first step with an ultimate goal of having 
no retention ponds next to the street. Mayor Pro Tem Linker agreed with the current action being a first 
step. The Board recommended by consensus that Planner Blount research to see what other cities have 
and are using as best practice options to protect their communities. 
 

9. Public Hearing    UDO Text Amendment Industrial Outdoor Storage 
Planner Blount reviewed his memo on the proposed text amendment that was included in the agenda 
packet. 

 
Opened: Mayor Feather opened the public hearing at 7:27 p.m. 
 
Comments of those in favor: None 
 
Comments of those opposed: None 
 
Closed: Mayor Feather closed the public hearing at 7:27 p.m. 
 

Statement of Consistency and Reasonableness: 
In voting to adopt the proposed text amendment to the Unified Development Ordinance, the Granite 
Quarry Board of Aldermen does find this decision to be in the best interest of the public and to be 
consistent in general with policies stated in the Town’s Comprehensive Plan. 

 
ACTION: Mayor Pro Tem Linker made a motion to adopt Ordinance 2021-07 to amend the text of the 
Unified Development Ordinance by modifying outdoor storage requirements in the town’s industrial 
park and approve the statement of consistency and reasonableness as written. Alderman Costantino 
seconded the motion. The motion passed 3-0. 
 
Board discussion included a question from Mayor Feather asking what would need to change if the 
Town added another industrial park. Planner Blount responded the text would need to be amended 
again at that point. Alderman Shelton asked about the lack of a requirement for screening. Planner 
Blount stated that because of the road’s elevation at that particular location, the screen would have to 
be more than twenty feet high to keep someone from being able to see from the road.  

 
10. Resolution 2021-07    Accepting Mar Rock Drive 

Manager Smith recommended removal from the agenda because staff had not had time to get definitive 
answers to questions two board members asked before the meeting regarding Mar Rock Drive. 
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 9



ACTION: Alderman Costantino made a motion to “table” accepting Resolution 2021-07 accepting 
Mar Rock Drive and its right of way as part of the Town’s system of publicly maintained streets as 
presented. Alderman Shelton seconded the motion. The motion passed 3-0. 

 
11. Appointment    Community Appearance Commission 

The Board reviewed the recommendation from the Community Appearance Commission to appoint 
Michael Brazeel to the vacant Town resident seat expiring 7/31/2022. 
 
ACTION: Alderman Costantino made a motion to appoint Michael Brazeel to the vacant Community 
Appearance Commission Town resident seat expiring 7/31/2022. Mayor Pro Tem Linker seconded the 
motion. The motion passed 3-0. 
 

12. HB 401     Resolution 2021-08 
 
ACTION: Mayor Pro Tem Linker made a motion to adopt Resolution 2021-08 opposing proposed 
zoning reform House Bill 401. Alderman Costantino seconded the motion. Mayor Feather proposed 
that the motion be amended to include the addition of a letter by the Board stating its opposition. Mayor 
Pro Tem Linker amended his motion to include the addition of a letter and Alderman Costantino 
seconded the amended motion. The motion passed 3-0. 

 
13. Budget Amendment   Light Pole 

 
ACTION: Alderman Costantino made a motion to approve Budget Amendment FY20-21 #14 as 
presented. Mayor Pro Tem Linker seconded the motion. The motion passed 3-0. 
 
Alderman Shelton asked whether this could be covered in the existing budget. Manager Smith 
explained that it could, and he recommended removal of the request.  It has simply been town practice 
to present pass-through budget amendments this way, but the process would be changing effective July 
1 and would be simplified. 
  

14. Personnel Policy Follow-Up  Clarifications  
Clerk Smith presented the summary of clarifications from the personnel policy follow-up from the 
memo provided in the agenda packet. Staff proposed adding the language “except in designated areas” 
to the existing Tobacco policy for areas to be designated for employee tobacco use at the Manager’s 
discretion. 
 
ACTION: Alderman Costantino made a motion to add the wording “except in designated areas” to 
the Tobacco policy. Mayor Pro Tem Linker seconded the motion. The motion passed 3-0. 

 
15. Personnel Policy Follow-Up  Safety Policy, Resolution 2021-09 

 
ACTION: Mayor Pro Tem Linker made a motion to adopt Resolution 2021-09 establishing a Safety 
Policy. Alderman Shelton seconded the motion. The motion passed 3-0. 
 

16. PD Budget Amendments    
A. FY20-21 #15    Capital Outlay to Operation to Credit Faith 

To reduce Police Authority Revenue - Faith (01-3431-41) and Police – Capital Outlay - Vehicles 
(01-4310-54) by a percentage of unspent reappropriated funds from FY 19-20 by $3,233. 
 
Staff requested a motion to authorize the Finance Officer to invoice the Town of Faith for the 4th 
quarter of FY 20-21 at a rate discounted by $3,233 and to approve Budget Amendment Request 
#15 decreasing Police Authority Revenue – Faith and Police – Capital Outlay Vehicles by $3,233.  

Town of Granite Quarry Page 10



ACTION: Alderman Costantino made a motion to “table” the item. Alderman Shelton seconded 
the motion. The motion passed 3-0.  
 
There was Board discussion regarding the source of the funds and how reappropriations will be 
handled in the future. Manager Smith is planning a JPA presentation at an upcoming Board 
meeting. 

 
B. FY20-21 #13    Sale of Car (May) 

To transfer funds from Police - Surplus Items Sold (01-3835-80) to Police – Uniforms (01-4310-
21) in the amount of $4,494 from the sale of a Police vehicle to purchase uniforms. 

 
ACTION: Mayor Pro Tem Linker made a motion to approve Budget Amendment FY20-21 #13 as 
presented. Alderman Costantino seconded the motion. The motion passed 3-0. 

 
17. Budget Amendment Corrections 

A. FY20-21 #2-A 
Budget Amendment Request #2 was presented and approved on September 8, 2020. Funds were 
transferred from Governing Body - Board Contingency (01-4110-97) to Governing Body - Board 
Expense (01-4110-08) in the amount of $420 to reconcile the uncollectable outstanding balance in 
accounts receivable due to an unpaid allotment for board technology beginning in 2014. Funds 
should have been transferred to Governing Body – Office Expense (01-4110-26). 

 
ACTION: Alderman Shelton made a motion to approve Budget Amendment FY20-21 #2-A as 
presented. Mayor Pro Tem Linker seconded the motion. The motion passed 3-0. 

 
B. FY20-21 #9-A 

Budget Amendment Request #9 was presented and approved on January 11, 2021. Funds were 
transferred from Governing Body - Board Contingency (01-4110-97) to Governing Body - Board 
Expense (01-4110-08) to reimburse Christian Stebe for expenses related to an Eagle Scout project 
approved at the October 5, 2020 Board of Aldermen meeting. Funds should have been transferred 
to Governing Body - Office Expense (01-4110-26). 

 
ACTION: Alderman Shelton made a motion to approve Budget Amendment FY20-21 #9-A as 
presented. Mayor Pro Tem Linker seconded the motion. The motion passed 3-0. 
 

C. Budget Calendar 
The Board and Manager Smith discussed the timeline for budget-related meetings and decided on 
the following dates by consensus: 
• May 21, 2021 2:00 p.m. Budget Workshop  

Mayor Pro Tem sent a text to Alderman Cress and confirmed he would be available on this 
date as well. 

• May 28, 2021 Budget Presentation, budget available for public inspection 
• June 14, 2021 Public Hearing on Budget at Regular Board Meeting 

 
18. Proclamations 

Mayor Feather acknowledged the following proclamations: 
A. National Police Week   May 9 - 15th  

• Peace Officers Memorial Day May 15th 
B. National Public Works Week  May 16 - 22nd  

 
19. Board Comments - There were no Board Comments 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 11



20. Mayor’s Notes    Announcements and Date Reminders  
A. Wednesday  May 12  5:00 p.m. Centralina Board of Delegates Meeting 
B. Thursday  May 13  6:00 p.m. Community Appearance Commission 
C. Monday  May 17  5:00 p.m. Parks, Events, and Recreation Committee 
D. Monday  May 17  5:30 p.m. Zoning Board of Adjustment  
E. Tuesday  May 18  3:30 p.m. Revitalization Team 
F. Thursday  May 20  7:30 a.m. Rowan Chamber Power in Partnership 
G. Wednesday  May 26  5:30 p.m. Cabarrus-Rowan County MPO TAC 
H. Monday  May 31    Memorial Day, Town Offices Closed 
I. Monday  June 7  6:00 p.m. Planning Board  
J. Monday  June 14  5:00 p.m. Rowan Chamber Business After Hours 

 
Adjourn  
 
ACTION: Alderman Costantino made a motion to adjourn. Mayor Pro Tem Linker seconded the motion. 
The meeting ended at 8:18 p.m. 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 

Aubrey Smith 
Town Clerk 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 12



                                                                  
TOWN OF GRANITE QUARRY 

BOARD OF ALDERMEN  
BUDGET WORKSHOP MEETING MINUTES 

Friday, May 21, 2021 2:00 p.m. 
 
Present:  Mayor Bill Feather, Mayor Pro Tem John Linker, Alderman Jim Costantino, Alderman Kim 
Cress, Alderman Doug Shelton 
 
Staff: Town Manager Larry Smith, Town Clerk Aubrey Smith, Finance Officer Shelly Shockley, Police 
Chief Mark Cook 
 
Call to Order:  Mayor Feather called the meeting to order at 2:01 p.m. 
 
1. Approval of the Agenda 
 

ACTION: Alderman Costantino made a motion to approve the agenda as presented. Alderman Cress 
seconded the motion. The motion passed 4-0. 

 
2. Resolution 2021-11    Regional Law Enforcement Mutual Aid Agreement 

Centralina Regional Council informed the Town that June 1, 2021 the current Regional Law 
Enforcement Mutual Aid Agreement for 2018 will expire and the 2021 agreement will go into effect. 
They have asked that agencies who would like to continue working under the agreement submit a 
resolution from their governing body authorizing the law enforcement agency head to enter into the 
2021 agreement and a notarized signature page signed by the law enforcement agency head. They have 
asked that both documents be sent to them by May 28, 2021. 
  
ACTION:  Mayor Pro Tem Linker made a motion to approve (Resolution 2021-11 adopting a policy 
for mutual aid assistance with other law enforcement agencies). Alderman Costantino seconded the 
motion. The motion passed 4-0. 
 

3. Discussion     FY 21-22 Budget 
Manager Smith presented from the attached Budget Workshop Outline handout. 
 
A. Health Insurance Renewal 

The renewal of the current Blue Cross Blue Shield plan was projected at a 16.68 total annual 
percentage increase from the current plan. After multiple price comparisons through the Laymon 
Group, the Town’s broker, an option through the North Carolina League of Municipalities was 
recommended at roughly a 7.10 total annual percentage increase from the current plan. 
 
ACTION: There was Board consensus to move forward with the best option for health insurance 
with the League and renew coverage as recommended. 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 13



B. Budget Amendment FY20-21 #16 
Staff initially expected to have to transfer full FEMA project funds up front from the General Fund 
to the Grant Project Ordinance. That transfer was budgeted through the Maintenance FEMA Lake 
Project expense line (01-4190-96) and reimbursements were expected to be transferred through the 
Grants revenue line (01-3300-36). The revenue and expense lines are currently offsetting each 
other, giving the false sense that we are under on revenues and underspent in Maintenance. 
 
ACTION:  Mayor Pro Tem Linker made a motion to approve Budget Amendment FY20-21 #16 
(to reduce Grants (01-3300-36) and Maintenance – Interfund Transfer (01-4190-96) by $143,075). 
Alderman Shelton seconded the motion. The motion passed 4-0. 
 

C. Budget Amendment FY20-21 #15 01-3431-41 Police Authority Revenue-Faith 
Manager Smith asked for Board direction about Amendment FY20-21 #15 regarding Joint Police 
Authority Revenue that was tabled at the last meeting.  
 
ACTION:  Alderman Costantino made a motion to deny Budget Amendment FY20-21 #15. Mayor 
Pro Tem Linker seconded the motion. The motion failed with Alderman Costantino and Mayor Pro 
Tem Linker in favor and Mayor Feather, Alderman Shelton, and Alderman Cress opposed.  
 
Mayor Feather stated for future reference that when the Board tables an item without direction on 
a specific date to add the item back to the agenda, the intention is to table the item indefinitely. 
 
ACTION:  Alderman Cress made a motion to table Budget Amendment FY20-21 #15 indefinitely. 
Alderman Shelton seconded the motion. The motion passed 4-0. 
 

D. Board Salaries 
After discussion there was consensus that the Board was in favor of raising the Board’s salaries at 
the same percentage as the employees’ salaries on an annual basis (market adjustment). 
 

E. Fire Department Salaries Discussion 
1) Budget Amendment FY20-21 #17 

To transfer funds from Governing Body – Board Contingency (01-4110-97) to Fire Department 
Personnel (see account numbers below) for increased salaries and salary-related lines due to 
approval of Pay Classification Study. 

 
ACTION:  Alderman Costantino made a motion to approve Budget Amendment FY20-21 #17 (to 
transfer funds from Governing Body – Board Contingency (01-4110-97) to Fire Department 
Personnel (see account numbers below) for increased salaries and salary related lines due to 
approval of Pay Classification Study). Alderman Cress seconded the motion. The motion passed 4-
0. 
 

2) Budget Amendment FY20-21 #18 
To transfer funds from Governing Body – Board Contingency (01-4110-97) to Fire Department 
– Capital Outlay – Equipment for the replacement of Plymovent connections. 

 
ACTION:  Alderman Costantino made a motion to approve Budget Amendment FY20-21 #18 (to 
transfer funds from Governing Body – Board Contingency (01-4110-97) to Fire Department – 
Capital Outlay – Equipment for the replacement of Plymovent connections). Alderman Shelton 
seconded the motion. The motion passed 4-0. 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 14



ACTION: It was decided by Board consensus that the next Budget Workshop would be scheduled for 
Thursday, June 3, 2021 at 2:00 p.m. 

 

Mayor Feather left the meeting at 3:11 p.m. 
 

F. Maintenance and Fire 2019-2021 Fleet Efficiency Plan 
There was discussion of the maintenance fleet efficiency plan as outlined in the chart below. 

 
G. Parks 

There was discussion of the Lake Park wall repair and staff recommendation to complete the project 
within the current fiscal year. If approved, Finance will draw up Budget Amendment. 
 
ACTION:  Alderman Shelton made a motion to go ahead and fix the wall for an amount not to 
exceed $20,000. Alderman Cress seconded the motion. The motion passed with all in favor. 
 

H. Environmental 
The updated contract price with Waste Management raised from $8.72 to $9.57 per unit (9.75%). 
This reflects the same increased costs/economic conditions the Town is dealing with (e.g., payroll 
& insurance, fuel, maintenance). At this point of qualifying data, it at least seems safe to project 
that our increased contracted costs are going to meet or exceed the amount we decreased last year 
with cessation of the recycling program at the time. Assuming that same logic, staff recommended 
raising the Environmental Fee back to $12.00 per month. 
 

There was discussion about the existing tax rate and the trend of needing to dip into fund balance, including 
for capital purchases.  Manager Smith explained it is easier for the Board to come down from a 
recommended tax rate than it is to go up, so he will prepare the recommended budget with all the capital 
purchases discussed balanced by the tax rate instead of any from fund balance. 
 
Adjourn 
 
ACTION:  Alderman Costantino made a motion to adjourn. Alderman Cress seconded the motion. The 
motion passed with all in favor. The meeting ended at 4:07 p.m. 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
Aubrey Smith 
Town Clerk 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 15



             
                                                      

TOWN OF GRANITE QUARRY 
BOARD OF ALDERMEN  

BUDGET WORKSHOP MEETING MINUTES 
Thursday, June 3, 2021 2:00 p.m. 

 
Present:  Mayor Bill Feather, Mayor Pro Tem John Linker, Alderman Jim Costantino, Alderman Kim 
Cress, Alderman Doug Shelton 
 
Staff: Town Manager Larry Smith, Town Clerk Aubrey Smith, Finance Officer Shelly Shockley, Police 
Chief Mark Cook, Fire Chief/ Public Works Director Jason Hord 
 
Call to Order:  Mayor Feather called the meeting to order at 2:00 p.m. 
 
1. Approval of the Agenda 
 

ACTION: Mayor Pro Tem Linker made a motion to approve the agenda as presented. Alderman 
Costantino seconded the motion. The motion passed 4-0. 
 

2. Discussion     FY 21-22 Budget 
A. Budget Amendment FY20-21#19 Lake Park wall repair/rebuild by Hwy 52 

Alderman Shelton requested that the Board discuss Budget Amendment FY20-21#19 Lake Park 
wall repair/rebuild by Hwy 52 (Attachment B). He asked whether the project would be completed 
by June 30, 2021. Chief Hord responded that it would. 
 
ACTION: Alderman Shelton made a motion to approve (Budget Amendment FY20-21 #19 to 
increase Fund Balance Appropriated (01-3991-99) and Parks – Cap Outlay – Bldg/Infrastructure 
(01-6130-58) in an amount not to exceed $20,000 for the replacement of the retaining wall located 
at the Granite Lake Park near Hwy 52). Mayor Pro Tem Linker seconded the motion. The motion 
passed 4-0. 

 
B. Board Feedback  

There was general Board discussion regarding capital outlay items and the tax rate. There were 
specific comments concerning the numbers behind the significant changes in personnel costs. The 
costs were attributed to changes in group insurance rates, the adopted pay classification plan and 
resulting pay adjustments, the police department being fully staffed where it had not been before, and 
the full-time planner position that was being worked into the proposed budget. 
 

There was discussion regarding whether a tax increase was necessary and if taxes were not increased, 
how town operations could be funded otherwise. Industrial and commercial growth were cited as 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 16



potential future funding sources. Board members discussed what expenses could be cut to keep from 
raising the tax rate.  
 
The Board also reviewed the 2010 Civitan agreement and related recommended updates to the 
Schedule of Fees. Manager Smith also asked if there were any Board objections to removing the 
Annexation Fee from the proposed Schedule of Fees. There were no objections. 
 
The Board discussed whether they were in favor of raising the environmental fee from the current 
$11.00 per month to the proposed $12.00 per month. Mayor Feather asked whether there was Board 
consensus on increasing the environmental fee to $12.00 per month. There was consensus. 
 
Manager Smith asked the Board to look at the JPA Agreement (Attachment D) “automatic re-
appropriation of GFB” discussion clause #4. He recommended removing the provision for capital 
outlay reappropriation. Alderman Shelton asked if a motion that the Board was in favor of removing 
provision four from the JPA Agreement was needed. Manager Smith stated that it was.  If approved, 
he will present it to the Faith Board of Aldermen for consideration as well. 

 
ACTION:  Alderman Costantino made a motion to approve (removing provision four from the JPA 
Agreement). Alderman Shelton seconded the motion. The motion passed 4-0. 
 
The Board continued discussion of which capital outlay items could be removed from the list. 
Manager Smith was asked which items were needs and which were “wants”. Manager Smith 
responded that only needs were included on the list. Manager Smith made the Board aware of 
potential “wildcards” including a situation he was notified of this morning regarding an agreement 
for economic development and taxes collected by the county. Manager Smith will be reviewing the 
agreement and following up with Attorney Short. 

 
The Board recessed at 3:14 p.m. for a short break. 
Mayor Feather called the meeting back into session at 3:19 p.m. 

 
ACTION: Mayor Feather conducted a poll of the Board to determine whether the majority was in 
favor of keeping the tax rate at $0.4175 to give Manager Smith clear direction. Aldermen Cress and 
Costantino were in favor of the tax rate remaining the same, Alderman Shelton stated he was 
abstaining which was marked as an affirmative vote (a vote in favor), and Mayor Pro Tem Linker 
was opposed. 
 
The Board continued to discuss capital items that might be removed or replaced in the budget. 
Manager Smith will take the Board’s general direction and implement in his next recommendation. 

Adjourn 
 

ACTION:  Alderman Costantino made a motion to adjourn. Mayor Pro Tem Linker seconded the motion. 
The motion passed with all in favor.  
 
The meeting ended at 3:36 p.m. 
 

Respectfully Submitted, 
Aubrey Smith 
Town Clerk 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 17



     
 

May Work 2021 Public Works Report 
 

• Normal Maintenance Duties Daily- (parks, cleaning, mowing, 
edging, service on equipment, limbs & sweeping) 

• PM check on generator   
• Sanitized town hall, playgrounds at parks and restrooms 
• Nature trail maintenance 
• Lake draining in progress  
• Upper wall repair scheduled for 6/14/21 
• PM on Bobcat and Loader  
• New armed forces flags placed at Legion  
• Limbs double ground for mulch  
• Spring dumpsters at the Quarry  

 

 

2007 Ford Truck   Mileage – 60,476    +215 miles 

1995 Ford Dump Truck  Mileage – 40,350        +368 miles       
2009 Ford Truck   Mileage – 80,307    +960 miles 

2019 Ford Truck F350  Mileage – 9,786      +440 miles  

Town of Granite Quarry Page 18

http://www.granitequarrync.gov/


Town of Granite Quarry 
Fire Department 

 Established May 15th, 1950 
                                                                                   PO Box 351  
             www.granitequarrync.gov            Granite Quarry, NC        704/279-5596  

  
Board Report June/2021 Chief Hord 
 

Emergency Calls for Service May 2021  
32 calls in district 

• 18 - EMS (including strokes, falls, diabetic, CPR and other medical needs)  
• 1 - MVA 
• 7 - Fire Alarms 
• 3 - Brush/Grass fires 
• 2 - Service assignment  
• 1 - Move up 

15 calls to Salisbury 
• 9 - Alarm/Structure, EMS calls canceled en-route 
• 1 - Structure fire - Manpower 
• 5 - EMS 

6 calls to Rockwell Rural 
• 4 - Alarm/Structure, EMS calls canceled en-route 
• 1 - Structure fire - Manpower 
• 1 - EMS (including strokes, falls, diabetic, CPR and other medical needs) 

2 calls to Union  
• 2 - Fire Alarms 

4 Calls to Rockwell City 
• 4 - Fire Alarms 

2 - Calls to Faith canceled en-route 
3 - Calls to South Salisbury canceled en-route 
 
 
 
 

  TOTAL – 64 
 
 
 

 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 19



ACTIVITIES  
• Daily activities include apparatus & equipment checks, training, station maintenance, 

pre-plan development, hose and hydrant maintenance, water points, emergency response, 
public education, inspections, and the assistance of other divisions within the Town of 
GQ.  

• Annual hydrant testing completed.  
• Rigorous cleaning/decontamination, due to suggested COVID response multiple times 

daily. 
• Monthly training included E.M.T continuing education in house and Joint Training with 

Faith F.D.  
• Multiple days of ladder training, water point training, hose evolutions, new extrication 

tool familiarization, and district familiarization. Weekly shift training/ officer’s choice. 
• Car Seat Check Station on Thursday from 1 p.m. to 4 p.m. – 9 seats installed/checked. 
• Started the community canvass for smoke alarm Saturday in June.  
• Assisted with fishing for draining lake at park.  

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 20



 
Planning Department Monthly Report 

May 2021 
 
 
PERMITS ISSUED AND PLATS APPROVED 

Date Address Permit Purpose 

5.5.21 306 Meadow Wood Ct Residential zoning permit for deck replacement 
5.5.21 805 St Lukes Ch Rd Residential zoning permit new house 
5.5.21 1035 Loganberry Ln Residential zoning permit single family home 
5.5.21 1004 Loganberry Ln Residential zoning permit single family home 
5.10.21 1227 Stonewyck Dr Residential zoning permit for accessory bldg 
5.10.21 1755 Heilig Rd Commercial zoning permit for 2nd phase construction 
5.17.21 421 E Lyerly St Residential zoning permit for bathroom remodel 
5.17.21 Blue Dr Residential subdivision 
5.20.21 Peeler Rd Residential Stoneglen engineering drawing approval 
5.25.21 Barringer Rd Residential zoning permit single family home 
5.25.21 Lyerly St Residential zoning permit single family home 
6.1.21 6225 US Hwy 52 Commercial exception plat 
6.1.21 0 Twin Oaks Rd Residential zoning permit for single family home 
6.4.21 324 N Salisbury Ave Residential zoning permit for garage 

 
Code Enforcement  
(10 new violations cited, 4 resolved) 
 

Date Address Issue Status 
5.10.21 211 N Oak St code violation high grass/illegal fencing Resolved 
5.10.21 213 N Oak St code violation high grass Resolved 
5.10.21 215 N Oak St code violation high grass Resolved 
5.10.21 720 S Main St code violation high grass  
5.10.21 617 S Main St code violation high grass  
5.10.21 411 S Main St code violation high grass  
5.11.21 940 N Salisbury Ave code violation high grass  
5.11.21 800 S Salisbury Ave code violation high grass  
6.1.21 108 S Kayla code violation high grass  
6.4.21 N Salisbury Ave signs Resolved 

 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 21



Planning and Zoning Enquiries   
 

Date Type Issue 
5.5.21 Residential nonconforming structure questions 
5.10.21 Residential Stoneglen engineering drawing approval 
5.10.21 Residential floodplain questions for existing structure 
5.10.21 Residential parking questions 
5.10.21 Residential sewer extension questions 
5.17.21 All floodplain ordinance revision for rowan county 
5.25.21  reviewed completed homes phase 1 for waste mgt service 
6.1.21 Commercial commercial development questions 
6.1.21 Commercial inspected sign location at dollar general 
6.4.21 Residential questions concerning fencing and out building 

 
 
Miscellaneous  

• 5/3/2021 Planning Board meeting 
• 5/10/2021 Board of Aldermen Meeting 
• 5/17/2021 Zoning Board of Adjustment Meeting 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 22



Granite Quarry-Faith Joint Police Authority 
P.O. Box 351  143 North Salisbury Ave, Granite Quarry, NC 28072 

Office: (704)279-2952  Fax: (704)279-6648 

 
Police Department Report 

 
 June 2021  

 
 

• Call volume report for the month of May 2021: 

o Date of Report: 06/07/2021 

o Total calls for service/activities –  499                                          

o Calls for service/activities Granite Quarry: 396           

o Calls for service/activities Faith:  72          

o Incident Reports- 19           

o Arrest Reports- 7                

o Crash Reports- 7                                                   

o Traffic Citations- 25                  

• See Attached for Total Calls for Service. 

• The following is the ending and average mileage for each vehicle by month: 
 

131 Chevy Impala- End- 68,506    
141 Ford Taurus- End- 79,825   
161 Ford Utility- End- 64,070 
171 Ford Utility - End- 43,146  
172 Ford Utility - End- 69,521 
173 Ford Utility - End- 34,320  
181 Ford F150 - End- 57,487  
191 Dodge Durango - End- 30,334 
201 Ford Utility-  End- 9,761 
211 Ford Utility- End- 1,270 
212 Ford Utility- End- 3,580 

 
• Other Information: 

o Average response time for May 2021 CFS is 1.68 minutes. 
o Drug Collection Box. May 2021: 17.89 pounds collected.   
o May CID Report. 3 Cases assigned; 0 Cases cleared; 16 follow-ups conducted; 92 open 

assigned cases. 
o Officers completed 61 hours of in-service or continuing education training in May. 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 23



GQPD
Number of Events by Nature

CFS May 2021

Nature # Events

101D3 PARENT/CUST ABDUCTION 1

102B1 PAST ABUSE 1

102D1 ABUSE 2

102D2 ABANDONMENT 1

102O1 ABUSE-REFERAL 1

103A3 LOST PROPERTY 1

104C2 COMMERCIAL BURG (INTRUSI 6

104C3 RESIDENTAL BURG (INTRUSI 2

106C5 ASSAULT JUST OCC 1

106D5 ASSAULT IN PROGRESS 1

106O2 ASSAULT-INFORMATION 1

107B1 ASST OTHER AGENCY-ROUTIN 1

110B2 PAST RESIDENTIAL B&E 2

110C4 RES BURGLARY JUST OCC 1

110D2 RESIDENTIAL B&E 1

111C1 DAMAGE TO PROP -JUST OCC 1

111D2 MISCHIEF-DAMAGE TO PROP 1

113B2 OTHER NOISE COMPLAINT 2

113B3 NUISANCE COMPLAINT 1

113C1 DISTURBANCE-LOUD PARTY 2

113C2 INTOXICATED/IMPAIRED 1

113D1 DISTURBANCE / PHYSICAL 3

113D2 DISTURBANCE / VERBAL 5

114D1 PHYSICAL DOMESTIC 3

114D2 VERBAL DOMESTIC 3

114D3 PHYSICAL FAMILY DOMESTIC 1

115D1 DRIVING UNDER INFLUENCE 2

116D1 DRUGS (USE-POSSESSION) 1

119D3 THREAT 1

Town of Granite Quarry Page 24



Nature # Events

119O2 HARASS - INFORMATION 1

121O2 MENTAL COMMITMENT 1

125B1 CHECK WELFARE - ROUTINE 1

125B2 LOCKOUT - ROUTINE 3

125D1 CHECK WELFARE-URGENT 7

125D2 LOCKOUT - URGENT 1

127D2 SUICIDE THREAT 2

129C1 SUSPICIOUS PERSON 6

129C3 SUSPICIOUS VEHICLE 5

129C5 SUSPICIOUS CIRCUMSTANCE 4

130B1 LARCENY (ALREADY OCC) 1

130B3 THEFT FROM VEH (PAST) 2

130C1 THEFT JUST OCCURED 2

130D2 VEHICLE LARCENY 1

131B3 HIT & RUN 1

132C2 HAZARDOUS ROAD CONDITION 2

132D1 ROAD RAGE 1

133B1 PAST TRESPASSING 1

133D1 TRESPASSING 8

135C1 SHOTS FIRED (HEARD) 2

135D1 ARMED SUBJECT 1

25B3 PSYCH. (SUICIDE THREAT) 1

77B1 TRAFFIC ACC - INJURY 1

911 HANG UP 22

ASSIST FIRE DEPT 2

ASSIST MOTORIST 6

BANK ALARM 1

BURGLARY ALARM 1

BUSINESS OR HOUSE CHECK 170

COMMUNITY PROGRAM 4

DELIVER MESSAGE 2

DOMESTIC PROPERTY PICKUP 1

Town of Granite Quarry Page 25



499Total

Nature # Events

FOLLOWUP 28

GENERAL INFORMATION 7

ILLEGAL BURNING 1

LAW CALL 1

MISDIAL 7

PARK CHECK 12

REPOSSESSION 2

RESTRAINING ORDER 1

SCHOOL SECURITY CHECK 5

SPECIAL EVENT 1

SUBPOENA SERVICE 11

TRAFFIC CHECK 26

TRAFFIC CONTROL 6

TRAFFIC STOP 68

VEHICLE ACCIDENT PROP DAMAGE 5

WARRANT SERVICE 4

Town of Granite Quarry Page 26



.

Budgeted YTD

Revenues: 2,754,502 2,466,812 90%

 Total Revenues: 2,754,502$   2,466,812$   90%

Expenses:

Governing Body 140,249 67,705 48%

Administration 614,825 469,653 76%

Maintenance 281,843 244,357 87%

Parks & Recreation 124,433 90,272 73%

Police Dept. 807,048 683,485 85%

Fire Department 534,436 484,675 91%

Sanitation 135,693 116,780 86%

Streets 121,775 66,577 55%
 Total Expenses 2,760,302$   2,223,505$   81%

90%

Finance Department

Please see the Budget Vs. Actual Report attached for specific line items

Department

As of May 31, 2021
Breakdown of Departments:

Expense to Revenue:

Town of Granite Quarry Page 27



Granite Quarry Finance Department As of May 31, 2021

Disp Acct Budget YTD Variance Prcnt
01-3100-12 Taxes - Budget Year 932,604          905,470          (27,134)          97%
01-3100-17 Tax Penalties & Interest 2,000             3,455             1,455             173%
01-3101-12 Taxes - Prior Years 4,000             4,307             307                108%
01-3102-12 Vehicle Tax 100,000          98,735            (1,265)            99%
01-3230-31 Local Option Sales Tax 719,146          754,804          35,658            105%
01-3231-31 Solid Waste Disposal Tax 2,186             2,336             150                107%
01-3261-31 Cable Franchise Tax 5,800             -                    (5,800)            0%
01-3300-36 Grants -                    -                    -                    0%
01-3316-32 Powell Pave & Patch Funds 82,724            80,180            (2,544)            97%
01-3319-36 COVID-19 Relief Fund 90,641            90,641            -                    100%
01-3322-31 Beer & Wine - State 13,430            13,148            (282)               98%
01-3324-31 Utilities Franchise Tax 144,484          97,874            (46,610)          68%
01-3330-84 County First Responders 4,020             3,685             (335)               92%
01-3340-41 Permits 3,000             7,700             4,700             257%
01-3346-40 Abatements 200                183                (18)                 91%
01-3413-89 Miscellaneous Revenue 12,175            12,002            (173)               99%
01-3431-41 Police Authority Revenue_Faith 136,000          102,000          (34,000)          75%
01-3431-45 Police Report Revenue 100                185                85                  185%
01-3431-89 Police Miscellaneous 800                1,610             810                201%
01-3451-85 Property Damage Claims 2,485             2,485             -                    100%
01-3471-51 Solid Waste/Recycling Collection - Salisbury 138,500          122,738          (15,762)          89%
01-3491-41 Subdivision & Zoning Fees 2,500             1,125             (1,375)            45%
01-3713-33 Sal. Water/Sewer Reimbursement 50,000            50,000            -                    100%
01-3831-89 Interest on Investments * 10,000            13,898            3,898             139%
01-3833-89 Donations/Contributions 1,200             1,200             -                    100%
01-3834-41 Park Shelter Rentals (Maint) 2,000             3,415             1,415             171%
01-3835-80 Police Surplus Items Sold 4,494             4,494             -                    100%
01-3835-81 Surplus items Sold 4,564             5,755             1,191             126%
01-3836-82 Sale of Land 63,650            63,166            (484)               99%
01-3837-31 ABC Net Revenue-Co. 10,250            15,171            4,921             148%
01-3980-96 Transfers Other Funds 5,051             5,051             -                    100%
01-3991-99 Fund Balance Appropriated  206,498          -                    (206,498)         0%

2,754,502     2,466,812     (287,691)       90%

Revenues:

*See last page for breakdown of account# 01-3831-89 Interest on Investments

Town of Granite Quarry Page 28



Granite Quarry Finance Department As of May 31, 2021

Disp Acct Budget YTD Variance Prcnt
01-4110-02 Mayor/Aldermen Salary 12,575            12,575            -                    100%
01-4110-08 Board Expense 250                -                 250                0%
01-4110-09 FICA Expense 962                962                -                    100%
01-4110-14 Insurance - Workers Comp 60                  38                  22                  63%
01-4110-18 Professional Services 16,586            15,838            748                95%
01-4110-26 Office Expense 1,214             951                263                78%
01-4110-29 COVID-19 Relief Funds 90,641            23,875            66,766            26%
01-4110-31 Training & Schools 100                -                 100                0%
01-4110-40 Dues & Subscriptions 12,075            12,002            73                  99%
01-4110-45 Insurance & Bonds 1,600             1,464             136                92%
01-4110-61 Grants - Nonprofit Grant Program 100                -                 100                0%
01-4110-97 Board Contingency 4,086             -                 4,086             0%

140,249        67,705          72,544          48%

Disp Acct Budget YTD Variance Prcnt
01-4120-00 Salaries - Regular 220,000          197,898          22,102            90%
01-4120-02 Salaries - Part-Time 35,000            31,430            3,570             90%
01-4120-07 401K Expense 11,000            9,876             1,124             90%
01-4120-09 FICA Expense 19,508            17,151            2,357             88%
01-4120-10 Retirement Expense 22,330            20,107            2,223             90%
01-4120-11 Group Insurance 31,795            25,701            6,094             81%
01-4120-13 Unemployment Expense 2,205             2,204             1                    100%
01-4120-14 Insurance - Workers Comp 615                413                202                67%
01-4120-17 Insurance – HRA/Admin Cost 5,450             2,100             3,350             39%
01-4120-18 Professional Services 47,645            25,390            22,255            53%
01-4120-22 Banquet Expense 1,700             1,313             388                77%
01-4120-26 Office Expense 9,500             6,026             3,474             63%
01-4120-29 Supplies & Equipment 200                78                  122                39%
01-4120-31 Training & Schools 7,000             2,442             4,558             35%
01-4120-32 Telephone/Communications 3,500             2,924             576                84%
01-4120-33 Utilities 4,500             3,993             507                89%
01-4120-34 Printing 5,000             4,580             420                92%
01-4120-35 Maint & Repair - Equipment 500                -                 500                0%
01-4120-37 Advertising 3,500             2,535             965                72%
01-4120-40 Dues & Subscriptions 3,500             3,111             389                89%
01-4120-44 Contracted Services 13,750            12,399            1,351             90%
01-4120-45 Insurance & Bonds 4,100             3,831             269                93%
01-4120-61 Grants - Grant Related Expenditures 5,000             5,000             -                    100%
01-4120-68 Tax Collection 18,000            -                 18,000            0%
01-4120-71 Water Line - Principal 50,000            -                 50,000            0%
01-4120-72 Water Line - Interest 4,210             3,833             377                91%
01-4120-96 Interfund Transfer 85,317            85,317            -                    100%

614,825        469,653        145,172        76%

Governing Body:

Administration:

Town of Granite Quarry Page 29



Granite Quarry Finance Department As of May 31, 2021

Disp Acct Budget YTD Variance Prcnt
01-4190-00 Salaries - Regular 110,000 102,193          7,807 93%
01-4190-02 Salaries - Part-Time 35,500 32,498            3,002 92%
01-4190-07 401K Expense 5,500 5,242             258 95%
01-4190-09 FICA Expense 11,131 10,400            731 93%
01-4190-10 Retirement Expense 11,165 10,674            491 96%
01-4190-11 Group Insurance 22,000 18,955            3,045 86%
01-4190-14 Insurance - Workers Comp 7,500 5,076             2,424 68%
01-4190-20 Motor Fuel 7,000 5,885             1,115 84%
01-4190-21 Uniforms 3,465 970                2,495 28%
01-4190-24 Maint & Repair - Bldgs/Grounds 10,000 8,501             1,499 85%
01-4190-25 Maint & Repair - Vehicles 4,000 3,968             32 99%
01-4190-26 Office Expense 25 -                 25 0%
01-4190-29 Supplies & Equipment 11,020 9,301             1,719 84%
01-4190-31 Training & Schools 250 60                  190 24%
01-4190-32 Telephone/Communications 775 712                63 92%
01-4190-33 Utilities 3,100 2,862             238 92%
01-4190-34 Printing 50 15                  35 31%
01-4190-35 Maint & Repairs - Equipment 8,000 6,304             1,696 79%
01-4190-40 Dues & Subscriptions 150 138                13 92%
01-4190-44 Contracted Services 21,850 11,920            9,930 55%
01-4190-45 Insurance & Bonds 3,600 2,923             677 81%
01-4190-96 Interfund Transfer 5,762 5,762             0 100%

$281,843 $244,357 $37,486 87%

Disp Acct Budget YTD Variance Prcnt
01-6130-18 Professional Services 30,000            7,375             22,625            25%
01-6130-21 Uniforms 1,000             -                 1,000             0%
01-6130-24 Maint & Repair - Bldgs/Grounds 64,433            64,310            123                100%
01-6130-29 Supplies & Equipment 4,000             3,789             211                95%
01-6130-33 Utilities 13,500            11,843            1,657             88%
01-6130-44 Contracted Services 6,500             530                5,970             8%
01-6130-62 Committees - PERC 5,000             2,424             2,576             48%

124,433        90,272          34,161          73%

Parks & Rec:

Maintenance:

Town of Granite Quarry Page 30



Granite Quarry Finance Department As of May 31, 2021

Disp Acct Budget YTD Variance Prcnt
01-4310-00 Salaries - Regular 394,000          347,450          46,550            88%
01-4310-02 Salaries - Part-Time 15,000            12,154            2,846             81%
01-4310-07 401K Expense 19,700            16,764            2,936             85%
01-4310-09 FICA Expense 31,289            28,012            3,277             90%
01-4310-10 Retirement Expense 42,946            36,343            6,603             85%
01-4310-11 Group Insurance 75,981            59,992            15,990            79%
01-4310-13 Unemployment Expense 19                  18                  1                    96%
01-4310-14 Insurance - Workers Comp 13,500            8,994             4,506             67%
01-4310-20 Motor Fuel 19,000            11,710            7,290             62%
01-4310-21 Uniforms 7,494             2,265             5,229             30%
01-4310-25 Maint & Repair - Vehicles 7,100             6,330             770                89%
01-4310-26 Office Expense 1,500             936                564                62%
01-4310-29 Supplies & Equipment 8,000             6,402             1,598             80%
01-4310-31 Training & Schools 3,000             2,388             612                80%
01-4310-32 Telephone/Communications 8,000             6,887             1,113             86%
01-4310-33 Utilities 3,000             1,431             1,569             48%
01-4310-34 Printing 500                408                92                  82%
01-4310-35 Maint & Repair - Equipment 1,400             674                726                48%
01-4310-40 Dues & Subscriptions 3,650             2,937             713                80%
01-4310-44 Contracted Services 23,250            19,482            3,768             84%
01-4310-45 Insurance & Bonds 13,800            13,154            646                95%
01-4310-54 Cap Outlay - Vehicles 114,919          98,754            16,165            86%

807,048        683,485        123,563        85%

Disp Acct Budget YTD Variance Prcnt
01-4340-00 Salaries - Regular 113,900          103,527          10,373            91%
01-4340-02 Salaries - Part-Time 189,600          177,066          12,534            93%
01-4340-07 401K Expense 6,295             5,837             458                93%
01-4340-09 FICA Expense 22,966            21,074            1,892             92%
01-4340-10 Retirement Expense 13,261            12,094            1,167             91%
01-4340-11 Group Insurance 25,500            19,523            5,977             77%
01-4340-14 Insurance - Workers Comp 14,000            10,477            3,523             75%
01-4340-20 Motor Fuel 5,000             2,988             2,012             60%
01-4340-21 Uniforms 3,100             3,047             53                  98%
01-4340-25 Maint & Repair - Vehicles 8,950             8,943             7                    100%
01-4340-26 Office Expense 250                30                  220                12%
01-4340-29 Supplies & Equipment 20,964            18,725            2,239             89%
01-4340-31 Training & Schools 1,550             692                858                45%
01-4340-32 Telephone/Communications 4,350             4,000             350                92%
01-4340-33 Utilities 5,700             5,322             378                93%
01-4340-34 Printing 400                332                68                  83%
01-4340-35 Maint & Repair - Equipment 1,000             846                154                85%
01-4340-40 Dues & Subscriptions 3,150             3,098             52                  98%
01-4340-44 Contracted Services 10,000            9,481             519                95%
01-4340-45 Insurance & Bonds 8,000             7,429             571                93%
01-4340-54 Cap Outlay - Vehicles 38,000            37,853            147                100%
01-4340-55 Cap Outlay - Equipment 38,500            32,292            6,208             84%

534,436        484,675        49,761          91%

Fire Department:

Police Department:

Town of Granite Quarry Page 31



Granite Quarry Finance Department As of May 31, 2021

Disp Acct Budget YTD Variance Prcnt
01-4710-64 Recycling 10,125            6,790             3,335             67%
01-4710-65 Garbage Services 125,568          109,990          15,578            88%

135,693        116,780        18,913          86%

Disp Acct Budget YTD Variance Prcnt
01-4510-18 Professional Services 750                750                -                    100%
01-4510-29 Supplies & Equipment 250                120                130                48%
01-4510-35 Maint & Repair 6,500             6,500             -                    100%
01-4510-71 Debt Service - Principal 50,000            25,000            25,000            50%
01-4510-72 Debt Services - Interest 10,233            5,320             4,913             52%
01-4510-99 Unappropriated Fund Balance 20,042            -                    20,042            0%
01-4511-33 Utilities - Street Lights 34,000            28,888            5,112             85%

121,775        66,577          55,198          55%

Disp Acct Budget YTD Variance Prcnt
Town Hall Upgrades Project 387,116          387,116          -                    100%
FEMA Granite Lake Project 768,381          82,755            685,626          11%
Industrial Development Sewer Grant Project 323,892          273,613          50,279            84%
Streets Improvement Project 344,950          344,950          -                    100%

1,824,339     1,088,433     735,906        60%

Sanitation:

Streets:

Capital / Grant Project Ordinances:

Town of Granite Quarry Page 32



Granite Quarry Finance Department As of 3/31/2021

Acct# July 20 Aug 20 Sep 20 Oct 20 Nov 20 Dec 20 Jan 21 Feb 21 Mar 21 Apr 21 May 21 Jun 21 Interest YTD Balance
Certificates of Deposits:
XX7779 417         431         431         417         431         417         431         432         390         432         418         -        4,648.01           250,431.38              
XX7809 355         367         367         355         367         355         368         368         332         Matured 3/19/20Matured -        3,234.44           Balance in MM XX9011

XX7151 355         367         367         355         367         355         367         368         332         368         356         -        3,953.86           250,000.95              
XX0261 287         296         296         Matured Matured Matured Matured Matured Matured Matured Matured -        878.83              -                            

1,414    1,461    1,461    1,127    1,165    1,127    1,166    1,168    1,055    800       774       -        12,715.14$   500,432.33$        

Money Market Accounts:
XX9011 61           54           55           98           93           100         71           45           *346 74           67           -          1,063.74           840,853.38              
XX1186 8              7              8              8              7              8              6              5              5              5              5              -          74.14                62,575.64                

69          61          63          106       101       108       78          50          351       79          72          -          1,137.51        903,429.02          

NC Capital Management Trust:
XX4319 21           11           3              1              1              1              1              1              1              1              1              -          45.10$              150,961.11$            

21          11          3            1            1            1            1            1            1            1            1            -        45.10             150,961.11          

* Includes $286.59 Interest Earned on CD Prior to Maturity Total Interest YTD:

Total Invested Balance:

Cash on Hand **
**(As of Bank Statement on 05/31/2021)

1,554,822.46$             

13,897.75$                  

465,634.17$                

Interest on Investments by Month
FY 2020-2021

Town of Granite Quarry Page 33



Town of Granite Quarry Page 34



Town of Granite Quarry Page 35



Town of Granite Quarry Page 36



Town of Granite Quarry Page 37



Town of Granite Quarry Page 38



Town of Granite Quarry Page 39



Town of Granite Quarry Page 40



Town of Granite Quarry Page 41



Town of Granite Quarry Page 42



Town of Granite Quarry Page 43



Town of Granite Quarry Page 44



Town of Granite Quarry Page 45



Town of Granite Quarry Page 46



Town of Granite Quarry Page 47



Town of Granite Quarry Page 48



Town of Granite Quarry Page 49



Town of Granite Quarry Page 50



Community Open House
The Town of Granite Quarry is preparing its first Parks & Recreation Master Plan.

This plan will identify park and recreation activities and growth appropriate for the Town of Granite Quarry 
and establish a plan for future park and recreation development.

YOUR INPUT IS IMPORTANT!

We are hosting a socially distant information sharing drop-in workshop on Wednesday, June 16, 2021 
to gather input and ideas. Come by to get some fresh air, learn about and contribute to current and future 

park and recreation programming and offerings in Granite Quarry. 

5:00 - 6:30 PM
Granite Lake Park

Picnic Shelter
500 North Salisbury Ave.

Questions/Comments:
Jason Hord

Town of Granite Quarry
Public Works Director
(704) 279-5596 x213

jhord@granitequarrync.gov

Town of Granite Quarry Page 51



 
Town of Granite Quarry 

Town Manager’s Report 

June 2021 
 

 
 

1. Budget 
A. Budget meetings.  Big items of course this past month were preparing & cleaning up / following 

up and making adjustments to the budget from Board directions at the workshops and hashing 
out “wildcards”.  The past 2 years we’ve continued fine-tuning chart of accounts and the process; 
this year especially we’ve started to see the results of more-accurate trending capabilities. 

B. Year-end closeouts.  We’re now in the closeout zone of the current fiscal year as well, wrapping 
up any outstanding invoices and projects to close them out before June 30. 

C. Wildcards. 
• American Rescue Plan funds.  We have all the prep work we were required to submit for 

receipt of the funds completed, but still no concrete guidance to report.  We’re continuing 
to monitor the updates and attend specific webinar trainings and will keep you posted. 

• Sanitation.  One of the biggest contractual wildcards by far has been trash pickup and its 
billing side of the budget.  We’ve received the results of the independent service address 
audit for the WM contract and have almost finished qualifying the questionable properties 
it identified.  We’re also working with SRU to refine the reporting and fee collection process 
with them, since we’ve uncovered a notable amount of anomalies there. 

 
2. Property development 

A. State Employees Credit Union 
• Site Development.  Sod, paving, and finish items are wrapping up on the grounds; building 

has received its Certificate of Occupancy and is running through final punch list now. 
• Streets, infrastructure.  We did everything we could on our end to help facilitate getting at 

least the streets resolved prior to end of year so those could be added into our annual Powell 
Bill report, but Developer advises they still do not have things in order to submit 
infrastructure improvements for consideration of acceptance at this month’s agenda. 

B. Village at Granite.  NCDOT continues to work with contractor on finishing up stormwater system 
improvements abutting Faith Road.  It doesn’t appear that anything further has moved forward 
with the Phase 2 sewer reviews.  Planning is still receiving some updates about the Phase 3 plans 
for the front areas of the property. 

 
3. Committee Reports 

A. Community Appearance Commission 
• Recommended Semone Brisson to the BOA for appointment to the vacant ETJ seat. 
• Awarded 965 Byrd Rd and 134 E Kerns St “Yards of the Month”.  12 homes were nominated; 

about half came from outside the CAC. 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 52



B. Parks, Events, and Recreation Committee (rescheduled monthly meeting) 
• Rescheduled to May 24th due to lack of a quorum for regular monthly meeting. 
• Recommended Melinda Hege to the BOA for reappointment. 
• Arts in the Park was a huge success.  PERC scheduled next year’s event for April 30, 2022. 
• Granite Fest.  Continued planning.  Several local businesses have already gotten involved.  

Vendor guidelines and procedures are being reviewed by Chip.  Inflatable vendor is booked.  
Committee continues to actively seek sponsorships. 

C. Revitalization Team 
Did not have a quorum with which to conduct the meeting.  With so many other meetings 
scheduled this past month, those present decided just to hold business until the June meeting. 

 
4. Grant Project Ordinances 

A. IDF sewer extension grant.  All invoices are in and accounted for; final reimbursement requests 
have been submitted to the State; and we’re working with EDC and the County to finalize the 
local matching amount.  Project came in well under budget, and as soon as all reimbursements 
are in we’ll be able to bring you the final Grant Project Ordinance closeout. 

B. FEMA Lake repairs grant.  Notice to Proceed was issued for June 14, but contractor has already 
started working with Public Works and even staging some of his construction prep.  Pond level 
draining went surprisingly well, community feedback & response helping to get the fish out was 
overwhelmingly positive.  Overall a VERY good start to the project.   

 
5. Annexations 

A. Town and Marple properties.  Everything filed and submitted; Sec of State advises they are 
behind in processing but these should be easily processed there as well before June 30.  
Calculation of debt information with the rural fire district within which annexed property is 
located has been completed for these and the Teramore properties.  The total amount of 
qualifying debt was $36.36, well below the statutory exception of $100.  That amount is 
calculated from any annexations in any calendar year.  So if any additional annexations happen 
to come up, we’ll need to factor the debt amount of those as well. 

B. Teramore property.  Our attorney is trying to get this one filed at the Register of Deeds at time 
of report.  As soon as that’s filed I will begin filing it everywhere else as well. 

 
6. Quick glance. 

• Plymovent magnetic connectors are installed and in service. 
• Lake Park retaining wall by Hwy 52.  Contractor expects to get underway the week of June 14. 
• NCDOT Bicycle & Pedestrian Planning Grant.  Administrative planning meeting June 9. 
• Comprehensive Parks & Rec Master Plan.  Community surveys out; community input session 

scheduled for June 16. 
 

7. Police promotion.  Chief Cook plans to officially announce the results of the recent Sergeant’s 
promotion assessment at the meeting. 
 

 
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 53



 
TOWN OF 

GRANITE QUARRY 
NORTH CAROLINA 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

RECOMMENDED BUDGET 
FOR 

FISCAL YEAR 2021-2022 (FY22) 
 

 
 

PREPARED BY: 
LARRY SMITH 

TOWN MANAGER 
 
 
 

May 28, 2021 
 
  

Town of Granite Quarry Page 54



 
 

 

Town Manager’s Budget Message 
FY 2021-2022 

 
 
May 28, 2021 
 
Mayor William D. Feather 
Board of Aldermen 
Town of Granite Quarry 
143 N Salisbury Avenue 
Granite Quarry, NC 28146 
 
The Honorable Mayor Feather, Town Board Members and Citizens of Granite Quarry: 
 

This budget was prepared to carry out the administrative needs of Town government 
operations and goals established by the Board of Aldermen.  It remains as responsive to 
the community as possible within the Town’s available funds and resources. 

 
Local governments are the frontline providers of safety and quality of life services to 

citizens.  The impacts and uncertainties of the coronavirus pandemic over this past year 
consequently challenged cities and counties well beyond anything we have ever 
experienced before.  The dedication and resilience of town staff to not only deal with the 
often drastically increased daily duties – but to continue positive and empathetic 
community outreach while advancing the Town’s professionalism, projects, and goals – 
cannot be overstated.  Achieving the ISO Class 1 rating this year as the smallest and only 
single-station municipality in NC to do so is just one testament to that.  The Board’s 
strategic allocation of resources and continuous support enabled that, and is paving the 
way for us to continue “moving that needle forward” in the year ahead. 

 
Residential growth continues to have a significant impact on the budget, operations, 

and long-term planning needs of the Town.  An updated census estimation by the county 
earlier this year confirmed what we have been suspecting based on planning and 
administrative workloads over the past two years: from 2019-2021 Granite Quarry has 
been one of, if not the, fastest growing communities in the county.  Much of this is from 
the high-density Village at Granite phased development.  Steady infill development, 
expansion, and smaller residential subdivisions have contributed significantly as well. 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 55



While residential growth brings a benefit to tax base, it also brings increased demand 
on municipal services typically much higher than commercial or industrial base.  Planning, 
Administrative, Police, Fire, and Medical services have all experienced significant increase 
in demand during this time period.  Despite this, except for the addition of a police officer 
in FY20, Granite Quarry has maintained its staffing levels and a 41.75¢ tax rate.  At this 
rate, Granite Quarry has been able to pride itself on remaining the 3rd lowest tax rate in the 
county among all units of local government (by a margin of 4.25¢) – and the lowest tax rate 
among our state-benchmark “peer group” municipalities by a staggering margin of 11.25¢ 
(as a city with electric utility, Landis is actually not even in our peer group average for some 
budgetary benchmarking standards, but is by population comparisons). 

 

Unit of Government FY21 Tax Rate 

Salisbury 0.7196 

Rowan County 0.6575 

East Spencer 0.66 

Spencer* 0.655 

Kannapolis (Rowan) 0.63 

China Grove* 0.54 

Landis* 0.53 

Rockwell 0.46 

Granite Quarry* 0.4175 

Faith 0.41 

Cleveland 0.3736  
(city 0.28 + a comm fire rate of 0.0936) 

* State benchmark “peer group” municipalities (by composition, budget, and/or population standards). 

Contracted service costs are also increasing significantly due to growth and economic 
conditions.  The updated sanitation collection contract with Waste Management increased 
9.75% per household pickup.  This reflects the costs of additional tonnage of waste 
produced since the pandemic began, additional trips to the landfill from “packing out” 
more often due to the tonnage and increased growth areas, as well as the same increased 
costs the Town and other service-related employers are incurring in their operations (e.g., 
payroll & insurance, fuel, maintenance).  The Town’s anticipated cost increase for 
sanitation services alone is 12.2%, hence the recommended increase of the environmental 
fee from $11/month to $12/month. 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 56



Over the past few years, the Board has discussed the need for increased levels of 
service and the adverse effects of maintaining a tax rate oftentimes incongruent with 
growth trends and needs.  This has been especially evident with the administrative 
workload to field the aforementioned growth and development related inquiries and 
issues with only a part-time planner on staff, and also with the increasing trend of needing 
to tap into fund balance for major (but to be anticipated in municipal services) projects – if 
not postponing them from year to year. 

 
In FY21 the Board commissioned a pay classification study to develop a professional 

and equitable pay classification schedule for the Town as part of its goal to address the 
challenges of recruiting and retaining professional, experienced staff.  This budget includes 
funding for implementation of some of that study’s recommendations, including pay 
adjustments and the addition of a full-time Town Planner position. 

 
We anticipate ending the FY21 with approximately $90,000 in unrestricted surplus.  

Some of this resulted from continued cost-cutting across departments, vacancies, and 
pandemic restrictions that curbed certain parts of normal operations.  Largely it was from 
higher-than-expected sales tax and ad valorem tax revenues (estimated ~ $111k and $12k, 
respectively), and $90,641 reimbursement funding for eligible items from the Coronavirus 
Relief Funding act through December 2020. 

 
The Board met May 21, 2021 for another budget workshop during which Board and 

staff discussed a number of recommendations.  In light of the anticipated surplus and to 
keep upcoming FY expenditures to a minimum, the Board approved recommendation to 
tackle some otherwise FY22 high priority items now that seem reasonably achievable 
before the end of this FY21. 

 
Additionally, in an effort to continue growing Town stability by countering the 

trending need to tap into fund balance (especially while still not having the financial 
resources to tackle strategic Board goals), I have amended my original recommendation 
for purchase of the ½-ton public works truck from appropriated fund balance.  It is 
actually a good example of one of those major (but normally anticipated) expense issues 
referenced above.  I have therefore balanced its purchase with the recommended tax rate 
of 44.50¢ instead, which became possible in large part by Public Works’ completely 
unrelated follow up on the backhoe units.  After thoroughly inspecting each of the units 
available through Sheriff’s contract, PW determined the one that best fits our department’s 
needs surprisingly happens to be the ~$90k unit (as opposed to the ~$115k unit). 

 
While we do not have the funds or the manpower to achieve all of our desired goals, 

this budget prioritizes funding into the areas established by this administration and the 
Board of Aldermen. 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 57



If approved, the tax rate will increase to $0.445 per $100 valuation. 
The environmental fee will increase to $12/month. 

 
 
This budget includes: 

• Funding for debt service on the Village at Granite waterline extension 

• Funding for debt service on the 2020 Capital Streets Improvement Project loan 

• Funding for implementation of the Pay Classification Study adjustments and 
recommendations in each department, including the addition of a full-time Town 
Planner position in Administration. 

• Prioritized needs and capital purchases for departments 

• Operation expenses to continue services to citizens at current or increased levels 

• Adjustments to cover any inflation and contractual variations along line items 

• Specific items per department further detailed below. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Budget Overview 
After careful consideration, the following budget recommendations represent Board 
goals, departmental input, and community needs within a tax rate of $0.445 per $100 
valuation.  The total recommended budget is $2,718,123. 
 
General Fund:                   $ 2,718,123 

Governing Body  $   55,943 
Administration  $ 566,432 
Police    $ 751,991 
Fire    $ 544,429 
Public Works/Maintenance $ 420,061 
Streets – Powell Bill  $ 134,517 
Streets – Non-Powell Bill $   36,000 
Parks and Recreation  $    56,500 
Environmental  $ 152,250 

 
Total All Funds:      $ 2,718,123 
 
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 58



FY 2021-2022 Departmental Highlights 
Governing Body:  The recommended budget for Governing Body is $55,943.  This 
includes a 2% Cost of Living Adjustment to Board member pay, funding for the annual 
financial audit, and funding to Rowan County for the 2021 municipal elections. 
 

Administration:  The proposed budget for Administration is $566,432.  This includes 
funding to implement the Pay Classification Study adjustments and recommendation for 
a full-time Town Planner position.  This department also houses the debt service funding 
for the Village at Granite waterline extension, Community Appearance Commission 
activities, and tax collection services through Rowan County. 
 

Police:  The proposed budget for the Police Department is $751,991.  This includes 
normal operations and personnel funding.  Budgeting for an automatic appropriation of 
general funds into capital outlay for vehicles (in an amount equal to any unspent funds 
from this FY as per a provision in the Interlocal Agreement) is not included since that 
provision is currently being evaluated, two new patrol vehicles were able to be purchased 
in the FY21 putting fleet needs in good shape, and an accurate projection of the amount 
of unspent FY21 funds is not available until financial statements and any audit 
adjustments for the FY21 closeout are conducted in the 1st or 2nd quarter of the new FY. 
 

Fire:  The proposed budget for the Fire Department is $544,429.  This includes $36,000 
funding for the Engine 572 refurbishment that was originally scheduled for the FY21 but 
postponed due to higher-priority needs. 
 

Public Works / Maintenance:  The proposed budget for the Public Works / Maintenance 
Department is $420,061.  This includes funding for a replacement backhoe/loader, and 
for the purchase of a ½-ton Public Works supervisor/Fire Chief response truck to free up 
the current truck for operations needs and alleviate sharing and response issues as part 
of the 2019-2021 Fleet Efficiency Plan illustrated by the table below. 
 

Public Works and Fire 
2019-2021 Fleet Efficiency Plan 

 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 59



 
Streets – Powell Bill:  The proposed budget for Powell Bill costs is $134,517.  This 
includes $58,717 in debt service toward repayment of the 2020 Capital Streets 
Improvement project loan, and $65,000 for a capital improvement project at Brinkley and 
Cleo Streets. 
 

Streets – Non-Powell Bill:  The proposed budget for Non-Powell Bill Streets costs is 
$36,000.  This is for the Utilities costs on streetlights. 
 

Parks and Recreation:  The proposed budget for the Parks and Recreation Department 
is $56,500.  This includes a slight increase in “Maintenance & Repairs” for needed 
electrical upgrades at the Granite Lake Park for events, and increased funding for 
contracted services related to park maintenance (e.g., tree services, stump removal). 
 

Environmental:  The proposed budget for Environmental costs is $152,250.  This 
includes increased area and costs associated with the Waste Management sanitation 
services contract. 
 

 

The proposed General Fund budget is balanced with a tax rate of $0.445 per $100 of 
valuation.  Projected revenues and other funding sources are $2,718,123 and projected 
expenditures are $2,718,123. 

 
 

 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 

Larry Smith 
Larry Smith 
Town Manager 
 

  

Town of Granite Quarry Page 60



 
 
 

TOWN OF GRANITE QUARRY, NORTH CAROLINA 
Budget Ordinance No. 2021-10 

FISCAL YEAR 2021-2022 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE CONCERNING APPROPRIATIONS AND THE RAISING OF 

REVENUE FOR THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING JULY 1, 2021 
 

 
BE IT ORDAINED by the Board of Aldermen of the Town of Granite Quarry, North 
Carolina that the following anticipated fund revenues and departmental expenditures, 
certain fee and charge schedules, and with certain restrictions and authorizations, are 
hereby appropriated and approved for the operation of the Town Government and its 
activities for the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2021 and ending June 30, 2022 (FY22). 
 
Section 1: Summary 

General Fund Revenues $2,660,328 
Other Financing Sources and Uses 57,795 
Total Expenditures / Transfers $2,718,123 

 
 
Section 2: General Fund 

Anticipated Revenues 
Ad Valorem Taxes $1,188,644 
Unrestricted Intergovernmental 1,011,080 
Restricted Intergovernmental 262,722 
Permits and Fees 5,500 
Sales and Services 169,632 
Other General Revenues 22,750 
Subtotal 2,660,328 
Other Financing Sources and Uses 57,795 
Total Anticipated Revenues $2,718,123 

 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 61



Authorized Expenditures / Transfers Out 
By Department 

Governing Body $55,943 
Administration  566,432 
Police 751,991 
Fire 544,429 
Maintenance 420,061 
Streets – Powell Bill 134,517 
Streets – Non-Powell Bill 36,000 
Parks and Recreation 56,500 
Environmental 152,250 
Total Authorized Expenditures / Transfers $2,718,123 

 
Section 3: Levy of Taxes 
There is hereby levied for FY22 an Ad Valorem Tax Rate of $0.445 per One Hundred 
Dollars ($100.00) valuation of taxable property as listed for taxes as of January 1, 2021, 
for the purpose of maintaining the revenue from current taxes as set forth in the 
foregoing estimates of revenues, and in order to finance the foregoing applicable 
appropriations.  This rate of tax is based on an estimated assessed valuation of 
$265,088,669 and an estimated collection rate of 97.00%, yielding $1,179,644 in 
current year ad valorem tax revenues. 
 
Section 4: Fees Schedule 
There is hereby established, for the FY22, various fees and charges as contained in 
Attachment A. 
 
Section 5: Special Authorization - Budget Officer 
A. The Town Manager is hereby authorized to make any budget transfers as may be 

required within each department if the total appropriation for each fund does not 
change and contingency funds are not utilized to do so. 

B. Interfund transfers established in the Budget Ordinance or Capital Project Ordinance 
may be accomplished without additional approval from the Board of Aldermen. 

 
Section 6: Restrictions - Budget Officer 
A. Interfund and interdepartmental transfer of monies except as noted in Sections 5 and 

9 shall be accomplished by Board of Aldermen authorizations only. 

B. Utilization of appropriations contained in Contingencies and Appropriations from 
Fund Balance may be accomplished only with specific approval of the Board of 
Aldermen. 

 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 62



Section 7: Utilization of Budget Ordinance 
This ordinance shall be the basis of the financial plan for the Town of Granite Quarry 
Municipal Government during the FY22.  The Town Manager shall administer the budget 
and shall ensure that operating officials are provided guidance and sufficient details to 
implement their appropriate portion of the Budget. 

The Administration Department shall establish and maintain all records in consonance 
with this Budget Ordinance and the appropriate Statutes of the State of North Carolina. 
 
Section 8: Salary Adjustments 
A. For the FY22, a 2% market adjustment is authorized to be applied as a Cost of Living 

Adjustment to members of the Board of Aldermen effective July 1, 2021, and to be 
available as part of performance pay consideration to existing employees at the time 
of their respective annual performance evaluations throughout the course of the year 
if or as they merit.  Application to the salary schedule (and thus any new hires) will 
take effect January 1, 2022. 

B. Longevity pay authorization will be considered at the regular monthly meeting of the 
Board of Aldermen in November.   
 

Section 9: Re-appropriation of Funds Encumbered in FY21 
Appropriations hereinabove authorized and made shall have the amounts of the 
unearned portion of contracts at June 30, 2021 added to each appropriation as it applied 
in order to properly account for payment against the fiscal year in which it is paid. 
 
 
Copies of this ordinance, the Town Manager’s budget message, and accompanying 
attachments shall be maintained in the office of the Town Clerk of the Town of Granite 
Quarry and shall be made available for public inspection. 
 
 

Adopted June _____, 2021 
 
 
 
_________________________       _______________________ 
Aubrey Smith        William D. Feather 
Town Clerk        Mayor 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 63



Revenue Assumptions for FY 2021-2022 Budget 
 
Ad Valorem Taxes 

Property Taxes.  Property tax values are provided by the Rowan County Tax 
Assessor’s Office.  Once expenditures and all other General Fund revenues were 
projected, the amount necessary to balance the budget was calculated.  Using that 
figure as the target, a property tax rate applied to the assessed valuation was 
calculated that would result in that amount of revenue being generated.  An 
uncollectable rate of 3.00% was factored into the calculations. 

Tax Penalties and Interest.  Based on historical trends. 

Prior Year Taxes.  Based on historical trends, economic forecasts, anticipated 
continuation of collection percentages, and adjusted by the size of the 2020 property 
tax receivable balance projected as of June 30, 2021. 

 
Unrestricted Intergovernmental 

Local Option Sales Tax.  Based on estimates provided by the North Carolina League 
of Municipalities (NCLM), historical trends, State legislative changes, local conditions, 
and economic forecasts.  Overall, we project finishing FY21 at approximately 7.5% 
above FY20 distributions, with continued growth of approximately 2% across the 
local sales tax articles for the FY22. 

Solid Waste Disposal.  Based on forecast projections and health trends of the 
construction sector.  The State levies a $2/ton “tipping tax” on municipal solid waste 
and construction / demolition materials deposited in all NC landfills (and/or passing 
through transfer stations for any out of state disposal).  It applies proceeds to 
different programs and then distributes 18.75% of the proceeds back to 
municipalities and counties on a per capita basis.  Overall, we expect ~1.5% increase 
in FY22 distributions over the estimated FY21 amounts. 

Beer & Wine Tax.  Based on national market research forecast projections of beer 
and wine sales, against state distribution formulas.  These sales taxes are distributed 
from the NC Department of Revenue to municipalities based on population.  We 
expect distribution to see approximately 1% growth in FY22. 

Utility Franchises.  Based on estimates provided by the NCLM and historical trends.  
This category includes Electricity, Piped Natural Gas, Telecommunications, and Video 
Programming Franchise Taxes & Fees. 

 
Restricted Intergovernmental Revenues 

Powell Bill Revenues.  Based on estimates provided by the NCLM and the Office of 
State Budget and Management.  The population-based portion of the distribution 
formula (75% of the distribution) was calculated at $17.48 per capita at our most 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 64



recent certified census population of 3,148.  The mileage-based portion (25% of the 
distribution) was calculated at $1,458 per mile over our 14.88 miles of streets. 

Joint Police Authority Revenues.  Based on a flat rate agreement of $136,000. 
 
Permits and Fees 

Local Revenues.  Based on historical trends, economic forecasts, and known growth 
and development plans in queue within Town limits. 

 
Sales and Services 

Solid Waste/Recycling Collection.  Based on the recommended environmental fee 
of $12 per month per household and the anticipated collection rate through 
Salisbury-Rowan Utilities’ (SRU) billing department.   

 
Other General Revenues 

Local Revenues.  Based on fee schedule, and historic and current trends.  

Investments Interest.  Based on estimated cash balances & interest rate projections.  

Surplus Items.  Based on anticipated surplus items and their estimated market value.

Town of Granite Quarry Page 65



FEES AND CHARGES ATTACHMENT A 
FISCAL YEAR 2021-2022 

TOWN OF GRANITE QUARRY 

BUILDING AND RELATED ACTIVITIES 

Building Type Rental Times and Description Rental Fee 
Residents Non-Residents 

Shelter or Gazebo 

Up to 4 hours $35 $50 
Up to 8 hours $50 $75 
8 hours or more $75 $100 
Electricity fee $25 per 4 hours of use 

Civic Park Kitchen rental $15 $50 
Kitchen key deposit $25 

Legion Building 
Up to 6 hours $100 $250 
6 hours or more $150 $350 

Civic Group or church 
Up to 6 hours $50 $150 
6 hours or more $75 $200 
Rental deposit (no discount) $150  

No fees are charged for nationally chartered Granite Quarry youth or school organizations. 
PLANNING, ZONING, AND SUBDIVISION FEES 

Item Description Fee 
Annexation $500 + any engineer or surveying costs 

Subdivision Plats 

Exception plat review $50 
Minor subdivision plat review $75 

Major subdivision, preliminary plat 
review 

Engineer costs, plus: 
• Up to 25 lots: $250 
• 26-50 lots: $500 + $5 per lot 
• > 50 lots: $750 + $5 per lot 

Major subdivision, final plat review* $150 per map + engineer costs 
Letter of credit review $100 + engineer costs 
Letter of credit, partial release $100 + engineer costs 
*If a third review is required, an additional review fee will be charged 

Zoning Review 

Zoning / Use Permit $50 unless otherwise specified below 
Home occupation $25 
Sign - temporary $10 per sign 
Sign - permanent $50 per sign 

Conditional Use Permit (CUP) $500 
Variance $400 
Engineer drawing review Engineer costs 

Site plan review 
(Minor) $200 
(Major) $400 

Technical Review Committee review $100 + engineer costs 
Zoning Administrator’s decision appeal $250 + advertising and notification costs 
Zoning map amendment $600 + advertising and notification costs 
Zoning text amendment $400 + advertising and notification costs 
Site inspection costs $100 + engineer costs 
Vested rights process $250 

Plotted Maps, Ordinance Copies, Etc Production cost 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 66



Nuisance Citation/Fine (warning issued first) 
$50 first offense 
$100 second offense 
$200 third & subsequent offense 

ADMINISTRATIVE AND OTHER FEES 
Item Description Fees 
All Copies $0.10 per page 
Copy of Current Town Budget $0.10 per page 
Fax Service $0.25 per page 
Copy of Municipal Code of Ordinances Production cost 
Golf Cart Registration $10 per cart 
Golf Cart Violation $150 per violation 
Environmental Fee (resident and non-dumpster commercial) $12 per month 

FIRE DEPARTMENT FEES 
Re-inspections (third and subsequent) $30 
Fireworks (standby) $100 
Fire Watches $100 
Assembly Standby $25 
Plans Review $25 
Hydrant Testing $30 per hydrant 
Fire Flow Report $200 
Fire Department Services Fees Market rate set by insurance company 
Fire Reports $5 per report 

FIRE DEPARTMENT PERMITS 
Fireworks $130 
Burning $35 
Annual Haz-Mat Storage $120 
Tent $40 
Tank Removal / Installation $50 

POLICE DEPARTMENT FEES 
Police Off-Duty Services (entity pays the officer directly) $30 per hour 
Police Reports $5 per report 

PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT FEES (including for Town abatements) 
Heavy Equipment / Tractors $100 per hour with operator 
Light Equipment $65 per hour with operator 
Brush Pickup, second load for citizens $50 per load 
Bulk Item Pickup (must be placed by curb) Call Town Hall for estimate 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 67



 
SALARY SCHEDULE ATTACHMENT B 

FY 2021-2022 
Salary Schedule* 

Classification Title # 
Positions 

Hiring 
Rate Minimum Mid- 

Point Maximum Notes 

Town Clerk 1 $49,897 $52,392 $63,619 $77,340  

Finance Officer 1 52,392 55,012 66,800 81,208  

Planner 1 47,521 49,897 60,590 73,658  

Office Assistant 1 30,631 32,163 39,055 47,478  

Public Works Director 1 55,012 57,763 70,141 85,269  

Public Works Crew Leader 1 32,163 33,771 41,008 49,853  

Public Works Technician 1 27,783 29,172 35,424 43,064  

Police Chief 1 63,684 66,868 81,197 98,710  

Police Investigator 1 43,103 45,258 54,957 66,810  

Police Sergeant 2 43,103 45,258 54,957 66,810  

Police Officer 6 39,095 41,050 49,846 60,597  1 position remains frozen FY22 

Fire Lieutenant 3 41,050 43,103 52,339 63,628  

* FY22 is the first fiscal year under the recently adopted salary and classification plan.  To implement without adversely affecting 
compression, authorized market adjustment as part of performance pay for eligible existing employees is available July 1, 2021, but 
application to the salary schedule and for new hire employees will not take effect until January 1, 2022. 

 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 68



 
MEMO 
 
Date: 07/17/2020 
 
RE: Revise Membership Numbers for ZBA 
 
Narrative: 
To make our town boards and commissions more efficient and manageable, we are proposing 
reducing the size of the Board and Adjustment via a text amendment to the Unified Development 
Ordinance. We are also using this amendment to do away with the alternate positions. This board 
rarely meets and when it does, we can schedule the meeting to suit the member’s schedules to 
ensure attendance. These amendments will also make interested citizens available to serve on 
other boards. 
 
Based on the current position openings, these revisions will be accomplished through attrition 
instead of terminating anyone’s current position. As soon as two new applicants are found, our 
two Aldermen currently serving on the ZBA will be able to resign those positions.  
 
The text amendment is as follows: 
 
 15.5.1 Establishment 
A. A zoning Board of Adjustment is hereby established. This board shall consist of 10 7 members 

as follows: 
1. Five (5) Four (4) members shall reside within the municipal corporate limits and shall be 

appointed by the Town Board of Aldermen; 
2. Five (5) Three (3) members shall reside within the town’s one-mile extraterritorial 

jurisdictional area and shall be appointed by the Rowan County Board of Commissioners. 
3. The members of the zoning Board of Adjustment already serving on the board prior to the 

passage of this amended section shall be considered as the five four members appointed by 
the Town Board of Aldermen, and each of these members shall serve the balance of the 
term to which such member was appointed. 

 
B. Extraterritorial board members, like in-town board members, shall serve for staggered terms 

of three years. Initial appointment of extraterritorial board members shall be as follows:    
 

1. Two members for terms of three years each; 
2. One member for a term of two years; 
3. Two members for terms of one year each. 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 69



 
C. In addition, there shall be at least two (2) alternate members appointed to the board. At least 

one (1) alternate member shall be an in-town resident and at least one (1) alternate member 
shall be an extraterritorial resident. All alternates shall be appointed to three (3) year terms, 
with the initial appointment of in-town member(s) being for three (3) years and the 
extraterritorial member being for two (2) years. Any alternate member, while attending any 
meeting of the board and serving in the absence of a regular board member, shall have and 
may exercise all the powers and duties of a regular member. Any in-town alternate may only 
replace any in-town regular board member; any extraterritorial alternate may only replace any 
extraterritorial regular board member. 
 
C. The five (5) three (3) extraterritorial board members (and their alternates) shall have equal 
rights, privileges, and duties as the five four in-town board members (and their alternates) in 
all matters. 

 
D. Any vacancy in the membership shall be filled for the unexpired term in the same manner 
as the initial appointment. Members shall serve without pay, but may be reimbursed for the 
expenses incurred while representing the board. 

 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 70



ORDINANCE NO. 2021-09 
 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TEXT OF THE TOWN OF GRANITE QUARRY’S  

UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE 
  
 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF ALDERMEN OF THE TOWN OF GRANITE 
QUARRY: 
 
 
Section 1. That the Unified Development Ordinance of the Town of Granite Quarry, North 
Carolina, is hereby amended by amending Section 15.5.1 as follows: 
 

Sec. 15.5. Board of adjustment. 
 
15.5.1 Establishment. 
 
A. A zoning Board of Adjustment is hereby established. This board shall consist of 10 7 

members as follows: 

1. Four (4) members shall reside within the municipal corporate limits and shall be 
appointed by the Town Board of Aldermen; 

2. Three (3) members shall reside within the town’s one-mile extraterritorial jurisdictional 
area and shall be appointed by the Rowan County Board of Commissioners. 

3. The members of the zoning Board of Adjustment already serving on the board prior to 
the passage of this amended section shall be considered as the four members appointed 
by the Town Board of Aldermen, and each of these members shall serve the balance of 
the term to which such member was appointed. 

 
B. Extraterritorial board members, like in-town board members, shall serve for staggered 

terms of three years. Initial appointment of extraterritorial board members shall be as 
follows:    

 
1. Two members for terms of three years each; 
2. One member for a term of two years. 

 
 
C. The three (3) extraterritorial board members shall have equal rights, privileges, and duties 

as the four in-town board members in all matters. 
 

D. Any vacancy in the membership shall be filled for the unexpired term in the same manner 
as the initial appointment. Members shall serve without pay but may be reimbursed for the 
expenses incurred while representing the board. 

 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 71



 
Section 2. All ordinances in conflict herewith are repealed to the extent of any such conflict. 
 
Section 3. This ordinance is effective on the ____ day of ____ 2021. 
 
 
      ___________________________________ 
      William D. Feather, Mayor 
 
 
 
ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM:   
   
 
 
_________________________________        
Aubrey Smith, Town Clerk   Carl M. Short, Town Attorney 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 72



 
MEMO 
 
Date: May 20, 2021 
 
To: Planning Board, Board of Aldermen 
 
From: Town Planner 
 
RE: Flood Damage Prevention Ordinance Text Amendment 
 
Narrative: 
Since about September 17, 1979 the Town of Granite Quarry has had in its Code of Ordinances 
and later in its Unified Development Ordinance a Flood Damage Prevention Ordinance. The 
purpose of this ordinance is to regulate development in flood prone areas to avoid damage to 
public and private property. 
 
At some point in the past, it was decided to allow Rowan County to administer this ordinance, 
issuing and managing permitting for structures being built in and adjacent to identified flood 
prone areas. The Town still maintains statutory authority for this ordinance and as such, handles 
appeals, variances, and citations for violations. 
 
To coordinate with Rowan County and state statutes, the Town has adopted an edited version of 
the County’s Flood Damage Prevention Ordinance. Unfortunately, the Town has been less than 
diligent through the years in updating our ordinance to keep it current with revisions to Rowan 
County’s ordinance. 
 
To bring their ordinance in compliance with the new 160D statutes, Rowan County has 
undertaken a complete revision of their current ordinance and has asked municipalities to adopt 
similar changes. The attached draft of a revised ordinance includes revisions from two previous 
County updates and the current update to comply with the 160D statute language. It has been 
reviewed by Rowan County staff for compliance with their ordinance and through them, with 
State staff for compliance with their revisions. 
 
In lieu of reviewing each word and citation revision, this should be considered adoption of a 
completely new ordinance replacing the previously adopted ordinance.   

Town of Granite Quarry Page 73



ORDINANCE NO. 2021-11 
 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TEXT OF THE TOWN OF GRANITE QUARRY’S  

UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE 
 

  
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF ALDERMEN OF THE TOWN OF GRANITE 
QUARRY: 
 
 
Section 1. That the Unified Development Ordinance of the Town of Granite Quarry, North 
Carolina, is hereby amended by replacing The Flood Damage Prevention Ordinance found in 
Chapter 7, beginning after Sec. 7.6.2 Flood Damage Prevention in Appendix A, which such 
section reads as follows: 
 
7.6.3 

FLOOD DAMAGE PREVENTION ORDINANCE 
 

TOWN OF GRANITE QUARRY, NC 
 
 

ARTICLE 1.  STATUTORY AUTHORIZATION, FINDINGS OF FACT, PURPOSE AND 
OBJECTIVES 

 
Sec. A.  Statutory authorization. 

The Legislature of the State of North Carolina has in Part 6, Article 21 of Chapter 143; Part 121, Article 6 
of Chapter 153A; and Articles 1, 7, 9, and 11 of Chapter 160D of the North Carolina General Statutes, 
delegated to local governmental units the authority to adopt regulations designed to promote the public 
health, safety, and general welfare. 
 
Therefore, the Board of Aldermen of the Town of Granite Quarry, North Carolina, does ordain as follows: 
 
(provided by MuniCode when codified) 
 
Sec. B.  Findings of fact. 
 

(1) The flood prone areas within the jurisdiction of Granite Quarry are subject to periodic inundation 
which results in loss of life, property, health and safety hazards, disruption of commerce and 
governmental services, extraordinary public expenditures of flood protection and relief, and 
impairment of the tax base, all of which adversely affect the public health, safety, and general 
welfare. 

 
(2) These flood losses are caused by the cumulative effect of obstructions in floodplains causing 

increases in flood heights and velocities and by the occupancy in flood prone areas of uses 
vulnerable to floods or other hazards. 

 
(provided by MuniCode when codified) 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 74



 
Sec. C.  Statement of purpose. 
 
It is the purpose of this chapter to promote public health, safety, and general welfare and to minimize public 
and private losses due to flood conditions within flood prone areas by provisions designed to: 
 

(1) Restrict or prohibit uses that are dangerous to health, safety, and property due to water or erosion 
hazards or that result in damaging increases in erosion, flood heights or velocities; 

 
(2) Require that uses vulnerable to floods, including facilities that serve such uses, be protected against 

flood damage at the time of initial construction; 
 
(3) Control the alteration of natural floodplains, stream channels, and natural protective barriers, which 

are involved in the accommodation of floodwaters; 
 
(4) Control filling, grading, dredging, and all other development that may increase erosion or flood 

damage; and 
 
(5)    Prevent or regulate the construction of flood barriers that will unnaturally divert flood waters or 

which may increase flood hazards to other lands. 
 

(provided by MuniCode when codified) 
 
Sec. D.  Objectives. 
 
The objectives of this chapter are to: 
 

(1) Protect human life, safety, and health; 
 
(2) Minimize expenditure of public money for costly flood control projects; 
 
(3) Minimize the need for rescue and relief efforts associated with flooding and generally undertaken 

at the expense of the general public; 
 
(4) Minimize prolonged business losses and interruptions; 
 
(5) Minimize damage to public facilities and utilities (i.e. water and gas mains, electric, telephone, 

cable and sewer lines, streets, and bridges) that are located in flood prone areas; 
 
(6) Minimize damage to private and public property due to flooding; 
 
(7) Make flood insurance available to the community through the National Flood Insurance Program; 
 
(8) Maintain the natural and beneficial functions of floodplains; 
 
(9) Help maintain a stable tax base by providing for the sound use and development of flood prone 

areas; and 
 
(10)  Ensure that potential buyers are aware that property is in a special flood hazard area. 

 
(provided by MuniCode when codified) 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 75



ARTICLE 2.  DEFINITIONS 
 
 
Sec. A.  Definitions. 
 
Unless specifically defined below, words or phrases used in this chapter shall be interpreted so as to give 
them the meaning they have in common usage and to give this chapter it’s most reasonable application. 
 
Accessory structure (appurtenant structure) means a structure located on the same parcel of property as the 
principal structure and the use of which is incidental to the use of the principal structure.  
Garages, carports and storage sheds are common urban accessory structures. Pole barns, hay sheds and the 
like qualify as accessory structures on farms, and may or may not be located on the same parcel as the farm 
dwelling or shop building.   
 
Addition (to an existing building) means an extension or increase in the floor area or height of a building or 
structure.   
 
Administrative decision means a decision made in the implementation, administration, or enforcement of 
development regulations that involve the determination of facts or the application of objective standards 
set forth in this chapter.  These are sometimes referred to as “ministerial” decisions or “administrative 
determinations”. 
 
Administrative hearing means a proceeding to gather facts needed to make an administrative decision. 
 
Alteration of a watercourse means a dam, impoundment, channel relocation, change in channel alignment, 
channelization, or change in cross-sectional area of the channel or the channel capacity, or any other form 
of modification which may alter, impede, retard or change the direction and/or velocity of the riverine flow 
of water during conditions of the base flood. 
 
Appeal means a request for a review of the floodplain administrator's interpretation of any provision of this 
chapter.   
 
Area of special flood hazard:  See "special flood hazard area (SFHA)".   
 
Base flood means the flood having a one (1) percent chance of being equaled or exceeded in any given 
year.  
  
Base flood elevation (BFE) means a determination of the water surface elevations of the base flood as 
published in the flood insurance study. When the BFE has not been provided in a "special flood hazard 
area", it may be obtained from engineering studies available from a federal, state, or other source using 
FEMA approved engineering methodologies. This elevation, when combined with the "freeboard", 
establishes the "regulatory flood protection elevation".  
  
Basement means any area of the building having its floor subgrade (below ground level) on all sides.   
 
Building:  See "Structure".   
 
Chemical storage facility means a building, portion of a building, or exterior area adjacent to a building 
used for the storage of any chemical or chemically reactive products.  
 
Design Flood: See “Regulatory Flood Protection Elevation”. 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 76



 
Development means any man-made change to improved or unimproved real estate, including, but not 
limited to, buildings or other structures, mining, dredging, filling, grading, paving, excavation or drilling 
operations, or storage of equipment or materials. 
   
Development Activity means any activity defined as Development which will necessitate a Floodplain 
Development Permit.  This includes buildings, structures, and non-structural items, including (but not 
limited to) fill, bulkheads, piers, pools, docks, landings, ramps, and erosion control/stabilization measures. 
 
Digital Flood Insurance Rate Map (DFIRM) means the digital official map of a community, issued by the 
Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA), on which both the Special Flood Hazard Areas and the 
risk premium zones applicable to the community are delineated. 
 
Disposal means, as defined in G.S. 130A-290(a)(6), the discharge, deposit, injection, dumping, spilling, 
leaking, or placing of any solid waste into or on any land or water so that the solid waste or any constituent 
part of the solid waste may enter the environment or be emitted into the air or discharged into any waters, 
including groundwaters.   
 
Discontinue means to stop or cease the use of a property. 
 
Elevated building means a non-basement building which has its lowest elevated floor raised above ground 
level by foundation walls, shear walls, posts, piers, pilings, or columns.   
 
Encroachment means the advance or infringement of uses, fill, excavation, buildings, structures or 
development into a floodplain, which may impede or alter the flow capacity of a floodplain. 
 
Existing building and existing structure means any building and/or structure for which the “start of 
construction” commenced before September 17, 1979 (adoption of first floodplain management ordinance). 
 
Existing manufactured home park or manufactured home subdivision means a manufactured home park or 
subdivision for which the construction of facilities for servicing the lots on which the manufactured homes 
are to be affixed (including, at a minimum, the installation of utilities, the construction of streets, and either 
final site grading or the pouring of concrete pads) was completed before September 17, 1979 (adoption of 
the first floodplain management ordinance).   
 
FEMA means the Federal Emergency Management Agency. 
 
Flood or flooding means a general and temporary condition of partial or complete inundation of normally 
dry land areas from:   
 

(1)    The overflow of inland or tidal waters; and/or 
 
(2)    The unusual and rapid accumulation of runoff of surface waters from any source. 

 
Flood insurance means the insurance coverage provided under the National Flood Insurance Program.   
 
Flood insurance rate map (FIRM) means an official map of a community, issued by the Federal Emergency 
Management Agency, on which both the special flood hazard areas and the risk premium zones applicable 
to the community are delineated.   
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 77



Flood insurance study (FIS) means an examination, evaluation, and determination of flood hazards, 
corresponding water surface elevations (if appropriate), flood hazard risk zones, and other flood data in a 
community issued by the Federal Emergency Management Agency. The flood insurance study report 
includes flood insurance rate maps (FIRMs).   
 
Flood prone area:  see "Floodplain".   
 
Flood zone means a geographical area shown on a flood insurance rate map that reflects the severity or type 
of flooding in the area.  
  
Floodplain means any land area susceptible to being inundated by water from any source.   
 
Floodplain administrator means the individual appointed to make administrative decisions regarding 
floodplain management regulations referenced in this chapter.   
 
Floodplain development permit means any type of permit that is required in conformance with the 
provisions of this chapter, prior to the commencement of any development activity.  The permit remains 
valid provided that such activity is commenced within one (1) year of the date of issuance.  A permit expires 
if work or activity is discontinued for a period of one (1) year after work has commenced. 
 
Floodplain management means the operation of an overall program of corrective and preventive measures 
for reducing flood damage and preserving and enhancing, where possible, natural resources in the 
floodplain, including, but not limited to, emergency preparedness plans, flood control works, floodplain 
management regulations, and open space plans.   
 
Floodplain management regulations means this chapter and other zoning ordinances, subdivision 
regulations, building codes, health regulations, special purpose ordinances, and other applications of police 
power. This term describes federal, state or local regulations, in any combination thereof, which provide 
standards for preventing and reducing flood loss and damage. 
 
Flood proofing means any combination of structural and non-structural additions, changes, or adjustments 
to structures which reduce or eliminate flood damage to real estate or improved real property, water and 
sanitation facilities, structures, and their contents.   
 
Flood-resistant material means any building product [material, component or system] capable of 
withstanding direct and prolonged contact (minimum 72 hours) with floodwaters without sustaining 
damage that requires more than low-cost cosmetic repair.  Any material that is water-soluble or is not 
resistant to alkali or acid in water, including normal adhesives for above-grade use, is not flood-resistant.  
Pressure-treated lumber or naturally decay-resistant lumbers are acceptable flooring materials.  Sheet-type 
flooring coverings that restrict evaporation from below and materials that are impervious, but dimensionally 
unstable are not acceptable.  Materials that absorb or retain water excessively after submergence are not 
flood-resistant.  Please refer to Technical Bulletin 2, Flood Damage-Resistant Materials Requirements, and 
available from the FEMA.  Class 4 and 5 materials, referenced therein, are acceptable flood-resistant 
materials. 
 
Floodway means the channel of a river or other watercourse, including the area above a bridge or culvert 
when applicable, and the adjacent land areas that must be reserved in order to discharge the base flood 
without cumulatively increasing the water surface elevation more than one (1) foot.   
 
Floodway encroachment analysis means an engineering analysis of the impact that a proposed 
encroachment into a floodway or non-encroachment area is expected to have on the floodway boundaries 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 78



and flood levels during the occurrence of the base flood discharge.  The evaluation shall be prepared by a 
qualified North Carolina licensed engineer using standard engineering methods and hydraulic models 
meeting the minimum requirements of the National Flood Insurance Program. 
 
Freeboard means the height added to the base flood elevation (BFE) to account for the many unknown 
factors that could contribute to flood heights greater that the height calculated for a selected size flood and 
floodway conditions, such as wave action, blockage of bridge openings, precipitation exceeding the base 
flood, and the hydrological effect of urbanization of the watershed. The base flood elevation plus the 
freeboard establishes the "regulatory flood protection elevation".   
 
Functionally dependent facility means a facility which cannot be used for its intended purpose unless it is 
located in close proximity to water, limited to a docking or port facility necessary for the loading and 
unloading of cargo or passengers, shipbuilding, or ship repair. The term does not include long-term storage, 
manufacture, sales, or service facilities.   
 
Hazardous waste management facility means, as defined in G.S. 130A, Article 9, a facility for the 
collection, storage, processing, treatment, recycling, recovery, or disposal of hazardous waste.   
 
Highest adjacent grade (HAG) means the highest natural elevation of the ground surface, prior to 
construction, immediately next to the proposed walls of the structure.   
 
Historic structure means any structure that is:   
 

(a)    Listed individually in the National Register of Historic Places (a listing maintained by the U.S. 
Department of Interior) or preliminarily determined by the Secretary of Interior as meeting the 
requirements for individual listing on the National Register; 

 
(b)   Certified or preliminarily determined by the Secretary of Interior as contributing to the historical 

significance of a registered historic district or a district preliminarily determined by the Secretary 
to qualify as a registered historic district; 

 
(c)    Individually listed on a local inventory of historic landmarks in communities with a "Certified 

Local Government (CLG) Program"; or 
 
(d)    Certified as contributing to the historical significance of a historic district designated by a 

community with a "Certified Local Government (CLG) Program". 
 
Certified Local Government (CLG) Programs are approved by the U.S. Department of the Interior in 
cooperation with the North Carolina Department of Cultural Resources through the State Historic 
Preservation Officer as having met the requirements of the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 
as amended in 1980. 

 
Letter of Map Change (LOMC) means an official determination issued by FEMA that amends or revises an 
effective Flood Insurance Rate Map or Flood Insurance Study.  Letters of Map Change include: 
 

(a) Letter of Map Amendment (LOMA):  An official amendment, by letter, to an effective National 
Flood Insurance Program map.  A LOMA is based on technical data showing that a property had 
been inadvertently mapped as being in the floodplain, but is actually on natural high ground 
above the base flood elevation. A LOMA amends the current effective Flood Insurance Rate Map 
and establishes that a specific property, portion of a property, or structure is not located in a 
special flood hazard area. 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 79



 
(b) Letter of Map Revision (LOMR):  A revision based on technical data that may show changes to 

flood zones, flood elevations, special flood hazard area boundaries and floodway delineations, 
and other planimetric features. 

 
(c) Letter of Map Revision Based on Fill (LOMR-F):  A determination that a structure or parcel of 

land has been elevated by fill above the BFE and is, therefore, no longer located within the special 
flood hazard area.  In order to qualify for this determination, the fill must have been permitted 
and placed in accordance with the community’s floodplain management regulations. 

 
(d) Conditional Letter of Map Revision (CLOMR):  A formal review and comment as to whether a 

proposed project complies with the minimum NFIP requirements for such projects with respect 
to delineation of special flood hazard areas.  A CLOMR does not revise the effective Flood 
Insurance Rate Map or Flood Insurance Study; upon submission and approval of certified as-
built documentation, a Letter of Map Revision may be issued by FEMA to revise the effective 
FIRM. 

 
Light Duty Truck means any motor vehicle rated at 8,500 pounds Gross Vehicular Weight Rating or less 
which has a vehicular curb weight of 6,000 pounds or less and which has a basic vehicle frontal area of 45 
square feet or less as defined in 40 CFR 86.082-2 and is: 
 

(a) Designed primarily for purposes of transportation of property or is a derivation of such a vehicle, 
or 

 
(b) Designed primarily for transportation of persons and has a capacity of more than 12 persons; or 
 
(c) Available with special features enabling off-street or off-highway operation and use. 

 
Lowest adjacent grade (LAG) means the elevation of the ground, sidewalk or patio slab immediately next 
to the building, or deck support, after completion of the building.   
 
Lowest floor means the lowest floor of the lowest enclosed area (including basement). An unfinished or 
flood-resistant enclosure, usable solely for parking of vehicles, building access, or limited storage in an area 
other than a basement area is not considered a building's lowest floor, provided that such an enclosure is 
not built so as to render the structure in violation of the applicable non-elevation design requirements of 
this ordinance. 
 
Manufactured home means a structure, transportable in one (1) or more sections, which is built on a 
permanent chassis and designed to be used with or without a permanent foundation when connected to the 
required utilities. The term "manufactured home" does not include a "recreational vehicle".   
 
Manufactured home park or subdivision means a parcel (or contiguous parcels) of land divided into two 
(2) or more manufactured home lots for rent or sale. 
 
Map Repository means the location of the official flood hazard data to be applied for floodplain 
management.  It is a central location in which flood data is stored and managed; in North Carolina, FEMA 
has recognized that the application of digital flood hazard data products have the same authority as hard 
copy products.  Therefore, the NCEM’s Floodplain Mapping Program websites house current and historical 
flood hazard data.  For effective flood hazard data the NC FRIS website (http://FRIS.NC.GOV/FRIS) is the 
map repository, and for historical flood hazard data the FloodNC website 
(http://FLOODNC.GOV/NCFLOOD) is the map repository. 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 80



 
Market value means the building value, not including the land value and that of any accessory structures or 
other improvements on the lot. Market value may be established by independent certified appraisal; 
replacement cost depreciated for age of building and quality of construction (actual cash value); or adjusted 
tax assessed values.  
 
NFIP means the National Flood Insurance Program. 
 
New construction means structures for which the "start of construction" commenced on or after the effective 
date of the initial floodplain management regulations and includes any subsequent improvements to such 
structures.   
 
Non-encroachment area means the channel of a river or other watercourse, including the area above a 
bridge or culvert when applicable, and the adjacent land areas that must be reserved in order to discharge 
the base flood without cumulatively increasing the water surface elevation more than one (1) foot as 
designated in the flood insurance study report.   
 
Post-FIRM means construction or other development for which the "start of construction" occurred on or 
after the effective date of the initial flood insurance rate map.   
 
Pre-FIRM means construction or other development for which the "start of construction" occurred before 
the effective date of the initial flood insurance rate map.   
 
Principally above ground means that at least fifty-one (51) percent of the actual cash value of the structure 
is above ground.   
 
Public safety and/or nuisance means anything which is injurious to the safety or health of an entire 
community or neighborhood, or any considerable number of persons, or unlawfully obstructs the free 
passage or use, in the customary manner, of any navigable lake, or river, bay, stream, canal, or basin.   
 
Recreational vehicle (RV) means a vehicle, which is: 
 

(a)    Built on a single chassis; 
 
(b)    Four hundred (400) square feet or less when measured at the largest horizontal projection; 
 
(c)    Designed to be self-propelled or permanently towable by a light duty truck; 
 
(d)    Designed primarily not for use as a permanent dwelling, but as temporary living quarters for 

recreational, camping, travel, or seasonal use; and 
 
(e)    Is fully licensed and ready for highway use. 

 
Reference level is the bottom of the lowest horizontal structural member of the lowest floor for structures 
within all special flood hazard areas.  For the purposes of this definition, the reference level for slab 
construction is measured from the top of the lowest floor. 
 
Regulatory flood protection elevation means the "base flood elevation" plus the "freeboard". In "special 
flood hazard areas" where base flood elevations (BFEs) have been determined, this elevation shall be the 
BFE plus two (2) feet of freeboard. In "special flood hazard areas" where no BFE has been established, this 
elevation shall be at least two (2) feet above the highest adjacent grade.  

Town of Granite Quarry Page 81



  
Remedy a violation means to bring the structure or other development into compliance with state and 
community floodplain management regulations, or, if this is not possible, to reduce the impacts of its non-
compliance. Ways that impacts may be reduced include protecting the structure or other affected 
development from flood damages, implementing the enforcement provisions of the ordinance or otherwise 
deterring future similar violations, or reducing federal financial exposure with regard to the structure or 
other development.  
  
Riverine means relating to, formed by, or resembling a river (including tributaries), stream, brook, etc.   
 
Salvage yard means any non-residential property used for the storage, collection, and/or recycling of any 
type of equipment, and including but not limited to vehicles, appliances and related machinery.   
 
Solid waste disposal facility means any facility involved in the disposal of solid waste, as defined in G.S. 
130A-290(a)(35).  
  
Solid waste disposal site means, as defined in G.S. 130A-290(a)(36), any place at which solid wastes are 
disposed of by incineration, sanitary landfill, or any other method.   
 
Special flood hazard area (SFHA) means the land in the floodplain subject to a one (1) percent or greater 
chance of being flooded in any given year, as determined in section 9-7 of this chapter.   
 
Start of construction includes substantial improvement, and means the date the building permit was issued, 
provided the actual start of construction, repair, reconstruction, rehabilitation, addition placement, or other 
improvement was within one hundred eighty (180) days of the permit date. The actual start means either 
the first placement of permanent construction of a structure on a site, such as the pouring of slab or footings, 
the installation of piles, the construction of columns, or any work beyond the stage of excavation; or the 
placement of a manufactured home on a foundation. Permanent construction does not include land 
preparation, such as clearing, grading, and filling; nor does it include the installation of streets and/or 
walkways; nor does it include excavation for a basement, footings, piers, or foundations or the erection of 
temporary forms; nor does it include the installation on the property of accessory buildings, such as garages 
or sheds not occupied as dwelling units or not part of the main structure. For a substantial improvement, 
the actual start of construction means the first alteration of any wall, ceiling, floor, or other structural part 
of the building, whether or not that alteration affects the external dimensions of the building.   
 
Structure means a walled and roofed building, a manufactured home, or a gas, liquid, or liquefied gas 
storage tank that is principally above ground.   
 
Substantial damage means damage of any origin sustained by a structure during any one-year period 
whereby the cost of restoring the structure to its before-damaged condition would equal or exceed fifty (50) 
percent of the market value of the structure before the damage occurred. See definition of "substantial 
improvement".   
 
Substantial improvement means any combination of repairs, reconstruction, rehabilitation, addition, or 
other improvement of a structure, taking place during any one-year period for which the cost equals or 
exceeds fifty (50) percent of the market value of the structure before the "start of construction" of the 
improvement. This term includes structures, which have incurred "substantial damage", regardless of the 
actual repair work performed. The term does not, however, include either:   

 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 82



(a)    Any correction of existing violations of state or community health, sanitary, or safety code 
specifications which have been identified by the community code enforcement official and which 
are the minimum necessary to assure safe living conditions; or 

 
(b)   Any alteration of a historic structure, provided that the alteration will not preclude the structure's 

continued designation as a historic structure and the alteration is approved by variance issued 
pursuant to section 9-35 of this ordinance. 

 
Technical Bulletin and Technical Fact Sheet means a FEMA publication that provides guidance concerning 
the building performance standards of the NFIP, which are contained in Title 44 of the U.S. Code of Federal 
Regulations at Section 60.3. The bulletins and fact sheets are intended for use primarily by State and local 
officials responsible for interpreting and enforcing NFIP regulations and by members of the development 
community, such as design professionals and builders. New bulletins, as well as updates of existing 
bulletins, are issued periodically as needed. The bulletins do not create regulations; rather they provide 
specific guidance for complying with the minimum requirements of existing NFIP regulations. 
 
Temperature Controlled means having the temperature regulated by a heating and/or cooling system, built-
in or appliance. 
 
Variance is a grant of relief from the requirements of this chapter.   
 
Violation means the failure of a structure or other development to be fully compliant with the community's 
floodplain management regulations. A structure or other development without the elevation certificate, 
other certifications, or other evidence of compliance required in articles II and III is presumed to be in 
violation until such time as that documentation is provided.   
 
Water surface elevation (WSE) means the height, in relation to NAVD 88, of floods of various magnitudes 
and frequencies in the floodplains of riverine areas. 
  
Watercourse means a lake, river, creek, stream, wash, channel or other topographic feature on or over which 
waters flow at least periodically. Watercourse includes specifically designated areas in which substantial 
flood damage may occur.   
 
“Written” or “in writing” means written communication, including by electronic mail,   executed by a 
staff member to document a determination, order, interpretation, notification, or other purpose identified 
by this chapter.  Unless specified otherwise, in the absence of evidence to the contrary, delivery by first 
class mail shall be deemed received on the third business day following deposit of the item with the 
United States Postal Service and delivery by electronic mail shall be deemed received on the date sent. 
 
(provided by MuniCode when codified) 
 

ARTICLE 3 GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
Sec. A.  Lands to which this chapter applies. 
 
This chapter shall apply to all special flood hazard areas within the jurisdiction of Granite Quarry including 
the extra territorial jurisdictions (ETJs) therein. 
 
(provided by MuniCode when codified) 
 
Sec. B.  Basis for establishing the special flood hazard areas. 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 83



 
The special flood hazard areas are those identified under the cooperating technical state (CTS) agreement 
between the State of North Carolina and FEMA in its flood insurance study (FIS) dated November 16, 2018 
for Rowan County and associated DFIRM panels, including any digital data developed as part of the FIS, 
which are adopted by reference and declared to be a part of this chapter and all revisions thereto.   
 
(provided by MuniCode when codified) 
 
Sec. C.  Establishment of floodplain development permit. 
 
A floodplain development permit shall be required in conformance with the provisions of this chapter prior 
to the commencement of any development activities within special flood hazard areas determined in 
accordance with the provisions of Article 3, Section B of this chapter. 
 
(provided by MuniCode when codified) 
 
Sec. D.  Compliance. 
 
No structure or land shall hereafter be located, extended, converted, altered, or developed in any way 
without full compliance with the terms of this chapter and other applicable regulations. 
 
(provided by MuniCode when codified) 
 
 
Sec. E.  Abrogation and greater restrictions. 
 
This chapter is not intended to repeal, abrogate, or impair any existing easements, covenants, or deed 
restrictions. However, where this chapter and another conflict or overlap, whichever imposes the more 
stringent restrictions shall prevail. 
 
(provided by MuniCode when codified) 
 
 
Sec. F.  Interpretation. 
 
In the interpretation and application of this chapter, all provisions shall be: 

 
(a) Considered as minimum requirements; 
 
(b) Liberally construed in favor of the governing body; and 
  
(c)    Deemed neither to limit nor repeal any other powers granted under state statutes. 

 
(provided by MuniCode when codified) 
 
Sec. G.  Warning and disclaimer of liability. 
 
The degree of flood protection required by this chapter is considered reasonable for regulatory purposes 
and is based on scientific and engineering consideration. Larger floods can and will occur. Actual flood 
heights may be increased by man-made or natural causes. This ordinance does not imply that land outside 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 84



the special flood hazard areas or uses permitted within such areas will be free from flooding or flood 
damages. This chapter shall not create liability on the part of Granite Quarry or by any officer or employee 
thereof for any flood damages that result from reliance on this chapter or any administrative decision 
lawfully made hereunder. 
 
(provided by MuniCode when codified) 
 
Sec. H.  Penalties for violation. 
 
Violation of the provisions of this chapter or failure to comply with any of its requirements, including 
violation of conditions and safeguards established in connection with grants of variance or special 
exceptions, shall constitute a Class 1 misdemeanor pursuant to NCGS 143-215.58. Any person who violates 
this chapter or fails to comply with any of its requirements shall, upon conviction thereof, be fined not more 
than fifty dollars ($50.00) or imprisoned for not more than thirty (30) days, or both. Each day such violation 
continues shall be considered a separate offense. Nothing herein contained shall prevent Granite Quarry 
from taking such other lawful action as is necessary to prevent or remedy any violation. 
 
(provided by MuniCode when codified) 
 
 
Secs. I-Z.  Reserved. 

 
ARTICLE 4.  ADMINISTRATION 

 
Sec. A.  Designation of floodplain administrator. 
 
The Town of Granite Quarry Planning and Zoning Administrator, herein referred to as the “Floodplain 
Administrator”, is hereby appointed to administer and implement the provisions of this ordinance.  In 
instances where the Floodplain Administrator receives assistance from others to complete tasks to 
administer and implement this ordinance, the Floodplain Administrator shall be responsible for the 
coordination and community’s overall compliance with the National Flood Insurance Program and the 
provisions of this ordinance. The floodplain administrator or other staff member shall not make a final 
administrative decision concerning a request if they would have a conflict of interest as identified in Chapter 
15 of the Unified Development Ordinance for advisory board members in making the decision.  If a staff 
member has a conflict of interest under this section, the decision shall be assigned to another staff member 
as designated by this chapter. 
 
(provided by MuniCode when codified) 
 
Sec. B.  Floodplain development application, permit and certification requirements. 

 
(1)    Application requirements.  Application for a floodplain development permit shall be made to the 

floodplain administrator prior to any development activities located within or adjacent to special 
flood hazard areas.  All elevations referenced must use NAVD 88 datum.  The following items 
shall be presented to the floodplain administrator to apply for a floodplain development permit:   

 
(a)   A plot plan drawn to scale which shall include, but shall not be limited to, the 
following specific details of the proposed floodplain development: 
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 85



(i)   The nature, location, dimensions, and elevations of the area of 
development/disturbance; existing and proposed structures, utility systems, 
grading/pavement areas, fill materials, storage areas, drainage facilities, and other 
development; 
 
(ii)   The boundary of the special flood hazard area as delineated on the FIRM or 
other flood map as determined in Article 3, Section C, or a statement that the entire 
lot is within the special flood hazard area; 
 
(iii)   Flood zone(s) designation of the proposed development area as determined 
on the FIRM or other flood map as determined in Article 3, Section C; 
 
(iv)  The boundary of the floodway(s) or non-encroachment area(s) as determined 
in section Article 3, Section C; 
 
(v)   The base flood elevation (BFE) where provided as set forth in Article 3, 
Section C, Article 4, Section D, or Article 5, Section D; 
 
(vi)   The old and new location of any watercourse that will be altered or relocated 
as a result of proposed development; and 
 
(vii)   The certification of the plot plan by a professional land surveyor or 
professional engineer. In lieu of this requirement, the floodplain administrator may 
provide necessary certifications for development adjacent to but not within the 
special flood hazard area. 
 

(b)   Proposed elevation, and method thereof, of all development within a special flood 
hazard area including, but not limited to: 
 

(i)   Elevation (in NAVD 1988) of the proposed reference level (including 
basement) of all structures; 
 
(ii)   Elevation (in NAVD 1988) to which any non-residential structure in zone AE 
or A will be floodproofed; and 
 
(iii)   Elevation (in NAVD 1988) to which any proposed utility systems will be 
elevated or floodproofed. 
 

(c)   If floodproofing, a floodproofing certificate (FEMA Form 086-0-34) with supporting 
data, an operational plan, and an inspection and maintenance plan that includes, but is not 
limited to, installation, exercise, and maintenance of floodproofing measures. 
 
(d)   A foundation plan, drawn to scale, which shall include details of the proposed 
foundation system to ensure all provisions of this chapter are met. These details include, 
but are not limited to: 
 

(i)   The proposed method of elevation, if applicable (i.e., fill, solid foundation 
perimeter wall, solid backfilled foundation, open foundation on 
columns/posts/piers/piles/shear walls); and 
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 86



(ii)   Openings to facilitate automatic equalization of hydrostatic flood forces on 
walls in accordance with Article 5, Section B(4)(c) when solid foundation 
perimeter walls are used in zones A or AE. 
 

(e)  Usage details of any enclosed areas below the lowest floor. 
 
(f)   Plans and/or details for the protection of public utilities and facilities such as sewer, 
gas, electrical, and water systems to be located and constructed to minimize flood damage. 
 
(g)   Certification that all other local, state and federal permits required prior to floodplain 
development permit issuance have been received. 
 
(h)   Documentation for placement of recreational vehicles and/or temporary structures, 
when applicable, to ensure that the provisions of subsections Article 5, Section B, (6) and 
(7) of this chapter are met. 
 
(i)   A description of proposed watercourse alteration or relocation, when applicable, 
including an engineering report on the effects of the proposed project on the flood-carrying 
capacity of the watercourse and the effects to properties located both upstream and 
downstream; and a map (if not shown on plot plan) showing the location of the proposed 
watercourse alteration or relocation. 
 

(2) Permit requirements.  The floodplain development permit shall include, but not be limited to: 
 
(a)   A complete description of all the development to be permitted under the floodplain 
development permit (e.g. house, garage, pool, septic, bulkhead, cabana, pier, bridge, mining, 
dredging, filling, grading, paving, excavation or drilling operations, or storage of equipment or 
materials, etc.). 
 

(b)   The special flood hazard area determination for the proposed development in 
accordance with available data specified in Article 3, Section B,. 
 
(c)   The regulatory flood protection elevation required for the reference level and all 
attendant utilities. 
 
(d)   The regulatory flood protection elevation required for the protection of all public 
utilities. 
 
(e)   All certification submittal requirements with timelines. 

 
(f)   A statement that no fill material or other development shall encroach into the floodway 
or non-encroachment area of any watercourse unless the requirements of section 9-56 have 
been met. 
 
(g)   The flood openings requirements, if in zones A or AE. 

 
(h)   Limitations of below base flood elevation (BFE) enclosure uses (if applicable). (i.e., 
parking, building access and limited storage only.) 
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 87



(i) A statement, that all materials below BFE / RFPE must be flood resistant 
materials. 
 
 

(3)   Certification requirements. 
 

(a)   Elevation certificates.     
 

(i)   An elevation certificate (FEMA Form 086-0-33) is required prior to the actual 
start of any new construction. It shall be the duty of the permit holder to submit to 
the floodplain administrator a certification of the elevation of the reference level, 
in NAVD 88 datum. The floodplain administrator shall review the certificate data 
submitted. Deficiencies detected by such review shall be corrected by the permit 
holder prior to the beginning of construction. Failure to submit the certification or 
failure to make required corrections shall be cause to deny a floodplain 
development permit.  In lieu of this requirement, the floodplain administrator may 
accept elevation data from a professional land surveyor sufficient to document 
current conditions and ensure proposed development will comply with this 
chapter. 
 
(ii)   An elevation certificate (FEMA Form 086-0-33) is required after the 
reference level is established. Within seven (7) calendar days of establishment of 
the reference level elevation, it shall be the duty of the permit holder to submit to 
the floodplain administrator a certification of the elevation of the reference level, 
in NAVD 88 datum. Any work done within the seven-day calendar period and 
prior to submission of the certification shall be at the permit holder's risk. The 
floodplain administrator shall review the certificate data submitted. Deficiencies 
detected by such review shall be corrected by the permit holder immediately and 
prior to further work being permitted to proceed. Failure to submit the certification 
or failure to make required corrections shall be cause to issue a stop work order for 
the project.  In lieu of this requirement, the floodplain administrator may accept 
elevation data from a professional land surveyor sufficient to document current 
conditions and ensure proposed development will comply with this chapter. 
 
(iii)   A final as-built elevation certificate (FEMA Form 086-0-33) is required after 
construction is completed and prior to certificate of compliance/occupancy 
issuance. It shall be the duty of the permit holder to submit to the floodplain 
administrator a certification of final as-built construction of the elevation of the 
reference level and all attendant utilities. The floodplain administrator shall review 
the certificate data submitted. Deficiencies detected by such review shall be 
corrected by the permit holder immediately and prior to certificate of 
compliance/occupancy issuance. In some instances, another certification may be 
required to certify corrected as-built construction. Failure to submit the 
certification or failure to make required corrections shall be cause to withhold the 
issuance of a certificate of compliance/occupancy.  The Finished Construction 
Elevation Certificate certifier shall provide at least 2 photographs showing the 
front and rear of the building taken within 90 days from the date of certification. 
The photographs must be taken with views confirming the building description and 
diagram number provided in Section A of the certificate. To the extent possible, 
these photographs should show the entire building including foundation. If the 
building has split-level or multi-level areas, provide at least 2 additional 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 88



photographs showing side views of the building. In addition, when applicable, 
provide a photograph of the foundation showing a representative example of the 
flood openings or vents. All photographs must be in color and measure at least 3" 
× 3". Digital photographs are acceptable. 
 

(b)   Floodproofing certificate.   
 

(i)   If non-residential floodproofing is used to meet the regulatory flood protection 
elevation requirements, a floodproofing certificate (FEMA Form 086-0-34), with 
supporting data, an operational plan, and an inspection and maintenance plan are 
required prior to the actual start of any new construction. It shall be the duty of the 
permit holder to submit to the floodplain administrator a certification of the 
floodproofed design elevation of the reference level and all attendant utilities, 
using NAVD 88 datum. Floodproofing certification shall be prepared by or under 
the direct supervision of a professional engineer or architect and certified by same. 
The floodplain administrator shall review the certificate data, the operational plan, 
and the inspection and maintenance plan. Deficiencies detected by such review 
shall be corrected by the applicant prior to permit approval. Failure to submit the 
certification or failure to make required corrections shall be cause to deny a 
floodplain development permit. Failure to construct in accordance with the 
certified design shall be cause to withhold the issuance of a certificate of 
compliance/occupancy. 
 
(ii)   A final Finished Construction Floodproofing Certificate (FEMA Form 086-
0-34), with supporting data, an operational plan, and an inspection and 
maintenance plan are required prior to the issuance of a Certificate of 
Compliance/Occupancy.  It shall be the duty of the permit holder to submit to the 
Floodplain Administrator a certification of the floodproofed design elevation of 
the reference level and all attendant utilities, using NAVD 1988 datum.  
Floodproofing certificate shall be prepared by or under the direct supervision of a 
professional engineer or architect and certified by same.  The Floodplain 
Administrator shall review the certificate data, the operational plan, and the 
inspection and maintenance plan.  Deficiencies detected by such review shall be 
corrected by the applicant prior to Certificate of Occupancy.  Failure to submit the 
certification or failure to make required corrections shall be cause to deny a 
Floodplain Development Permit.  Failure to construct in accordance with the 
certified design shall be cause to deny a Certificate of Compliance/Occupancy. 

 
(c)   If a manufactured home is placed within zone A or AE and the elevation of the chassis 
is more than thirty-six (36) inches in height above grade, an engineered foundation 
certification is required in accordance with the provisions of  Article 5, Section B(3)(b). 
 
(d)   If a watercourse is to be altered or relocated, a description of the extent of watercourse 
alteration or relocation; a professional engineer's certified report on the effects of the 
proposed project on the flood-carrying capacity of the watercourse and the effects to 
properties located both upstream and downstream; and a map showing the location of the 
proposed watercourse alteration or relocation shall all be submitted by the permit applicant 
prior to issuance of a floodplain development permit. 
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 89



(e)   Certification exemptions. The following structures, if located within zone A or AE, 
are exempt from the elevation / floodproofing certification requirements specified in items 
(a) and (b) of this subsection: 

 
(i)   Recreational vehicles meeting requirements of Article 5, Section B (6); 
 
(ii)   Temporary structures meeting requirements of Article 5, Section B (7); and 
 
(iii)   Accessory structures one hundred fifty (150) square feet or less or that is a 
minimal investment of $5,000 or less and meeting requirements of Article 5, 
Section B(8). 

 
(4)   Determinations for existing buildings and structures.   

 
For applications for building permits to improve buildings and structures, including alterations, 
movement, enlargement, replacement, repair, change of occupancy, additions, rehabilitations, 
renovations, substantial improvements, repairs of substantial damage, and any other 
improvement of or work on such buildings and structures, the Floodplain Administrator, in 
coordination with the Building Official, shall: 

 
(a) Estimate the market value, or require the applicant to obtain an appraisal of the 
market value prepared by a qualified independent appraiser, of the building or structure 
before the start of construction of the proposed work; in the case of repair, the market value 
of the building or structure shall be the market value before the damage occurred and before 
any repairs are made; 
 
(b) Compare the cost to perform the improvement, the cost to repair a damaged 
building to its pre-damaged condition, or the combined costs of improvements and repairs, 
if applicable, to the market value of the building or structure; 
 
(c) Determine and document whether the proposed work constitutes substantial 
improvement or repair of substantial damage; and 
 
(d) Notify the applicant if it is determined that the work constitutes substantial 
improvement or repair of substantial damage and that compliance with the flood resistant 
construction requirements of the NC Building Code and this ordinance is required. 

 
(provided by MuniCode when codified) 
 
Sec. C.  Duties and responsibilities of the floodplain administrator. 
 
The floodplain administrator shall perform, but not be limited to, the following duties: 
 

(1)   Review all floodplain development applications and issue permits for all proposed development 
within special flood hazard areas to assure that the requirements of this chapter have been 
satisfied. 

 
(2)   Review all proposed development within special flood hazard areas to assure that all necessary 

local, state and federal permits have been received, including Section 404 of the Federal Water 
Pollution Control Act Amendments of 1972, 33 U.S.C. 1334. 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 90



 
(3)    Notify adjacent communities and the North Carolina Department of Public Safety, Division of 

Emergency Management, State Coordinator for the National Flood Insurance Program prior to 
any alteration or relocation of a watercourse, and submit evidence of such notification to the 
Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). 

 
(4)   Assure that maintenance is provided within the altered or relocated portion of said watercourse so 

that the flood-carrying capacity is maintained. 
 
(5)    Prevent encroachments into floodways and non-encroachment areas unless the certification and 

flood hazard reduction provisions of Article 5, Section F, are met. 
 
(6)    Obtain actual elevation (in NAVD 88) of the reference level (including basement) and all attendant 

utilities of all new and substantially improved structures, in accordance with the provisions of 
Article 4, Section B (3). 

 
(7)    Obtain actual elevation (in NAVD 88) to which all new and substantially improved structures and 

utilities have been floodproofed, in accordance with the provisions of Article 4, Section B (3). 
 
(8)   Obtain actual elevation (in NAVD 88) of all public utilities in accordance with the provisions of 

Article 4, Section B (3). 
 
(9)    When floodproofing is utilized for a particular structure, obtain certifications from a registered 

professional engineer or architect in accordance with the provisions of Article 4, Section B (3) 
and Article 5, Section B (2). 

 
(10)  Where interpretation is needed as to the exact location of boundaries of the special flood hazard 

areas, floodways, or non-encroachment areas (for example, where there appears to be a conflict 
between a mapped boundary and actual field conditions), make the necessary interpretation. The 
person contesting the location of the boundary shall be given a reasonable opportunity to appeal 
the interpretation as provided in this article. 

 
(11) When base flood elevation (BFE) data has not been provided in accordance with the provisions of 

Article 3, Section B, obtain, review, and reasonably utilize any BFE data, along with floodway 
data or non-encroachment area data available from a federal, state, or other source, including data 
developed pursuant to Article 5, Section D, (2)(b), in order to administer the provisions of this 
chapter. 

 
(12)  When base flood elevation (BFE) data is provided but no floodway or non-encroachment area 

data has been provided in accordance with the provisions of Article 3, Section B, obtain, review, 
and reasonably utilize any floodway data or non-encroachment area data available from a federal, 
state, or other source in order to administer the provisions of this chapter. 

 
(13)  When the lowest floor and the lowest adjacent grade of a structure or the lowest ground elevation 

of a parcel in a special flood hazard area is above the base flood elevation (BFE), advise the 
property owner of the option to apply for a letter of map amendment (LOMA) from FEMA. 
Maintain a copy of the (LOMA) issued by FEMA in the floodplain development permit file. 

 
(14)  Permanently maintain all records that pertain to the administration of this ordinance and make 

these records available for public inspection, recognizing that such information may be subject 
to the Privacy Act of 1974, as amended. 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 91



 
(15)  Make on-site inspections of work in progress. As the work pursuant to a floodplain development 

permit progresses, the floodplain administrator shall make as many inspections of the work as 
may be necessary to ensure that the work is being done according to the provisions of the local 
ordinance and the terms of the permit. In exercising this power, the floodplain administrator has 
a right, upon presentation of proper credentials, to enter on any premises within the jurisdiction 
of the community at any reasonable hour for the purposes of inspection or other enforcement 
action. 

 
(16)  Issue stop work orders as required. Whenever a building or part thereof is being constructed, 

reconstructed, altered, or repaired in violation of this ordinance, the floodplain administrator may 
order the work to be immediately stopped. The stop work order shall be in writing and directed 
to the person doing or in charge of the work, the permit holder, if applicable, and the property 
owner provided by personal delivery, electronic delivery, or first-class mail. The stop work order 
shall state the specific work to be stopped, the specific reason(s) for the stoppage, and the 
condition(s) under which the work may be resumed. Violation of a stop work order constitutes a 
misdemeanor. 

 
(17)  Revoke floodplain development permits as required. The floodplain administrator may revoke 

and require the return of the floodplain development permit by notifying the permit holder in 
writing stating the reason(s) for the revocation. Permits shall be revoked for any substantial 
departure from the approved application, plans, and specifications; for refusal or failure to 
comply with the requirements of state or local laws; or for false statements or misrepresentations 
made in securing the permit. Any floodplain development permit mistakenly issued in violation 
of an applicable state or local law may also be revoked.  Revocations shall be noted in writing 
and delivered to the holder of the development approval stating the reason thereof.  Staff shall 
follow the same development review and approval process required for the issuance of the 
approval for any revocation. 

 
(18)  Make periodic inspections throughout the special flood hazard areas within the jurisdiction of the 

community. The floodplain administrator and each member of his or her inspections department 
shall have a right, upon presentation of proper credentials, to enter on any premises within the 
territorial jurisdiction of the department at any reasonable hour for the purposes of inspection or 
other enforcement action. 

 
(19)  Follow through with corrective procedures of Article 4, Section D. 
 
(20)  Review, provide input, and make recommendations for variance requests. 
 
(21)  Maintain a current map repository to include, but not limited to, historical and effective FIS 

Report, historical and effective FIRM and other official flood maps and studies adopted in 
accordance with the provisions of Article 3, Section B of this chapter, including any revisions 
thereto including letters of map change issued by FEMA. Notify state and FEMA of mapping 
needs. 

 
(22)  Coordinate revisions to FIS reports and FIRMs, including letters of map revision based on fill 

(LOMR-Fs) and letters of map revision (LOMRs). 
 
(provided by MuniCode when codified) 

 
Sec. D.  Corrective procedures. 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 92



 
(1)    Violations to be corrected.  When the floodplain administrator finds violations of applicable state 

and local laws, it shall be his or her duty to notify the owner or occupant of the building of the 
violation. The owner or occupant shall immediately remedy each of the violations of law cited in 
such notification. 

 
(2)    Actions in event of failure to take corrective action.  If the owner of a building or property shall 

fail to take prompt corrective action, the floodplain administrator shall give the owner written 
notice, by certified or registered mail to the owner's last known address or by personal service, 
stating:   

 
(a)   That the building or property is in violation of the floodplain management regulations; 
 
(b)   That an administrative hearing will be held before the floodplain administrator at a 
designated place and time, not later than ten (10) days after the date of the notice, at which 
time the owner shall be entitled to be heard in person or by counsel and to present 
arguments and evidence pertaining to the matter; and 
 
(c)   That following the administrative hearing, the floodplain administrator may issue an 
order to alter, vacate, or demolish the building; or to remove fill as applicable. 
 

(3)   Order to take corrective action.  If, upon an administrative hearing held pursuant to the notice 
prescribed above, the floodplain administrator shall find that the building or development is in 
violation of the flood damage prevention ordinance, he or she shall issue an order in writing to 
the owner, requiring the owner to remedy the violation within a specified time period, not less 
than sixty (60) calendar days, nor more than one-hundred-eighty (180) calendar days. Where the 
floodplain administrator finds that there is imminent danger to life or other property, he or she 
may order that corrective action be taken in such lesser period as may be feasible. 

 
(4)    Appeal.  Any person with standing under G.S. 160D-1402(c) appeal an administrative decision to 

the board of adjustment by giving notice of appeal in writing to the clerk to the Board of 
Adjustment within thirty (30) days of receiving actual or constructive notice of the decision.  
Appeals from an administrative decision of this chapter shall follow the procedure outlined the 
Town’s Unified Development Ordinance.  In the absence of an appeal, the order of the floodplain 
administrator shall be final. The board of adjustment shall hear an appeal within a reasonable 
time and may affirm, modify and affirm, or revoke the order. 

   
(5) Failure to comply with order.  If the owner of a building or property fails to comply with an order 

to take corrective action for which no appeal has been made or fails to comply with an order of the 
board of adjustment following an appeal, the owner shall be guilty of a Class 1 misdemeanor and 
shall be punished at the discretion of the court.    
 
(provided by MuniCode when codified) 

 
Sec. E.  Variance procedures. 
 

(1)    The board of adjustment as established by Granite Quarry, hereinafter referred to as the "appeal 
board", shall hear and decide requests for variances from the requirements of this chapter. 

 
(2)    Any person aggrieved by the decision of the appeal board may appeal such decision to the court, 

as provided in Chapter 7A of the North Carolina General Statutes. 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 93



 
(3)    Variances may be issued for: 

 
(a)   The repair or rehabilitation of historic structures upon the determination that the 
proposed repair or rehabilitation will not preclude the structure's continued designation as 
a historic structure and that the variance is the minimum necessary to preserve the historic 
character and design of the structure; 
 
(b)   Functionally dependent facilities if determined to meet the definition as stated in 
Article 2, Section A, of this chapter, provided provisions of subsection (7)(b), (c), and (e) 
have been satisfied, and such facilities are protected by methods that minimize flood 
damages during the base flood and create no additional threats to public safety;  
 
(c)  Any other type of development, provided it meets the requirements of this section. 
 

(4)    In passing upon variances, the appeal board shall consider all technical evaluations, all relevant 
factors, all standards specified in other sections of this chapter, and: 

 
(a)   The danger that materials may be swept onto other lands to the injury of others; 
 
(b) The danger to life and property due to flooding or erosion damage; 
 
(c)   The susceptibility of the proposed facility and its contents to flood damage and the 
effect of such damage on the individual owner; 
 
(d)   The importance of the services provided by the proposed facility to the community; 
 
(e)   The necessity to the facility of a waterfront location as defined under Article 2, Section 
A, of this chapter as a functionally dependent facility, where applicable; 
 
(f)   The availability of alternative locations, not subject to flooding or erosion damage, for 
the proposed use; 
 
(g)   The compatibility of the proposed use with existing and anticipated development; 
 
(h)   The relationship of the proposed use to the comprehensive plan and floodplain 
management program for that area;  
 

(i) The safety of access to the property in times of flood for ordinary and emergency 
vehicles; 

 
(j)   The expected heights, velocity, duration, rate of rise, and sediment transport of the 
floodwaters and the effects of wave action, if applicable, expected at the site; and 
 
(k)   The costs of providing governmental services during and after flood conditions 
including maintenance and repair of public utilities and facilities such as sewer, gas, 
electrical and water systems, and streets and bridges. 
 

(5)    A written report addressing each of the above factors shall be submitted with the application for 
a variance. 

 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 94



(6)    Upon consideration of the factors listed above and the purposes of this chapter, the appeal board 
may attach such conditions to the granting of variances as it deems necessary to further the 
purposes and objectives of this chapter. 

 
(7)    Any applicant to whom a variance is granted shall be given written notice specifying the difference 

between the base flood elevation (BFE) and the elevation to which the structure is to be built and 
that such construction below the BFE increases risks to life and property, and that the issuance 
of a variance to construct a structure below the BFE will result in increased premium rates for 
flood insurance up to twenty-five dollars ($25.00) per one hundred dollars ($100.00) of insurance 
coverage. Such notification shall be maintained with a record of all variance actions, including 
justification for their issuance. 

 
(8)    The floodplain administrator shall maintain the records of all appeal actions and report any 

variances to the Federal Emergency Management Agency and the State of North Carolina upon 
request. 

 
(9)    Conditions for variances: 

 
(a)   Variances shall not be issued when the variance will make the structure in violation of 
other federal, state, or local laws, regulations, or ordinances; 
 
(b)   Variances shall not be issued within any designated floodway or non-encroachment 
area if the variance would result in any increase in flood levels during the base flood 
discharge; 
 
(c)   Variances shall only be issued upon a determination that the variance is the minimum 
necessary, considering the flood hazard, to afford relief; 
 
(d)   Variances shall only be issued prior to development permit approval; 
 
(e)   Variances shall only be issued upon: 
 

(i)   A showing of good and sufficient cause; 
 
(ii)   A determination that failure to grant the variance would result in exceptional 
hardship; and 
 
(iii)   A determination that the granting of a variance will not result in 
increased flood heights, additional threats to public safety, or extraordinary 
public expense, create nuisance, cause fraud on or victimization of the 
public, or conflict with existing local laws or ordinances. 

 
(10)   A variance may be issued for solid waste disposal facilities or sites, hazardous waste management 

facilities, salvage yards, and chemical storage facilities that are located in special flood hazard 
areas provided that all of the following conditions are met: 

 
(a)   The use serves a critical need in the community. 
 
(b)   No feasible location exists for the use outside the special flood hazard area. 
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 95



(c)   The reference level of any structure is elevated or floodproofed to at least the 
regulatory flood protection elevation. 
 
(d)   The use complies with all other applicable federal, state and local laws. 
 
(e)   The Town of Granite Quarry has notified the Secretary of the North Carolina 
Department of Public Safety of its intention to grant a variance at least thirty (30) calendar 
days prior to granting the variance. 

 
(provided by MuniCode when codified) 
 
Sec. F.  Ordinance amendments. 

 
This ordinance may be amended in accordance with the procedures outlined in The Town’s Unified 

Development Ordinance with the exception of the statement of consistency requirement.  Prior to 
considering any amendment, the floodplain administrator shall receive confirmation from the North 
Carolina Department of Public Safety, Division of Emergency Management that the ordinance 
would remain FEMA compliant for communities participating in the NFIP should the amendment 
be approved.  

 
Secs. G-Z.  Reserved. 

 
ARTICLE 5.  PROVISIONS FOR FLOOD HAZARD REDUCTION 

 
Sec. A.  General standards. 

In all special flood hazard areas the following provisions are required: 

(1)    All new construction and substantial improvements shall be designed (or modified) and 
adequately anchored to prevent flotation, collapse, and lateral movement of the structure. 

(2)    All new construction and substantial improvements shall be constructed with materials and utility 
equipment resistant to flood damage in accordance with the FEMA Technical Bulletin 2, Flood 
Damage-Resistant Materials Requirements. 

(3)    All new construction and substantial improvements shall be constructed by methods and practices 
that minimize flood damages. 

(4)    All new electrical, heating, ventilation, plumbing, air conditioning equipment, and other service 
equipment shall be located at or above the RFPE or designed and installed to prevent water from 
entering or accumulating within the components during the occurrence of the base flood. These 
include, but are not limited to, HVAC equipment, water softener units, bath / kitchen fixtures, 
ductwork, electric / gas meter panels / boxes, utility / cable boxes, hot water heaters, and electric 
outlets / switches.  

(a) Replacements part of a substantial improvement, electrical, heating, ventilation, 
plumbing, air conditioning equipment, and other service equipment shall also meet the 
above provisions. 

(b) Replacements that are for maintenance and not part of a substantial improvement, 
may be installed at the original location provided the addition and / or improvements only 
comply with the standards for new construction consistent with the code and requirements 
for the original structure. 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 96



(5)    All new and replacement water supply systems shall be designed to minimize or eliminate 
infiltration of floodwaters into the system. 

(6)    New and replacement sanitary sewage systems shall be designed to minimize or eliminate 
infiltration of floodwaters into the systems and discharges from the systems into floodwaters. 

(7)    On-site waste disposal systems shall be located and constructed to avoid impairment to them or 
contamination from them during flooding. 

(8)    Nothing in this chapter shall prevent the repair, reconstruction, or replacement of a building or 
structure existing on the effective date of this chapter and located totally or partially within the 
floodway, non-encroachment area, or stream setback, provided there is no additional 
encroachment below the regulatory flood protection elevation in the floodway, non-
encroachment area, or stream setback, and provided that such repair, reconstruction, or 
replacement meets all of the other requirements of this chapter. 

(9)    New solid waste disposal facilities and sites, hazardous waste management facilities, salvage 
yards, and chemical storage facilities shall not be permitted, except by variance as specified in 
Article 4, Section e (10). A structure or tank for chemical or fuel storage incidental to an allowed 
use or to the operation of a water treatment plant or wastewater treatment facility may be located 
in a special flood hazard area only if the structure or tank is either elevated or floodproofed to at 
least the regulatory flood protection elevation and certified in accordance with the provisions of 
Article 4, Section B (3). 

(10)  All subdivision proposals and other development proposals shall be consistent with the need to 
minimize flood damage. 

(11)  All subdivision proposals and other development proposals shall have public utilities and facilities 
such as sewer, gas, electrical, and water systems located and constructed to minimize flood 
damage. 

(12)  All subdivision proposals and other development proposals shall have adequate drainage provided 
to reduce exposure to flood hazards. 

(13)  All subdivision proposals and other development proposals shall have received all necessary 
permits from those governmental agencies for which approval is required by federal or state law, 
including Section 404 of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act Amendments of 1972, 33 
U.S.C. 1334. 

(14)  When a structure is partially located in a special flood hazard area, the entire structure shall meet 
the requirements for new construction and substantial improvements. 

(15)  When a structure is located in multiple flood hazard zones or in a flood hazard risk zone with 
multiple base flood elevations, the provisions for the more restrictive flood hazard risk zone and 
the highest base flood elevation (BFE) shall apply. 

 (provided by MuniCode when codified) 
 
Sec. B.  Specific standards. 
In all special flood hazard areas where base flood elevation (BFE) data has been provided, as set forth in 
section Article 3, Section B, or Article 5, Section D, the following provisions, in addition to the provisions 
of Article 5, Section A, are required: 

(1)    Residential construction.  New construction and substantial improvement of any residential 
structure (including manufactured homes) shall have the reference level, including basement, 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 97



elevated no lower than the regulatory flood protection elevation, as defined in section 9-5 of this 
chapter.   

(2)    Non-residential construction.  New construction and substantial improvement of any commercial, 
industrial, or other non-residential structure shall have the reference level, including basement, 
elevated no lower than the regulatory flood protection elevation, as defined in Article 2, Section 
A, of this chapter. Structures located in A or AE zones may be floodproofed to the regulatory 
flood protection elevation in lieu of elevation provided that all areas of the structure, together 
with attendant utility and sanitary facilities, below the regulatory flood protection elevation are 
watertight with walls substantially impermeable to the passage of water, using structural 
components having the capability of resisting hydrostatic and hydrodynamic loads and the effect 
of buoyancy.   

(3)    Manufactured homes.     

(a)   New and replacement manufactured homes shall be elevated so that the reference level 
of the manufactured home is no lower than the regulatory flood protection elevation, as 
defined in Article 2, Section A, of this chapter. 

(b)   Manufactured homes shall be securely anchored to an adequately anchored foundation 
to resist flotation, collapse, and lateral movement, either by certified engineered foundation 
system, or in accordance with the most current edition of the State of North Carolina 
Regulations for Manufactured Homes adopted by the Commissioner of Insurance pursuant 
to G.S. 143-143.15. Additionally, when the elevation would be met by an elevation of the 
chassis thirty-six (36) inches or less above the grade at the site, the chassis shall be 
supported by reinforced piers or engineered foundation. When the elevation of the chassis 
is above thirty-six (36) inches in height, an engineering certification is required. 

(c)   All enclosures or skirting below the lowest floor shall meet the requirements of Article 
5, Section B (4). 

(d)   An evacuation plan must be developed for evacuation of all residents of all new, 
substantially improved or substantially damaged manufactured home parks or subdivisions 
located within flood prone areas. This plan shall be filed with and approved by the 
floodplain administrator and the local emergency management coordinator. 

(4)    Elevated buildings.  Fully enclosed area, of new construction and substantially improved 
structures, which is below the lowest floor:   

(a)   Shall not be designed or used for human habitation, but shall only be used for parking 
of vehicles, building access, or limited storage of maintenance equipment used in 
connection with the premises. Access to the enclosed area shall be the minimum necessary 
to allow for parking of vehicles (garage door) or limited storage of maintenance equipment 
(standard exterior door), or entry to the living area (stairway or elevator). The interior 
portion of such enclosed area shall not be finished or partitioned into separate rooms, 
except to enclose storage areas; 

(b)   Shall be constructed entirely of flood-resistant materials at least to the regulatory flood 
protection elevation; 

(c)   Shall include flood openings to automatically equalize hydrostatic flood forces on 
walls by allowing for the entry and exit of floodwaters. To meet this requirement, the 
openings must either be certified by a professional engineer or architect or meet or exceed 
the following minimum design criteria: 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 98



(i)   A minimum of two (2) flood openings on different sides of each enclosed area 
subject to flooding; 

(ii)   The total net area of all flood openings must be at least one (1) square inch 
for each square foot of enclosed area subject to flooding; 

(iii)   If a building has more than one (1) enclosed area, each enclosed area must 
have flood openings to allow floodwaters to automatically enter and exit; 

(iv)   The bottom of all required flood openings shall be no higher than one (1) foot 
above the higher of the interior or exterior adjacent grade; 

(v)   Flood openings may be equipped with screens, louvers, or other coverings or 
devices, provided they permit the automatic flow of floodwaters in both directions; 
and 

(vi)   Enclosures made of flexible skirting are not considered enclosures for 
regulatory purposes, and, therefore, do not require flood openings. Masonry or 
wood underpinning, regardless of structural status, is considered an enclosure and 
requires flood openings as outlined above. 

(5)   Additions/improvements.     

(a)   Additions and/or improvements to pre-FIRM structures when the addition and / or 
improvements in combination with any interior modifications to the existing structure are: 

(i)   Not a substantial improvement, the addition and / or improvements must be 
designed to minimize flood damages and must not be any more non-conforming 
than the existing structure. 

(ii)   A substantial improvement, with modifications / rehabilitations / 
improvements to the existing structure or the common wall is structurally modified 
more than installing a doorway, both the existing structure and the addition and / 
or improvements must comply with the standards for new construction. 

(b)   Additions to pre-FIRM or post-FIRM structures that are a substantial improvement 
with no modifications / rehabilitations / improvements to the existing structure other than 
a standard door in the common wall shall require only the addition to comply with the 
standards for new construction.  

(c)   Additions and / or improvements to post-FIRM structures when the addition and / or 
improvements in combination with any interior modifications to the existing structure are: 

(i)   Not a substantial improvement, the addition and / or improvements only must 
comply with the standards for new construction consistent with the code and 
requirements for the original structure. 

(ii)   A substantial improvement, both the existing structure and the addition and / 
or improvements must comply with the standards for new construction. 

(d) Any combination of repair, reconstruction, rehabilitation, addition or improvement 
of a building or structure taking place during a one (1) year period, the cumulative cost of 
which equals or exceeds 50 percent of the market value of the structure before the 
improvement or repair is started must comply with the standards for new construction.  For 
each building or structure, the one (1) year period begins on the date of the first 
improvement or repair of that building or structure subsequent to the effective date of this 
ordinance.  If the structure has sustained substantial damage, any repairs are considered 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 99



substantial improvement regardless of the actual repair work performed. The requirement 
does not, however, include either: 

(i)   Any project for improvement of a building required to correct existing health, 
sanitary or safety code violations identified by the building official and that are the 
minimum necessary to assume safe living conditions. 

(ii)   Any alteration of a historic structure provided that the alteration will not 
preclude the structure’s continued designation as a historic structure. 

(6)   Recreational vehicles.  Recreational vehicles shall either:   

(a)   Temporary Placement. 

(i)   Be on-site for fewer than one hundred eighty (180) consecutive days; or 

(ii)  Be fully licensed and ready for highway use.  A recreational vehicle is ready 
for highway use if it is on its wheels or jacking system, is attached to the site only 
by quick disconnect type utilities, and has no permanently attached additions. 

(b)   Permanent Placement.  Recreational vehicles that do not meet the limitations of 
Temporary Placement shall meet all the requirements for new construction. 

(7)   Temporary non-residential structures.  Prior to the issuance of a floodplain development permit 
for a temporary structure, the applicant must submit to the floodplain administrator a plan for the 
removal of such structure(s) in the event of a hurricane, flash flood or other type of flood warning 
notification. The following information shall be submitted in writing to the floodplain 
administrator for review and written approval:   

(a)   A specified time period for which the temporary use will be permitted. Time specified 
may not exceed three (3) months, renewable up to one (1) year; 

(b)   The name, address, and phone number of the individual responsible for the removal 
of the temporary structure; 

(c)   The time frame prior to the event at which a structure will be removed (i.e., minimum 
of seventy-two (72) hours before landfall of a hurricane or immediately upon flood warning 
notification); 

(d)   A copy of the contract or other suitable instrument with the entity responsible for 
physical removal of the structure; and 

(e)   Designation, accompanied by documentation, of a location outside the special flood 
hazard area, to which the temporary structure will be moved. 

(8)    Accessory structures.  When accessory structures (sheds, detached garages, etc.) are to be placed 
within a special flood hazard area, the following criteria shall be met:   

(a)   Accessory structures shall not be used for human habitation (including working, 
sleeping, living, cooking or restroom areas); 

(b)   Accessory structures shall not be temperature-controlled; 

(c)   Accessory structures shall be designed to have low flood damage potential; 

(d)   Accessory structures shall be constructed and placed on the building site so as to offer 
the minimum resistance to the flow of floodwaters; 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 100



(e)   Accessory structures shall be firmly anchored in accordance with the provisions of 
Article 5, Section A (1); 

(f)   All service facilities such as electrical shall be installed in accordance with the 
provisions of Article 5, Section A (4); and 

(g)   Flood openings to facilitate automatic equalization of hydrostatic flood forces shall be 
provided in conformance with the provisions of Article 5, Section B (4)(c). 

An accessory structure with a footprint of one hundred fifty (150) square feet or less or that is a 
minimal investment of $5,000 or less and satisfies the criteria outlined above is not required to 
meet the elevation or floodproofing standards of Article 5, Section B (2). Elevation or 
floodproofing certifications are required for all other accessory structures in accordance with 
Article 4, Section B (3). (Ord. of 5-4-09, art. 5, § B) 

(9) Tanks.  When gas and liquid storage tanks are to be placed within a Special Flood Hazard Area, 
the following criteria shall be met: 

(a) Underground tanks.  Underground tanks in flood hazard areas shall be anchored to 
prevent flotation, collapse or lateral movement resulting from hydrodynamic and 
hydrostatic loads during conditions of the design flood, including the effects of buoyancy 
assuming the tank is empty; 

(b) Above-ground tanks, elevated.  Above-ground tanks in flood hazard areas shall be 
elevated to or above the Regulatory Flood Protection Elevation on a supporting structure 
that is designed to prevent flotation, collapse or lateral movement during conditions of the 
design flood.  Tank-supporting structures shall meet the foundation requirements of the 
applicable flood hazard area; 

(c) Above-ground tanks, not elevated.  Above-ground tanks that do not meet the 
elevation requirements of Article 5, Section B (2) of this ordinance shall be permitted in 
flood hazard areas provided the tanks are designed, constructed, installed, and anchored to 
resist all flood-related and other loads, including the effects of buoyancy, during conditions 
of the design flood and without release of contents in the floodwaters or infiltration by 
floodwaters into the tanks.  Tanks shall be designed, constructed, installed, and anchored 
to resist the potential buoyant and other flood forces acting on an empty tank during design 
flood conditions.   

(d) Tank inlets and vents.  Tank inlets, fill openings, outlets and vents shall be:  

(i) At or above the Regulatory Flood Protection Elevation or fitted with 
covers designed to prevent the inflow of floodwater or outflow of the contents of 
the tanks during conditions of the design flood; and 

(ii) Anchored to prevent lateral movement resulting from hydrodynamic and 
hydrostatic loads, including the effects of buoyancy, during conditions of the 
design flood.  

(10) Other Development.   

(a) Fences in regulated floodways and NEAs that have the potential to block the 
passage of floodwaters, such as stockade fences and wire mesh fences, shall meet the 
limitations of Article 5, Section F, of this ordinance. 

(b) Retaining walls, sidewalks and driveways in regulated floodways and NEAs.  
Retaining walls and sidewalks and driveways that involve the placement of fill in regulated 
floodways shall meet the limitations of section 9-56 of this ordinance.  

Town of Granite Quarry Page 101



(c) Roads and watercourse crossings in regulated floodways and NEAs.  Roads and 
watercourse crossings, including roads, bridges, culverts, low-water crossings and similar 
means for vehicles or pedestrians to travel from one side of a watercourse to the other side, 
that encroach into regulated floodways shall meet the limitations of Article 5, Section F of 
this ordinance. 

(d) Commercial storage facilities are not considered “limited storage” as noted in this 
ordinance, and shall be protected to the Regulatory Flood Protection Elevation as required 
for commercial structures. 

(provided by MuniCode when codified);  

Sec. C.  Reserved. 

Sec. D.  Standards for floodplains without established base flood elevations.     

Within the special flood hazard areas designated as approximate zone A and established in section 9-7, 
where no base flood elevation (BFE) data has been provided by FEMA, the following provisions, in 
addition to the provisions of Article 5, Section A, shall apply: 

(1)    No encroachments, including fill, new construction, substantial improvements or new 
development shall be permitted within a distance of twenty (20) feet each side from top of bank 
or five (5) times the width of the stream, whichever is greater, unless certification with supporting 
technical data by a registered professional engineer is provided demonstrating that such 
encroachments shall not result in any increase in flood levels during the occurrence of the base 
flood discharge. 

(2)    The base flood elevation (BFE) used in determining the regulatory flood protection elevation shall 
be determined based on the following criteria: 

(a)   When base flood elevation (BFE) data is available from other sources, all new 
construction and substantial improvements within such areas shall also comply with all 
applicable provisions of this chapter and shall be elevated or floodproofed in accordance 
with standards in Article 5 Section A, and Article 5, Section B. 

(b)   When floodway or non-encroachment data is available from a federal, state, or other 
source, all new construction and substantial improvements within floodway and non-
encroachment areas shall also comply with the requirements of Article 5, Section B, and 
C. 

(c)   All subdivision, manufactured home park and other development proposals shall 
provide base flood elevation (BFE) data if development is greater than five (5) acres or has 
more than twenty (20) lots / manufactured home sites. Such BFE data shall be adopted by 
reference in accordance with Article 3, Section B, and utilized in implementing this 
chapter. 

(d)   When base flood elevation (BFE) data is not available from a federal, state, or other 
source as outlined above, the reference level shall be elevated or floodproofed (non-
residential) to or above the regulatory flood protection elevation, as defined in Article 2, 
Section A. All other applicable provisions of Article 5, Section B, shall also apply. 

(provided by MuniCode when codified) 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 102



 
Sec. E.  Standards for riverine floodplains with base flood elevations but without established 
floodways or non-encroachment areas. 

Along rivers and streams where base flood elevation (BFE) data is provided by FEMA or is available from 
another source but neither floodway nor non-encroachment areas are identified for a special flood hazard 
area on the FIRM or in the FIS report, the following requirements shall apply to all development within 
such areas: 

(1)   Standards of Article 5, Section A, and B; and 

(2)   Until a regulatory floodway or non-encroachment area is designated, no encroachments, including 
fill, new construction, substantial improvements, or other development, shall be permitted unless 
certification with supporting technical data by a registered professional engineer is provided 
demonstrating that the cumulative effect of the proposed development, when combined with all 
other existing and anticipated development, will not increase the water surface elevation of the 
base flood more than one (1) foot at any point within the community. 

(provided by MuniCode when codified) 

Sec. F.  Floodways and non-encroachment areas.              

Areas designated as floodways or non-encroachment areas are located within the special flood hazard areas 
established in Article 3, Section B. The floodways and non-encroachment areas are extremely hazardous 
areas due to the velocity of floodwaters that have erosion potential and carry debris and potential projectiles. 
The following provisions, in addition to standards outlined in Article 5, Section A, and B, shall apply to all 
development within such areas: 

(1)   No encroachments, including fill, new construction, substantial improvements and other 
developments shall be permitted unless: 

(a)   It is demonstrated that the proposed encroachment would not result in any increase in 
the flood levels during the occurrence of the base flood, based on hydrologic and hydraulic 
analyses performed in accordance with standard engineering practice and presented to the 
floodplain administrator prior to issuance of floodplain development permit, or 

(b)   A conditional letter of map revision (CLOMR) has been approved by FEMA.  A letter 
of map revision (LOMR) must also be obtained within six (6) months of completion of the 
proposed encroachment. 

(2)   If Article 5, Section F (1) is satisfied, all development shall comply with all applicable flood hazard 
reduction provisions of this chapter. 

(3)    Manufactured homes may be permitted provided the following provisions are met: 

(a)   The anchoring and the elevation standards of Article 5, Section B, (3); and 

(b)   The no encroachment standard of Article 5, Section F (1). 

(provided by MuniCode when codified) 

Secs. G-Z reserved. 

ARTICLE 6.  LEGAL STATUS PROVISIONS 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 103



 
Sec. A.  Effect on rights and liabilities under the existing flood damage prevention ordinance. 
 
This chapter in part comes forward by re-enactment of some of the provisions of the flood damage 
prevention ordinance enacted September 17, 1979, as amended, and it is not the intention to repeal 
but rather to re-enact and continue to enforce without interruption of such existing provisions, so 
that all rights and liabilities that have accrued thereunder are reserved and may be enforced. The 
enactment of this ordinance shall not affect any action, suit or proceeding instituted or pending. 
All provisions of the flood damage prevention ordinance of Granite Quarry enacted on December 
17, 1979, as amended, which are not reenacted herein are repealed. 

The date of the initial flood damage prevention ordinance for Town of Granite Quarry is September 15, 
1978.  

(provided by MuniCode when codified) 

Sec. B.  Effect upon outstanding floodplain development permits. 

Nothing herein contained shall require any change in the plans, construction, size, or designated use of any 
development or any part thereof for which a floodplain development permit has been granted by the 
floodplain administrator or his or her authorized agents before the time of passage of this chapter; provided, 
however, that when construction is not begun under such outstanding permit within a period of six (6) 
months subsequent to the date of issuance of the outstanding permit, construction or use shall be in 
conformity with the provisions of this chapter.  If a complete application made in accordance with this 
chapter is submitted for a development permit required pursuant to this chapter and a regulation changes 
between the time the application was submitted and a decision is made, the applicant may choose which 
version of the development regulation will apply to the application unless otherwise prohibited by 
applicable state or federal laws.  If the development permit applicant chooses the version of the ordinance 
applicable at the time of the permit application, the development permit applicant shall not be required to 
await the outcome of the amendment to the map or ordinance prior to acting on the development permit. 

(provided by MuniCode when codified) 

Sec. C.  Severability. 

If any section, clause, sentence, or phrase of the ordinance is held to be invalid or unconstitutional by any 
court of competent jurisdiction, then said holding shall in no way effect the validity of the remaining 
portions of this chapter. 

(provided by MuniCode when codified) 

 
Sec. D.  Effective date. 

This chapter shall become effective July 12, 2021. 

(provided by MuniCode when codified) 
 
 
 
 
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 104



Section 2. All ordinances in conflict herewith are repealed to the extent of any such conflict. 
 
Section 3. This ordinance is effective on the ____ day of ____ 2021. 
 
 
      ___________________________________ 
      William D. Feather, Mayor 
 
 
 
ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM:   
   
 
 
_________________________________        
Aubrey Smith, Town Clerk   Carl M. Short, Town Attorney 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 105



 
MEMO 
 
Date: May 3, 2021 
 
RE: Conflict of Interest Text Amendment 
 
Narrative: 
From a quick historical review, it would appear that the Town’s past Code of Ordinances had a 
two-paragraph section outlining a Conflict of Interest Policy for the Planning Board (this section 
was deleted during codification with MuniCode) and depended on the Board of Adjustment to 
adopt their own policy as a part of their rules of procedure. Planning staff was regulated by the 
Town’s employee policy on all conflicts of interest but that does not include language specific to 
land use decisions. The Board of Aldermen may or may not have adopted rules of procedure that 
includes language concerning conflict of interest but again, that language would not be specific 
to land use decisions. 
 
The adoption of NCGS 160D as the governing statutes for municipal and county zoning and 
subdivision regulations was meant to clarify and consolidate regulations. In Section 160D-109, 
revised language from the original statutes now clearly states that any body or individual making 
land use decisions for the Town must operate under an adopted set of Conflict of Interest 
regulations. This would apply to the Town Planner, Planning Board, Board of Adjustment, and 
Board of Aldermen.  
 
Chapter 15 of the Town’s Unified Development Ordinance includes the establishment language 
for the Planning Board and Board of Adjustment and a list of the land use authorities of the 
Town Planner, Planning Board, Board of Adjustment, and Board of Aldermen. To avoid the 
problem of having conflict of interest policies and regulations scattered through various 
documents that may or may not include the proper land use language required by 160D-109, I 
would suggest adoption of the following text into Chapter 15 of our Unified Development 
Ordinance:       
 
 Chapter 15: Administration 

Sec. 15.8 Conflict of interest. 
(a) Governing board. A governing board member shall not vote on any legislative decision 
regarding a development regulation adopted pursuant to this Chapter where the outcome 
of the matter being considered is reasonably likely to have a direct, substantial, and readily 
identifiable financial impact on the member. A governing board member shall not vote on 
any zoning amendment if the landowner of the property subject to a rezoning petition or 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 106



the applicant for a text amendment is a person with whom the member has a close familial, 
business, or other associational relationship.  
(b) Appointed boards. Members of appointed boards shall not vote on any advisory or 
legislative decision regarding a development regulation adopted pursuant to this Chapter 
where the outcome of the matter being considered is reasonably likely to have a direct, 
substantial, and readily identifiable financial impact on the member. An appointed board 
member shall not vote on any zoning amendment if the landowner of the property subject 
to a rezoning petition or the applicant for a text amendment is a person with whom the 
member has a close familial, business, or other associational relationship. 
(c) Administrative staff. No staff member shall make a final decision on an administrative 
decision required by this Chapter if the outcome of that decision would have a direct, 
substantial, and readily identifiable financial impact on the staff member or if the applicant 
or other person subject to that decision is a person with whom the staff member has a close 
familial, business, or other associational relationship. If a staff member has a conflict of 
interest under this section, the decision shall be assigned to the supervisor of the staff 
person or such other staff person as may be designated by the development regulation or 
other ordinance.  
No staff member shall be financially interested or employed by a business that is financially 
interested in a development subject to regulation under this Chapter unless the staff 
member is the owner of the land or building involved. No staff member or other individual 
or an employee of a company contracting with a city local government to provide staff 
support shall engage in any work that is inconsistent with his or her duties or with the 
interest of the local government, as determined by the local government.  
(d) Quasi-judicial decisions. A member of any board exercising quasi-judicial functions 
pursuant to this Chapter shall not participate in or vote on any quasi-judicial matter in a 
manner that would violate affected persons’ constitutional rights to an impartial decision 
maker. Impermissible violations of due process include, but are not limited to, a member 
having a fixed opinion prior to hearing the matter that is not susceptible to change, 
undisclosed ex parte communications, a close familial, business, or other associational 
relationship with an affected person, or a financial interest in the outcome of the matter.  
(e) Resolution of Objection. If an objection is raised to a board member’s participation at or 
prior to the hearing or vote on that matter and that member does not recuse himself or 
herself, the remaining members of the board shall by majority vote rule on the objection.  
(f) Familial relationship. For purposes of this section, a close familial relationship means a 
spouse, parent, child, brother, sister, grandparent, or grandchild. The term includes the 
step, half, and in-law relationships. 

 
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 107



ORDINANCE NO. 2021-12 
 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TEXT OF THE TOWN OF GRANITE QUARRY’S  

UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE 
 

  
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF ALDERMEN OF THE TOWN OF GRANITE 
QUARRY: 
 
 
Section 1. That the Unified Development Ordinance of the Town of Granite Quarry, North 
Carolina, is hereby amended by adding a section, to be numbered 15.8, which reads as follows: 

 
Sec. 15.8 Conflict of interest. 
 
A. Governing board. A governing board member shall not vote on any legislative decision 
regarding a development regulation adopted pursuant to this Chapter where the outcome of 
the matter being considered is reasonably likely to have a direct, substantial, and readily 
identifiable financial impact on the member. A governing board member shall not vote on 
any zoning amendment if the landowner of the property subject to a rezoning petition or the 
applicant for a text amendment is a person with whom the member has a close familial, 
business, or other associational relationship.  
 
B. Appointed boards. Members of appointed boards shall not vote on any advisory or 
legislative decision regarding a development regulation adopted pursuant to this Chapter 
where the outcome of the matter being considered is reasonably likely to have a direct, 
substantial, and readily identifiable financial impact on the member. An appointed board 
member shall not vote on any zoning amendment if the landowner of the property subject to 
a rezoning petition or the applicant for a text amendment is a person with whom the member 
has a close familial, business, or other associational relationship. 
 
C. Administrative staff. No staff member shall make a final decision on an administrative 
decision required by this Chapter if the outcome of that decision would have a direct, 
substantial, and readily identifiable financial impact on the staff member or if the applicant or 
other person subject to that decision is a person with whom the staff member has a close 
familial, business, or other associational relationship. If a staff member has a conflict of 
interest under this section, the decision shall be assigned to the supervisor of the staff person 
or such other staff person as may be designated by the development regulation or other 
ordinance.  
 
No staff member shall be financially interested or employed by a business that is financially 
interested in a development subject to regulation under this Chapter unless the staff member 
is the owner of the land or building involved. No staff member or other individual or an 
employee of a company contracting with a city local government to provide staff support 
shall engage in any work that is inconsistent with his or her duties or with the interest of the 
local government, as determined by the local government.  

Town of Granite Quarry Page 108



 
 
D. Quasi-judicial decisions. A member of any board exercising quasi-judicial functions 
pursuant to this Chapter shall not participate in or vote on any quasi-judicial matter in a 
manner that would violate affected persons’ constitutional rights to an impartial decision 
maker. Impermissible violations of due process include, but are not limited to, a member 
having a fixed opinion prior to hearing the matter that is not susceptible to change, 
undisclosed ex parte communications, a close familial, business, or other associational 
relationship with an affected person, or a financial interest in the outcome of the matter.  
 
E. Resolution of Objection. If an objection is raised to a board member’s participation at or 
prior to the hearing or vote on that matter and that member does not recuse himself or herself, 
the remaining members of the board shall by majority vote rule on the objection.  
 
F. Familial relationship. For purposes of this section, a close familial relationship means a 
spouse, parent, child, brother, sister, grandparent, or grandchild. The term includes the step, 
half, and in-law relationships. 

 
 
Section 2. All ordinances in conflict herewith are repealed to the extent of any such conflict. 
 
Section 3. This ordinance is effective on the ____ day of ____ 2021. 
 
 
 
      ___________________________________ 
      William D. Feather, Mayor 
 
 
 
ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM:   
   
 
 
_________________________________        
Aubrey Smith, Town Clerk   Carl M. Short, Town Attorney 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 109



Agenda Item Summary 
Regular Meeting 
June 14, 2021 
Agenda Item 11                                    Reappointments – Planning Board 

          
 
 

Summary: 
 

The Committee Membership and Appointment Policy directed that each 
committee review the status of any members whose terms were set to 
expire on July 31st. The eligibility of any members wishing to be 
reappointed was confirmed and a recommendation was made by the 
committee to the Board of Aldermen.  
 
At their May 5, 2021 meeting, the Planning Board voted to recommend 
the Board of Aldermen reappoint Jerry Holshouser, Richard Luhrs, and 
Joe Hudson to Town resident Planning Board seats and Michelle Reid 
to an ETJ Planning Board seat with term expirations of 7/31/2024. 

Action Requested: 
 

Motion to reappoint Jerry Holshouser, Richard Luhrs, and Joe 
Hudson to Town resident Planning Board seats and recommend 
to the County Board of Commissioners that Michelle Reid be 
reappointed to an ETJ Planning Board seat all with term 
expirations of 7/31/2024. 

Motion Made By: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  

Second By: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  
 
 

 

For: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  

Against: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  

 
 
In case of tie: 
Mayor Bill Feather 
 For              

 Against      
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 110



Agenda Item Summary 
Regular Meeting 
June 14, 2021 
Agenda Item 12                         Reappointment –  

     Community Appearance Commission 
          
 
 

Summary: 
 

The Committee Membership and Appointment Policy directed that each 
committee review the status of any members whose terms were set to 
expire on July 31st. The eligibility of any members wishing to be 
reappointed was confirmed and a recommendation was made by the 
committee to the Board of Aldermen.  
 
At their May 13, 2021 meeting, the Community Appearance 
Commission voted to recommend the Board of Aldermen reappoint 
Semone Brisson to ETJ Community Appearance Commission seat with 
a term expiration of 7/31/2024. 

Action Requested: 
 

Motion to reappoint Semone Brisson to ETJ Community 
Appearance Commission seat with a term expiration of 
7/31/2024. 

Motion Made By: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  

Second By: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  
 
 

 

For: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  

Against: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  

 
 
In case of tie: 
Mayor Bill Feather 
 For              

 Against      
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 111



Agenda Item Summary 
Regular Meeting 
June 14, 2021 
Agenda Item 13                         Reappointments –  

       Zoning Board of Adjustment 
          
 
 

Summary: 
 

The Committee Membership and Appointment Policy directed that each 
committee review the status of any members whose terms were set to 
expire on July 31st. The eligibility of any members wishing to be 
reappointed was confirmed and a recommendation was made by the 
committee to the Board of Aldermen.  
 
At their May 17, 2021 meeting, the Zoning Board of Adjustment voted 
to recommend the Board of Aldermen reappoint Doreen Luhrs to a 
Town resident seat and Greg Lowe to an ETJ seat, each with a term 
expiration of 7/31/2024. 

Action Requested: 
 

Motion to reappoint Doreen Luhrs to a Town resident Zoning 
Board of Adjustment seat and recommend to the County Board 
of Commissioners that Greg Lowe be reappointed to an ETJ 
Zoning Board of Adjustment seat, each with a term expiration 
of 7/31/2024. 

Motion Made By: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  

Second By: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  
 
 

 

For: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  

Against: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  

 
 
In case of tie: 
Mayor Bill Feather 
 For              

 Against      
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 112



Agenda Item Summary 
Regular Meeting 
June 14, 2021 
Agenda Item 14                         Reappointment –  

Parks, Events, and Recreation Committee 
          
 
 

Summary: 
 

The Committee Membership and Appointment Policy directed that each 
committee review the status of any members whose terms were set to 
expire on July 31st. The eligibility of any members wishing to be 
reappointed was confirmed and a recommendation was made by the 
committee to the Board of Aldermen.  
 
At their May 24, 2021 meeting, the Parks, Events, and Recreation 
Committee voted to recommend the Board of Aldermen reappoint 
Melinda Hege to a Parks, Events, and Recreation Committee seat with a 
term expiration of 7/31/2024. 

Action Requested: 
 

Motion to reappoint Melinda Hege to a Parks, Events, and 
Recreation Committee seat with a term expiration of 7/31/2024. 

Motion Made By: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  

Second By: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  
 
 

 

For: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  

Against: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  

 
 
In case of tie: 
Mayor Bill Feather 
 For              

 Against      
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 113



Agenda Item Summary 
Regular Meeting 
June 14, 2021 
Agenda Item 15                                               Social Media / Website  

           Updates and Recommendations 
          
 
 

Facebook 
Summary: 
 

As a follow-up to discussion during the Planning Retreat, staff 
researched possible options to the Town’s Facebook situation. 
 
Background 
In 2016 a local business owner started a Facebook page for the 
Town of Granite Quarry. The account uses the Town’s logo, 
address, identifies itself as a “Public & Government Service” and 
even has a policy for what can be posted. Currently town staff 
sends duplicate content to the business owner for posting (event 
flyers, press releases, emergency declarations, etc.). Duplicate 
content posts don’t need to be archived, but comments on a 
government site are required to be allowed, captured, and 
archived for a period of two years. To be in compliance with 
current regulations, changes need to be made. 
 
Recommendation 
To ask business owner to discontinue the use of the Town logo, 
address, business hours, policy, and anything affiliated with the 
Town and continue to operate as an independent site. If 
unaffiliated with the Town, duplicate content could still be sent, 
but there would be no archival requirements.  
 
Website  
Summary: 
Spoke with current website host regarding some of the options the 
Board expressed interest in implementing on our current website. 
He is checking up on a few things. The recommendation is to pick 
this back up at the next planning retreat to be able to get some 
direction for the next year’s budget planning. 
 
Action Requested: 
 

Direction from the Board on how it wishes to proceed. 

Motion Made By: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  

Second By: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  
 
 

 

For: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  

Against: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  

 
 
In case of tie: 
Mayor Bill Feather 
 For              

 Against      
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 114



Agenda Item Summary 
Regular Meeting 
June 14, 2021 
Agenda Item 16                                   Purchasing Policy 

      
          
 
 

Summary: 
 

The Committee Membership and Appointment Policy directed that each 
committee review the status of any members whose terms were set to 
expire on July 31st. The eligibility of any members wishing to be 
reappointed was confirmed and a recommendation was made by the 
committee to the Board of Aldermen.  
 
At their May 13, 2021 meeting, the Community Appearance 
Commission voted to recommend the Board of Aldermen reappoint 
Semone Brisson to ETJ Community Appearance Commission seat with 
a term expiration of 7/31/2024. 
 
Attachments: 
 

• Resolution 2021-12 
• Purchasing Policy 2021-12 

 

Action Requested: 
 

Motion to adopt Resolution 2021-12 adopting the new Town 
Purchasing Policy. 

Motion Made By: 

Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  

Second By: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  
 
 

 

For: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  

Against: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  

 
 
In case of tie: 
Mayor Bill Feather 

 For              

 Against      
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 115



RESOLUTION 2021-12 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF ALDERMEN OF THE TOWN OF  
GRANITE QUARRY, NORTH CAROLINA, TO ADOPT A PURCHASING POLICY 

 
 
 

 
WHEREAS, it is the intent of the Board of Aldermen of the Town of Granite Quarry to 

ensure that goods and services are obtained in an efficient and economical manner; and 
 

WHEREAS, it is the goal of the Town’s purchasing program to comply with all legal and ethical 
requirements of public purchasing and procurement; and 

 
WHEREAS, it is the goal of the Town’s purchasing program to assure vendors that impartial 

and equal treatment is afforded to all who conduct business with the Town; and 
 
WHEREAS, it is the goal of the Town’s purchasing program to receive maximum value for 

money spent by awarding purchase orders to the lowest responsive, responsible bidder, taking into 
consideration quality, performance, support, delivery schedule, previous performance, business 
location, and other relevant factors; and 

 
WHEREAS, it is the goal of the Town’s purchasing program to provide Town departments the 

required goods and services in a timely manner in the proper quantity and quality while providing 
necessary information to the Town Finance Department; and 

 
WHEREAS, it is the goal of the Town’s purchasing program to professionally administer the 

search for sources of supplies, the development of new sources, the selection of suppliers, 
negotiations, commitments, follow-ups, and adjustments; and 

 
WHEREAS, it is the goal of the Town’s purchasing program to promote healthy business 

relationships through informed and fair purchasing practices and maintenance of ethical standards; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Aldermen of the Town of Granite Quarry feel this can be accomplished 

by establishing the Town of Granite Quarry’s Purchasing Policy. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Aldermen of the Town of Granite Quarry 
that the attached Purchasing Policy is hereby adopted. 
 
RESOLVED, APPROVED, AND EFFECTIVE UPON ADOPTION BY THE BOARD OF ALDERMEN OF 
THE TOWN OF GRANITE QUARRY, NORTH CAROLINA, ON THIS THE 14th DAY OF June 2021. 
 
 
               ____________________________________ 
               William D. Feather, Mayor 
ATTEST:        
 
____________________________________  
Aubrey Smith, Town Clerk 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 116



 
 

PURCHASING 
POLICY 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Adopted by Board of Aldermen on 
 

___________ 
  

Town of Granite Quarry Page 117



Town of Granite Quarry, North Carolina 
Purchasing Policy 

Table of Contents 
I. FORWARD ...........................................................................................................................................................4 

II. GENERAL GUIDELINES ........................................................................................................................................5 

2.1 Appropriations ............................................................................................................................................5 

2.2 Encumbrances ............................................................................................................................................5 

2.3 Local Buying ................................................................................................................................................5 

2.4 Planning ......................................................................................................................................................5 

2.5 Buying Proper Quality .................................................................................................................................5 

2.6 Authorization and Execution of Contracts .................................................................................................5 

2.7 Purchase Orders .........................................................................................................................................6 

2.8 Pre-Audit .....................................................................................................................................................6 

2.9 Standard of Award ......................................................................................................................................6 

2.10 Conflict of Interest ......................................................................................................................................7 

2.11 Gifts and Favors ..........................................................................................................................................7 

2.12 Benefit from Confidential Information .......................................................................................................7 

2.13 Violation of Sections 2.10 through 2.12 .....................................................................................................7 

III. TYPES OF CONTRACTS ....................................................................................................................................8 

3.1 Purchases ....................................................................................................................................................8 

3.2 Services .......................................................................................................................................................8 

3.3 Construction ...............................................................................................................................................8 

3.4 Renovation and repair ................................................................................................................................8 

3.5 Mini-Brooks Act ..........................................................................................................................................8 

3.6 Interlocal Agreements ................................................................................................................................8 

IV. BIDDING & HUB REQUIREMENTS ...................................................................................................................9 

4.1 Purchases NOT subject to bidding requirements .......................................................................................9 

4.2 Purchases OR construction, renovation, and repair NOT subject to bidding requirements ......................9 

4.3 Requirements Involving Federal Funds ......................................................................................................9 

4.4 Bidding Requirements ............................................................................................................................. 10 

4.5 Contracts for Architectural and Engineering Services ............................................................................. 10 

V. SPECIAL PROCUREMENT PROCEDURES ........................................................................................................... 14 

5.1 Blanket Purchase Order ........................................................................................................................... 14 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 118



5.2 Emergency Purchases .............................................................................................................................. 14 

5.3 Public Exigency ........................................................................................................................................ 14 

5.4 Single Brand Convenience ....................................................................................................................... 14 

5.5 Sole Source .............................................................................................................................................. 15 

5.6 State of North Carolina Purchase Contract ............................................................................................. 15 

5.7 Federal Contract ...................................................................................................................................... 15 

5.8 Inadequate Competition ......................................................................................................................... 15 

5.9 Awarding Agency Approval ..................................................................................................................... 15 

5.10 Piggybacking ............................................................................................................................................ 15 

5.11 Service Contracts ..................................................................................................................................... 15 

5.12 Vendors with Town Accounts .................................................................................................................. 15 

VI. DELIVERY AND PERFORMANCE ................................................................................................................... 16 

6.1 Partial Deliveries ...................................................................................................................................... 16 

6.2 Non-Performance .................................................................................................................................... 16 

6.3 Rejection .................................................................................................................................................. 16 

6.4 Damaged Goods ...................................................................................................................................... 16 

6.5 Latent Defects .......................................................................................................................................... 16 

VII. VENDOR RELATIONS .................................................................................................................................... 17 

VIII. SALE OF TOWN PROPERTY .......................................................................................................................... 17 

IX. FUEL CARDS ................................................................................................................................................. 17 

X. CREDIT CARDS .................................................................................................................................................. 17 

10.1 Employee Responsibilities ....................................................................................................................... 17 

10.2 Unauthorized Purchases .......................................................................................................................... 18 

10.3 Improper Use of Credit Cards .................................................................................................................. 18 

XI. FRINGE BENEFITS ......................................................................................................................................... 18 

XII. EXHIBITS ....................................................................................................................................................... 19 

Exhibit A. Example of Qualified-Based Selection Exemption .............................................................................. 19 

Exhibit B. Sale of Town Property Authorization .................................................................................................. 20 

 

  

Town of Granite Quarry Page 119



I. FORWARD 
 
This purchasing policy is intended for use as a guide to the Town of Granite Quarry’s purchasing methods and 
practices. When used properly, the policies and procedures established herein will enable the Town to obtain 
needed goods and services efficiently and economically. The goal of this policy is to give structure to the Town of 
Granite Quarry’s procurement methods and to set guidelines for Town departments. 
 
The understanding and cooperation of all employees is essential in order for the Town to maximize the value of 
each taxpayer dollar spent. While this manual does not answer all procurement related questions, it provides a 
sound foundation for Town procurement methods. Any questions or concerns about this manual or the 
established procedures should be directed to the Town Finance Department.  
 
The goals of the Town's purchasing program are as follows: 
 

1. To comply with legal and ethical requirements of public purchasing and procurement. 
2. To assure vendors that impartial and equal treatment is afforded to all who conduct business with the 

Town. 
3. To receive maximum value for money spent by awarding purchase orders to the lowest responsive, 

responsible bidder, taking into consideration quality, performance, support, delivery schedule, previous 
performance, business location, and other relevant factors. 

4. To provide Town departments the required goods and services in a timely manner in the proper quantity 
and quality while providing necessary information to the Town Finance Department. 

5. To professionally administer the search for sources of supplies, the development of new sources, the 
selection of suppliers, negotiations, commitments, follow-ups, and adjustments. 

6. To promote healthy business relationships through informed and fair purchasing practices and 
maintenance of ethical standards. 

 
This manual is effective immediately following Board of Aldermen adoption and supersedes all previous 
purchasing or procurement instructions or directives. 
  

Town of Granite Quarry Page 120



II. GENERAL GUIDELINES 
 
2.1 Appropriations 
Under the Local Government Budget and Fiscal Control Act, all expenditures must be supported by an 
appropriation. Per G.S. 159-28 (b) when a bill, invoice, or other claim against a local government or public authority 
is presented, the disbursement may be approved if (1)  Finance determines the amount to be payable, and (2) the 
budget ordinance or a project ordinance includes an appropriation authorizing the expenditure and either (i) an 
encumbrance has been previously created for the transaction or (ii) an unencumbered balance remains in the 
appropriation sufficient to pay the amount to be disbursed. 
 
2.2 Encumbrances 
Encumbrances include all outstanding purchase orders, unpaid invoices and agreements or contracts that have 
not been completed for which the Town has an obligation to expend funds. Encumbrances against an 
appropriation are an obvious reduction in the amount available for future expenditures, and only when the 
encumbrances are recorded is a true report of the financial condition of a department or Town evident. 
 
2.3 Local Buying 
It is the desire of the Town of Granite Quarry to contract with vendors within the Town and Rowan County 
whenever possible. The Town has a responsibility to its citizens and local businesses; however, the Town must 
ensure taxpayer money is spent with prudence. The Town does not make purchasing decisions based exclusively 
on the location of the vendor; however, every effort will be made to encourage qualified local vendors and 
suppliers to compete for Town business. 
 
2.4 Planning 
It is imperative that all Town Department Heads take time to properly plan purchases. Purchasing plans should be 
made for goods and services to be purchased in both the near and distant future; thereby minimizing small orders 
and last-minute purchases. Planning is of highest importance to the Town since proper planning reduces 
unnecessary clerical and supervisory time costs associated with the procurement process. 
 
2.5 Buying Proper Quality 
Quality and service are as important as price when considering goods for purchase; it is the duty of the requesting 
Department Head to secure the most cost-effective goods or services that will meet but not unduly exceed the 
requirements for which they are intended. In some instances, the lowest price does not necessarily mean the 
lowest cost. A higher price, higher quality product may save the Town from excess expenses in the future. The 
requesting Department Head should take this into consideration when making a purchase. However, when making 
a purchase of other than the lowest cost goods or services, the Department Head should be prepared to justify 
such purchase to administration and/or to the public based on standards directly related to the quality of the 
goods or services to be obtained, or the terms on which they are to be provided. 
 
2.6 Authorization and Execution of Contracts 
Department Heads are authorized to approve purchases under $100 without a purchase order. Department Heads 
may only authorize purchases for necessary goods or services when proper documentation is provided and funds 
are available to make the purchase. The Department Head or his/her designee must verify that the goods (or 
services) have been received (or performed), the budgeted funds are available, and the invoice has been coded 
to the proper account number. Any purchase $100 and greater (including shipping and handling, but exclusive of 
sales and use tax) requires a purchase order. 
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 121



Contracts authorized by the Board through direct award or budget authorization may be executed by the Town 
Manager. Subsequent orders changing the original contract, which do not exceed the approved cost of the 
contract, will be executed by the Town Manager. 
 
The Board must approve all contracts that meet any of the following criteria: 

• Formal construction, sole-source, and piggyback contracts (G.S. 143-129) 
• Contracts subject to statutory bid thresholds 
• Contracts exceeding budgetary approval, which require a budget amendment 
• Contracts suggesting a significant policy change as determined by the Town Manager 

 
2.7 Purchase Orders 
A purchase order serves as authorization to the supplier to furnish a product or service to the Town.   By 
completing a purchase order, funds are encumbered, assuring the suppliers that funds are available for the 
purchase. A purchase order is not valid until approved and pre-audited by the Finance Officer and the following 
guidelines must be followed: 
 

• A purchase order is required for all purchases over $100 including shipping and handling, but exclusive of 
sales and use tax except for the following: 

o Advertising (legal ads, radio announcements, etc.) 
o Dues, subscriptions, and memberships 
o Claim payments to citizens and refunds 
o Insurance premiums and medical examinations 
o Medical supplies 
o Land purchases and easements 
o Lease purchase payments, debt service payments 
o Professional services (i.e., legal, accounting) 
o Petty cash & replenishing funds 
o Postage 
o Fuel purchases on a fleet account 
o Building rental 
o Tuition or other fees for approved educational purposes 
o Approved travel arrangements and accommodations 
o Utilities 

• Regardless of whether a purchase order is required, it is the responsibility of the Department Head or 
his/her designee to confirm that funds are available prior to making any purchase 

• Purchases greater than $1,000 require the approval of the Town Manager 
 
2.8 Pre-Audit 
If an obligation is reduced to a written contract or written agreement requiring the payment of money or is 
evidenced by a written purchase order for supplies and materials, the written contract, agreement, or purchase 
order shall include on its face a certificate stating that the instrument has been pre-audited to assure compliance 
with G.S. 159-28 (a). 
 
2.9 Standard of Award 
Vendors will be selected on a competitive basis. Formal bids and informal bids will be solicited by the requesting 
Department Head when required. Bid awards, purchase orders and/or contracts will be issued to the lowest 
responsive, responsible bidder. The Town of Granite Quarry will not knowingly use vendors who have been 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 122



debarred by Federal, State, or Local governments. 
 
2.10 Conflict of Interest 
It is the Town’s policy that all business shall be transacted in compliance with law and shall be conducted in 
conformance to the highest ethical standards. The proper operation of government requires that public 
employees be independent, impartial, and responsible to the citizens, and that public positions not be used for 
personal gain (G.S. 14-234). For the purposes of this section public officer or employee includes a spouse, partner, 
parent, child, brother, sister, grandparent, or grandchild. The term includes step, half, and in-law relationships. 
 
No public officer or employee who is involved in making or administering a contract on behalf of the Town may 
participate directly or indirectly in the selection, award, or administration of a contract in which they may derive 
a direct benefit (G.S. 14-234(a)(1)). A public officer or employee is involved in making a contract if he or she 
participates in the development of specifications or in the preparation or award of the contract (G.S. 14-
234(a1)(3)). If such a conflict exists, the public officer or employee is prohibited from entering into said contract, 
including the sale of Town owned property. Any gift, favor, reward, service, or promise of reward, including a 
promise of future employment, in exchange for recommending, influencing, or attempting to influence the award 
of a contract by the Town is prohibited.  
 
If an actual, apparent, or potential conflict of interest as defined in this policy exists, the conflict must be reported 
to the employee’s immediate supervisor. Any such conflict shall be disclosed in writing. If the contract is part of a 
federal or pass-through award, the conflict must be disclosed to the awarding agency.  
 
Employees responsible for managing a federal financial assistance award shall identify any additional conflict of 
interest prohibitions or requirements associated with the award, and notify all employees, officers, officials, and 
sub recipients, of the requirements of this policy and any additional prohibitions or requirements. 
 
2.11 Gifts and Favors 
Town employees are prohibited from soliciting or accepting any rebate, money, costly entertainment, gift, or 
gratuity (with the exception of mementos and novelties of nominal value) from any person, company, firm or 
corporation to which any purchase order or contract is or might be awarded. The Town will not tolerate 
circumstances that produce, or reasonably appear to produce, conflicts between the personal interests of an 
employee and the interests of the Town. Accordingly, the Town may terminate, at no charge to the Town, any 
purchase order contract if it is found that substantial gifts or gratuities were offered to a Town employee. The 
Town may also take disciplinary action, including dismissal, against a Town employee who solicits or accepts gifts 
or gratuities except for the following: 
 

• Promotional items such as notepads, pens, etc. 
• Honorariums for participation in meetings 
• Meals at banquets 

 
2.12 Benefit from Confidential Information 
It is unethical and unlawful for any employee or former employee to knowingly use confidential information for 
actual or anticipated personal gain, or the actual or anticipated personal gain of any other person (G.S. 14-234). 
 
2.13 Violation of Sections 2.10 through 2.12 
Employees violating sections 2.10 through 2.12 of this policy will be subject to discipline up to and including 
termination. Contractors violating this policy will be subject to termination of the contract and may not be eligible 
for future contract awards.  

Town of Granite Quarry Page 123



III. TYPES OF CONTRACTS 
 
3.1 Purchases 
Purchases include tangible items such as an apparatus, materials, supplies, and/or equipment. 
 
3.2 Services 
Professional or non-professional services (other than construction/repair and the procurement of professional 
services falling under the “Mini-Brooks Act” G.S. 143-64.31), are distinguished by the provision of personal 
performance rather than the delivery of a tangible item. 
 
3.3 Construction 
Construction includes (1) a vertically constructed or erected building or facility for public use or for conducting the 
business of the citizenry; or (2) horizontal (surface or sub-surface) construction that is part of or done to support 
the construction of buildings or facilities. 
 
3.4 Renovation and repair 
Renovation and repair involve changes to either (1) a building structure or support, exterior or interior or (2) a 
building’s systems that are an integral part of the building and make the building useful (such as HVAC, electrical, 
plumbing, life safety). 
 
3.5 Mini-Brooks Act 
Mini-Brooks Act services are design and consultant services performed by architects, engineers, surveyors, 
construction managers at risk, design-build services, and public-private partnership construction service. These 
services are to be selected based on “best qualified” criteria outlined in G.S. 143-64.31. 
 
3.6 Interlocal Agreements 
Interlocal Agreements are joint efforts with other governmental entities that are intended to address only 
complicated or lasting joint relationships or joint endeavors, such as joint funding, development and/or operation 
of a program or facility (G.S. 160A-461). Interlocal agreements require Board approval and must comply with the 
provisions set forth in G.S. 160A-464. 
  

Town of Granite Quarry Page 124



IV. BIDDING & HUB REQUIREMENTS 
 
Public bidding promotes competition, reduces the risks of fraud, promotes fair play, and lowers costs; therefore, 
competition is encouraged for any purchase where competition is reasonably available. Under G.S. 143-129 
certain purchases, services, and contracts are subject to bidding requirements. The Town must seek competitive 
offers from qualified suppliers unless the items can be obtained through existing contracts established by North 
Carolina State Purchasing and Contracts Division. A “bid” may also be known or identified as a Request for Proposal 
(RFP), Invitation to Bid (ITB) or Request for Qualifications (RFQ). Bid processes differ based on the type and 
anticipated amount of a contract. Contracts shall not be divided for the purpose of evading competitive bidding 
requirements under G.S. 143-133. 
 
4.1 Purchases NOT subject to bidding requirements 
The following are exceptions to bidding requirements: 
 

• Purchases from other governmental agencies (G.S. 143-129(e)(1)) 
• Competitive group purchasing (G.S. 143-129(e)(3)) 
• Gasoline, diesel fuel, alcohol fuel, motor oil, fuel oil or natural gas (G.S. 143-129(e)(6)) 
• Sole sources with Board approval (G.S. 143-129(e)(6)) 
• Information technology goods and services purchased through the state Office of Information Technology 

(G.S. 143-129(e)(7)); or using RFPs (G.S. 143-129(e)(8)) 
• Purchase from State or Federal contracts (G.S. 143-129(e)(9), G.S.143-129(e)(9a)) 
• Used apparatus, supplies, materials, or equipment (not including remanufactured, prefabricated or demo 

items) (G.S. 143-129(e)(10)) 
• Piggybacking previously bid contracts (Board approval and 10-day prior notice (G.S. 143-129(g)) 

 
4.2 Purchases OR construction, renovation, and repair NOT subject to bidding requirements 
The following are exceptions to bidding requirements: 
 

• Special emergencies involving public health and safety (G.S. 143-129(e)(2)) 
• Guaranteed energy savings contracts, which are governed by Article 3B of Chapter 143 of the General 

Statutes (G.S. 143-129(e)(8)) 
• Solid Waste Management Facilities (G.S. 143-129.2) 
• Change order work (G.S. 143-129(e)(4)) 
• Contracts by a public entity with a construction manager at risk executed pursuant to (G.S. 143-128.1, G.S. 

143-129(e)(11)) 
• “Force account work” where work must be performed by labor on the permanent payroll and does not 

exceed $125,000 for the total project cost including all direct and indirect costs of labor, materials, 
supplies, equipment; or the labor on the project does not exceed $50,000 (approval by Board is required) 
(G.S. 143-135) 

• Projects using unemployment-relief labor paid for in whole or part with state or federal funds (G.S. 143-
129(d)) 

• Contracts with NC Department of Transportation for street construction and repair (G.S. 136-41.3) 
 
4.3 Requirements Involving Federal Funds 
Any purchases or contracts involving the expenditure of federal funds must be conducted in compliance with the 
Procurement Standards codified in 2 C.F.R. §200.317 through §200-326 unless otherwise directed in writing by 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 125



the federal agency or state pass-through agency that awarded the funds. All applicable local, state, and federal 
requirements will be followed when expending federal funds. Should the Town have more stringent requirements, 
the most restrictive requirement shall apply so long as it is consistent with state and federal law. 
 
4.4 Bidding Requirements 
Local policy follows the statutory guidelines outlined within Tables 1-3 except for or as clarified by the following: 
 

• Competitive Bidding $10,000 - $30,000 
An attempt to acquire at least three bids is required whenever possible and practical.  No specific form is 
required (e.g., email, phone, fax, text, mail); however, it shall be the duty of the official receiving bids in 
whatever form to keep a record of all bids received. Such record is subject to public inspection once those 
bids are received. 
 

4.5 Contracts for Architectural and Engineering Services 
Contracts for professional services including architectural, engineering, surveying, construction manager at risk 
services, design-build services, and public-private partnership construction services fall under the “Mini-Brooks 
Act” and are to be selected based on the qualification-based selection process. Requirements for professional 
services must be announced and firms must be selected based on demonstrated competence and qualifications 
for the type of professional services required (G.S. 143-64.31(a)). The selection of a firm shall include the use of 
“good faith efforts” by the Town to notify minority firms of the opportunity to submit qualifications for 
consideration by the Town (G.S. 143-64.31(a)). 
 
Firms must be selected without regard to fee. The Town may request unit price information at the time 
qualifications are received, and thereafter negotiate a lump sum contract for those services at a fair and 
reasonable fee with the best qualified firm. If a contract cannot be negotiated with the best qualified firm, 
negotiations with that firm shall be terminated and initiated with the next best qualified firm (G.S. 143-64.31(a)). 
 
The Town Manager may exempt particular projects from the qualified-based selection process in which estimated 
professional fee is less than $50,000 (G.S. 143-64.32). The exemption must be in written form on Town letterhead 
stating the name of the project and the date. Reasons for an exemption include but are not limited to critical 
project schedule, established relationship with a firm, or the execution of a small contract. If the Town choses to 
utilize the exemption, projects must be exempted on an individual basis.  See Exhibit A for an example of an 
exemption. 
 
 
 
  

Town of Granite Quarry Page 126



 

Co
nt

ra
ct

 a
m

ou
nt

:  
$0

$3
0,

00
0

$9
0,

00
0 

Re
qu

ire
m

en
ts

:
N

o 
Bi

dd
in

g 
Re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
In

fo
rm

al
 B

id
di

ng
 R

eq
ui

re
m

en
ts

Fo
rm

al
 B

id
di

ng
 R

eq
ui

re
m

en
ts

Ad
ve

rt
is

em
en

t
(G

.S
. 1

43
-1

29
)

G
.S

. -
 n

ew
sp

ap
er

 o
r e

le
ct

ro
ni

c 
ad

s 
fo

r f
ul

l 7
 

da
ys

 b
ef

or
e 

bi
d 

op
en

in
g 

(b
oa

rd
 a

pp
ro

va
l f

or
 

el
ec

tr
on

ic
 o

nl
y)

M
in

im
um

 #
 o

f b
id

s
G

.S
. 1

43
-1

32
)

G
.S

. -
 n

o 
m

in
im

um
Lo

ca
l p

ol
ic

y 
- s

ee
 s

ec
tio

n 
4.

2
G

.S
. -

 n
o 

m
in

im
um

Lo
ca

l p
ol

ic
y 

- m
in

im
um

 o
f t

hr
ee

 b
id

s
G

.S
. -

 n
o 

m
in

im
um

Lo
ca

l p
ol

ic
y 

- m
in

im
um

 o
f t

hr
ee

 b
id

s

Fo
rm

 o
f b

id
s

(G
.S

. 1
43

-1
29

, 1
43

-1
31

)
G

.S
. -

 n
o 

sp
ec

ifi
c 

fo
rm

 re
qu

ire
d

Lo
ca

l p
ol

ic
y 

- s
ee

 s
ec

tio
n 

4.
2

G
.S

. -
 n

o 
sp

ec
ifi

c 
fo

rm
 re

qu
ire

d
Lo

ca
l p

ol
ic

y 
- m

us
t b

e 
in

 w
rit

te
n 

fo
rm

G
.S

. -
 b

id
s 

m
us

t b
e 

se
al

ed

Re
co

rd
 o

f b
id

s
(G

.S
. 1

43
-1

31
)

G
.S

. -
 n

ot
 re

qu
ire

d
Lo

ca
l p

ol
ic

y 
- s

ee
 s

ec
tio

n 
4.

2
G

.S
. -

 m
us

t k
ee

p 
a 

re
co

rd
 o

f a
ll 

bi
ds

 
re

ce
iv

ed
G

.S
. -

 b
ec

au
se

 b
id

s 
ar

e 
pu

bl
ic

, n
o 

se
pa

ra
te

 
re

co
rd

 is
 re

qu
ire

d

Bi
d 

op
en

in
g

(G
.S

. 1
43

-1
29

, 1
43

-1
29

.9
, 

14
3-

13
1)

G
.S

. -
 p

ub
lic

 b
id

 o
pe

ni
ng

 re
qu

ire
d,

 b
ut

 m
ay

 
us

e 
re

ve
rs

e 
au

ct
io

n 
or

 e
le

ct
ro

ni
c 

bi
dd

in
g 

in
st

ea
d

Bi
d 

bo
nd

s
(G

.S
. 1

43
-1

29
)

Pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

/
pa

ym
en

t b
on

ds
(G

.S
. 4

4A
-2

6,
 1

43
-1

29
)

H
U

B 
pa

rt
ic

ip
at

io
n 

go
al

s
(G

.S
. 1

43
-1

28
.2

, 1
43

-1
31

)
Bo

ar
d 

ap
pr

ov
al

(G
.S

. 1
43

-1
29

, 1
43

-1
31

)
G

.S
. -

 g
ov

er
ni

ng
 b

oa
rd

 a
pp

ro
va

l r
eq

ui
re

d;
 

go
ve

rn
in

g 
bo

ar
d 

m
ay

 d
el

eg
at

e 
ap

pr
ov

al
 

au
th

or
ity

 to
 m

an
ag

er
 o

r o
th

er
 e

m
pl

oy
ee

St
an

da
rd

 o
f a

w
ar

d
(G

.S
. 1

43
-1

29
, 1

43
-1

31
)

G
.S

. -
 n

o 
st

an
da

rd
 g

iv
en

Pu
bl

ic
 re

co
rd

s
(G

.S
. 1

32
-1

, 1
32

-6
, 1

43
-

13
1)

G
.S

. -
 b

id
s 

be
co

m
e 

pu
bl

ic
 re

co
rd

 
on

ce
 re

ce
iv

ed
G

.S
. -

 re
co

rd
 o

f b
id

s 
no

t s
ub

je
ct

 to
 

pu
bl

ic
 in

sp
ec

tio
n 

un
til

 c
on

tr
ac

t a
w

ar
d

G
.S

. -
 b

id
s 

be
co

m
e 

pu
bl

ic
 re

co
rd

 o
nc

e 
op

en
ed

G
.S

. -
 n

ot
 re

qu
ire

d

G
.S

. -
 n

ot
 re

qu
ire

d

G
.S

. -
 a

w
ar

d 
to

 lo
w

es
t r

es
po

ns
iv

e,
 re

sp
on

si
bl

e 
bi

dd
er

Ta
bl

e 
1

N
or

th
 C

ar
ol

in
a 

Pu
bl

ic
 P

ro
cu

re
m

en
t R

eq
ui

re
m

en
ts

: P
ur

ch
as

e 
Co

nt
ra

ct
s

G
.S

. -
 p

ub
lic

 b
id

 o
pe

ni
ng

 n
ot

 re
qu

ire
d

G
.S

. -
 n

o 
ad

s 
re

qu
ire

d

G
.S

. -
 b

on
ds

 n
ot

 re
qu

ire
d

G
.S

. -
 b

on
ds

 n
ot

 re
qu

ire
d

Town of Granite Quarry Page 127



 

Co
nt

ra
ct

 a
m

ou
nt

:  
$0

$3
0,

00
0

$5
00

,0
00

 
Re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
:

N
o 

Bi
dd

in
g 

Re
qu

ire
m

en
ts

In
fo

rm
al

 B
id

di
ng

 R
eq

ui
re

m
en

ts
Fo

rm
al

 B
id

di
ng

 R
eq

ui
re

m
en

ts
Ad

ve
rt

is
em

en
t

(G
.S

. 1
43

-1
29

)
G

.S
. -

 n
ew

sp
ap

er
 o

r e
le

ct
ro

ni
c 

ad
s 

fo
r 

fu
ll 

7 
da

ys
 b

ef
or

e 
bi

d 
op

en
in

g 
(b

oa
rd

 
ap

pr
ov

al
 fo

r e
le

ct
ro

ni
c 

on
ly

)
M

in
im

um
 #

 o
f b

id
s

G
.S

. 1
43

-1
32

)
G

.S
. -

 n
o 

m
in

im
um

Lo
ca

l p
ol

ic
y 

- s
ee

 s
ec

tio
n 

4.
2

G
.S

. -
 n

o 
m

in
im

um
Lo

ca
l p

ol
ic

y 
- m

in
im

um
 o

f t
hr

ee
 b

id
s

G
.S

. -
 m

in
im

um
 o

f t
hr

ee
 b

id
s 

is
 re

qu
ire

d

Fo
rm

 o
f b

id
s

(G
.S

. 1
43

-1
29

, 1
43

-1
31

)
G

.S
. -

 n
o 

sp
ec

ifi
c 

fo
rm

 re
qu

ire
d

Lo
ca

l p
ol

ic
y 

- s
ee

 s
ec

tio
n 

4.
2

G
.S

. -
 n

o 
sp

ec
ifi

c 
fo

rm
 re

qu
ire

d
Lo

ca
l p

ol
ic

y 
- m

us
t b

e 
in

 w
rit

te
n 

fo
rm

G
.S

. -
 b

id
s 

m
us

t b
e 

se
al

ed

Re
co

rd
 o

f b
id

s
(G

.S
. 1

43
-1

29
, 1

43
-1

31
)

G
.S

. -
 n

ot
 re

qu
ire

d
Lo

ca
l p

ol
ic

y 
- s

ee
 s

ec
tio

n 
4.

2
G

.S
. -

 m
us

t k
ee

p 
a 

re
co

rd
 o

f a
ll 

bi
ds

 
re

ce
iv

ed
G

.S
. -

 b
ec

au
se

 b
id

s 
ar

e 
pu

bl
ic

, n
o 

se
pa

ra
te

 re
co

rd
 is

 re
qu

ire
d

Bi
d 

op
en

in
g

(G
.S

. 1
43

-1
29

, 1
43

-1
31

)
G

.S
. -

 p
ub

lic
 b

id
 o

pe
ni

ng
 re

qu
ire

d

Bi
d 

bo
nd

s/
de

po
si

t
(G

.S
. 1

43
-1

29
)

G
.S

. -
 b

on
ds

 n
ot

 re
qu

ire
d

G
.S

. -
 b

id
 b

on
d/

de
po

si
t (

5%
 o

f b
id

 
am

ou
nt

) r
eq

ui
re

d
Pe

rf
or

m
an

ce
/

pa
ym

en
t b

on
ds

(G
.S

. 4
4A

-2
6,

 1
43

-1
29

)

G
.S

. -
 p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 a

nd
 p

ay
m

en
ts

 
bo

nd
s 

ar
e 

no
t r

eq
ui

re
d

H
U

B 
pa

rt
ic

ip
at

io
n 

go
al

s
(G

.S
. 1

43
-1

28
.2

, 1
43

-1
31

)
Se

pa
ra

te
 s

pe
ci

fic
at

io
ns

(G
.S

. 1
43

-1
28

)
Li

ce
ns

ed
 c

on
tr

ac
to

r
(G

.S
. -

 8
7.

1,
 1

43
-1

39
.1

)
Co

ns
tr

uc
tio

n 
m

et
ho

ds
(G

.S
. 1

43
-1

28
)

Bo
ar

d 
ap

pr
ov

al
(G

.S
. 1

43
-1

29
, 1

43
-1

31
)

G
.S

. -
 b

oa
rd

 a
pp

ro
va

l r
eq

ui
re

d;
 c

an
no

t 
be

 d
el

eg
at

ed
St

an
da

rd
 o

f a
w

ar
d

(G
.S

. 1
43

-1
29

, 1
43

-1
31

)
G

.S
. -

 n
o 

st
an

da
rd

 g
iv

en

Pu
bl

ic
 re

co
rd

s
(G

.S
. 1

32
-1

, 1
32

-6
, 1

43
-1

31
)

G
.S

. -
 b

id
s 

be
co

m
e 

pu
bl

ic
 re

co
rd

 
on

ce
 re

ce
iv

ed
G

.S
. -

 re
co

rd
 o

f b
id

s 
no

t s
ub

je
ct

 to
 p

ub
lic

 
in

sp
ec

tio
n 

un
til

 c
on

tr
ac

t a
w

ar
d

G
.S

. -
 b

id
s 

be
co

m
e 

pu
bl

ic
 re

co
rd

 o
nc

e 
op

en
ed

**
*S

ee
 T

ab
le

 3
 fo

r a
dd

iti
on

al
 re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
 fo

r c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
an

d 
re

pa
ir 

co
nt

ra
ct

 in
vo

lv
in

g 
bu

ild
in

gs
**

*

G
.S

. -
 s

ep
ar

at
e 

sp
ec

ifi
ca

tio
ns

 n
ot

 re
qu

ire
d

G
.S

. -
 M

us
t u

se
 a

 li
ce

ns
ed

 g
en

er
al

 c
on

tr
ac

to
r i

f t
he

 c
on

tr
ac

t i
s 

pa
rt

 o
f a

 p
ro

je
ct

 w
or

th
 m

or
e 

th
an

 $
30

,0
00

G
.S

. -
 n

o 
sp

ec
ifi

c 
m

et
ho

ds
 m

us
t b

e 
us

ed

G
.S

. -
 n

ot
 re

qu
ire

d

G
.S

. -
 a

w
ar

d 
to

 lo
w

es
t r

es
po

ns
iv

e,
 re

sp
on

si
bl

e 
bi

dd
er

G
.S

. -
 n

ot
 re

qu
ire

d

Ta
bl

e 
2

N
or

th
 C

ar
ol

in
a 

Pu
bl

ic
 P

ro
cu

re
m

en
t R

eq
ui

re
m

en
ts

: C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
an

d 
Re

pa
ir 

Co
nt

ra
ct

s

G
.S

. -
 n

o 
ad

s 
re

qu
ire

d

G
.S

. -
 p

ub
lic

 b
id

 o
pe

ni
ng

 n
ot

 re
qu

ire
d G

.S
. -

 p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 a
nd

 p
ay

m
en

t b
on

ds
 a

re
 re

qu
ire

d 
(1

00
%

 o
f b

id
 a

m
ou

nt
) f

or
 

co
nt

ra
ct

s 
co

st
in

g 
m

or
e 

th
an

 $
50

,0
00

 th
at

 a
re

 p
ar

t o
f a

 p
ro

je
ct

 c
os

tin
g 

m
or

e 
th

an
 

$3
00

,0
00

Town of Granite Quarry Page 128



 

Co
nt

ra
ct

 a
m

ou
nt

:  
$0

$3
0,

00
0

$3
00

,0
00

$5
00

,0
00

 
Re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
:

N
o 

Bi
dd

in
g 

Re
qu

ire
m

en
ts

In
fo

rm
al

 B
id

di
ng

H
U

B 
&

 
Fo

rm
al

 B
id

di
ng

Ad
ve

rt
is

em
en

t
(G

.S
. 1

43
-1

29
)

G
.S

. -
 n

ew
sp

ap
er

 o
r e

le
ct

ro
ni

c 
ad

s 
fo

r f
ul

l 7
 

da
ys

 b
ef

or
e 

bi
d 

op
en

in
g 

(b
oa

rd
 a

pp
ro

va
l f

or
 

el
ec

tr
on

ic
 o

nl
y)

M
in

im
um

 #
 o

f b
id

s
G

.S
. 1

43
-1

32
)

G
.S

. -
 n

o 
m

in
im

um
Lo

ca
l p

ol
ic

y 
- s

ee
 s

ec
tio

n 
4.

2
G

.S
. -

 m
in

im
um

 o
f t

hr
ee

 b
id

s 
is

 re
qu

ire
d

Fo
rm

 o
f b

id
s

(G
.S

. 1
43

-1
29

, 1
43

-1
31

)
G

.S
. -

 n
o 

sp
ec

ifi
c 

fo
rm

 re
qu

ire
d

Lo
ca

l p
ol

ic
y 

- s
ee

 s
ec

tio
n 

4.
2

G
.S

. -
 b

id
s 

m
us

t b
e 

se
al

ed

Re
co

rd
 o

f b
id

s
(G

.S
. 1

43
-1

29
, 1

43
-1

31
)

G
.S

. -
 n

ot
 re

qu
ire

d
Lo

ca
l p

ol
ic

y 
- s

ee
 s

ec
tio

n 
4.

2
G

.S
. -

 b
ec

au
se

 b
id

s 
ar

e 
pu

bl
ic

, n
o 

se
pa

ra
te

 
re

co
rd

 is
 re

qu
ire

d
Bi

d 
op

en
in

g
(G

.S
. 1

43
-1

29
, 1

43
-1

31
)

G
.S

. -
 p

ub
lic

 b
id

 o
pe

ni
ng

 re
qu

ire
d

Bi
d 

bo
nd

s/
de

po
si

t
(G

.S
. 1

43
-1

29
)

G
.S

. -
 b

id
 b

on
d/

de
po

si
t (

5%
 o

f b
id

 a
m

ou
nt

) 
re

qu
ire

d
Pe

rf
or

m
an

ce
/p

ay
m

en
t b

on
ds

(G
.S

. 4
4A

-2
6,

 1
43

-1
29

)
G

.S
. -

 p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 a
nd

 
pa

ym
en

t b
on

ds
 n

ot
 re

qu
ire

d
H

U
B 

pa
rt

ic
ip

at
io

n 
go

al
s

(G
.S

. 1
43

-1
28

.2
, 1

43
-1

31
)

G
.S

. -
 n

ot
 re

qu
ire

d 
un

le
ss

 p
ar

t 
of

 S
ta

te
-fu

nd
ed

 p
ro

je
ct

 w
or

th
 

$1
00

,0
00

 o
r m

or
e

G
.S

. d
oc

um
en

t g
oo

d 
fa

ith
 e

ffo
rt

s;
 re

po
rt

 
to

 H
U

B
Se

pa
ra

te
 s

pe
ci

fic
at

io
ns

(G
.S

. 1
43

-1
28

)
Li

ce
ns

ed
 c

on
tr

ac
to

r
(G

.S
. -

 8
7.

1,
 8

7.
1.

1,
 1

43
-1

39
.1

)
Co

ns
tr

uc
tio

n 
m

et
ho

ds
(G

.S
. 1

43
-1

28
)

Bo
ar

d 
ap

pr
ov

al
(G

.S
. 1

43
-1

29
, 1

43
-1

31
)

G
.S

. -
 b

oa
rd

 a
pp

ro
va

l r
eq

ui
re

d;
 c

an
no

t b
e 

de
le

ga
te

d
St

an
da

rd
 o

f a
w

ar
d

(G
.S

. 1
43

-1
29

, 1
43

-1
31

)
G

.S
. -

 n
o 

st
an

da
rd

 g
iv

en

Pu
bl

ic
 re

co
rd

s
(G

.S
. 1

32
-1

, 1
32

-6
, 1

43
-1

31
)

G
.S

. -
 b

id
s 

be
co

m
e 

pu
bl

ic
 

re
co

rd
 o

nc
e 

re
ce

iv
ed

G
.S

. -
 b

id
s 

be
co

m
e 

pu
bl

ic
 re

co
rd

 o
nc

e 
op

en
ed

G
.S

. -
 n

ot
 re

qu
ire

d

G
.S

. -
 a

w
ar

d 
to

 lo
w

es
t r

es
po

ns
iv

e,
 re

sp
on

si
bl

e 
bi

dd
er

G
.S

. -
 re

co
rd

 o
f b

id
s 

no
t s

ub
je

ct
 to

 
pu

bl
ic

 in
sp

ec
tio

n 
un

til
 c

on
tr

ac
t a

w
ar

d

G
.S

. -
 b

id
 b

on
ds

 n
ot

 re
qu

ire
d

G
.S

. -
 P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 a

nd
 p

ay
m

en
t b

on
ds

 re
qu

ire
d 

(1
00

%
 o

f b
id

 a
m

ou
nt

) f
or

 c
on

tr
ac

ts
 

co
st

in
g 

m
or

e 
th

an
 $

50
,0

00
 th

at
 a

re
 p

ar
t o

f a
 p

ro
je

ct
 c

os
tin

g 
m

or
e 

th
an

 $
30

0,
00

0.
G

.S
. -

 g
oo

d 
fa

ith
 e

ffo
rt

s 
to

 re
ac

h 
go

al
s;

 b
id

de
rs

 m
us

t s
ub

m
it 

af
fid

av
its

 s
o 

lo
ca

l g
ov

er
nm

en
t c

an
 v

er
ify

 b
id

de
rs

' g
oo

d 
fa

ith
 

ef
fo

rt
s;

 re
po

rt
 to

 H
U

B

G
.S

. -
 m

us
t u

se
 li

ce
ns

ed
 g

en
er

al
 c

on
tr

ac
to

r i
f p

ar
t o

f a
 p

ro
je

ct
 w

or
th

 m
or

e 
th

an
 $

30
,0

00

G
.S

. -
 s

ep
ar

at
e 

sp
ec

ifi
ca

tio
ns

 n
ot

 re
qu

ire
d

G
.S

. -
 s

ep
ar

at
e 

sp
ec

s 
re

qu
ire

d 
fo

r p
lu

m
bi

ng
, e

le
ct

ric
al

, H
VA

C,
 

an
d 

ge
ne

ra
l

G
.S

. -
 n

o 
sp

ec
ifi

c 
m

et
ho

ds
 m

us
t b

e 
us

ed
G

.S
. -

 m
us

t u
se

 s
in

gl
e-

pr
im

e,
 d

ua
l p

rim
e,

 o
r C

M
AR

; a
lte

rn
at

e 
m

et
ho

ds
 m

ay
 o

nl
y 

be
 u

se
d 

if 
ap

pr
ov

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
St

at
e 

Bu
ild

in
g 

Co
m

m
is

si
on

 o
r a

ut
ho

riz
ed

 b
y 

lo
ca

l a
ct

G
.S

. -
 p

ub
lic

 b
id

 o
pe

ni
ng

 n
ot

 re
qu

ire
d

Ta
bl

e 
3

N
or

th
 C

ar
ol

in
a 

Pu
bl

ic
 P

ro
cu

re
m

en
t R

eq
ui

re
m

en
ts

: B
ui

ld
in

g 
Co

ns
tr

uc
tio

n 
an

d 
Re

pa
ir 

Co
nt

ra
ct

s

G
.S

. -
 n

o 
ad

s 
re

qu
ire

d

G
.S

. -
 n

o 
m

in
im

um
Lo

ca
l p

ol
ic

y 
- m

in
im

um
 o

f t
hr

ee
 b

id
s

G
.S

. -
 n

o 
sp

ec
ifi

c 
fo

rm
 re

qu
ire

d
Lo

ca
l p

ol
ic

y 
- m

us
t b

e 
in

 w
rit

te
n 

fo
rm

G
.S

. -
 m

us
t k

ee
p 

a 
re

co
rd

 o
f a

ll 
bi

ds
 

re
ce

iv
ed

Town of Granite Quarry Page 129



 
V. SPECIAL PROCUREMENT PROCEDURES 
 
5.1 Blanket Purchase Order 
Blanket purchase orders: 
 

• will be issued to selected vendors for the procurement of certain items after competitive pricing has 
been completed and if budgeted funds are available; 

• are intended to expedite the procurement of frequently needed and repetitious purchases or supplies; 
• should be made for goods and services when the amount of clerical or administrative work otherwise 

involved is impractical.  
 

Examples of items procured through a blanket purchase order include janitorial supplies, maintenance service 
contracts, chemicals, temporary personnel services, automotive parts, and so forth. The blanket purchase order 
should include the time period the purchase order is valid, the total amount to be encumbered, and the items 
covered by the purchase order. Any vendor delivery tickets or invoices from blanket purchase orders must be 
submitted to Finance as supporting documentation for invoice processing. 
 
5.2 Emergency Purchases 
In cases of emergencies, the Department Head or his/her designee may purchase directly from any vendor the 
supplies or services whose immediate procurement is essential to prevent delays in work which may affect the 
life, health, safety, or convenience of Town employees or citizens. 
 
Department Heads shall exercise good judgment and use established vendors if possible when making emergency 
purchases. Always obtain the best possible price and limit purchases to those items that are emergency related. 
Not anticipating needs does not constitute an emergency situation. First, determine if a true emergency does 
exist. Second, anticipate needs and avoid emergency situations whenever possible. Emergency orders are almost 
always costly. Vendors usually charge top prices if supplies or services must be obtained on an emergency basis. 
 
During normal working hours, follow standard purchasing procedure as usual as soon as time and the situation 
permits. If a situation arises after normal working hours, the Department Head must first verify that funds are 
available. If funds are not available, a written request (email correspondence is sufficient) must be made to the 
Town Manager to transfer funds from within that department. If/once the Town Manager approves and forwards 
the request to Finance, funds can be transferred and the purchase can be made. 
 
5.3 Public Exigency 
A contract may be awarded without competitive bidding when there is a public exigency.  A public exigency exists 
when there is an imminent or actual threat to public health, safety, and/or welfare, and the need for the item will 
not permit the delay resulting from a competitive bidding. 
 
5.4 Single Brand Convenience 
The Town recognizes in certain scenarios it is efficient to purchase items from a single provider rather than a 
variety of vendors. In such cases exceptions may be made to standard purchasing procedure. The purchaser may 
be required to note reasons buying from a certain vendor will be more efficient in the long run and provide 
documentation to Finance with purchase order. For example, one brand of printer Town-wide would allow the 
same type of ink cartridge to be ordered, reducing time related to finding multiple brands, and may allow for bulk 
pricing from a single provider. 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 130



 
5.5 Sole Source 
A contract may be awarded without competitive bidding when the item is available from only one source.  
Justification shall be documented for a lack of available competition for the item. A sole source contract must be 
approved by the governing board (G.S. 143-129). 
 
5.6 State of North Carolina Purchase Contract 
All Departments may use the State of North Carolina Department of Administration Purchase and Contract 
Division whenever possible for procurement of capital and non-capital items. It shall be the responsibility of 
Department Heads to familiarize themselves with this purchasing method and to check for needed goods and 
services which are available through this resource at a lower cost than many other vendors offer. This system 
expedites the purchase of goods, offers pricing compatible with quotes received from formal and informal bids, 
and satisfies North Carolina General Statutes. Examples of goods on State Contract are law enforcement vehicles, 
office furniture, copiers, janitorial supplies, copier paper, light bulbs, etc. The State of North Carolina Interactive 
Purchasing System can be found on the web at: www.ips.state.nc.us/ips/default.aspx. The North Carolina E-
Procurement System can be found on the web at http://eprocurement.nc.gov/. 
 
5.7 Federal Contract 
A contract may be awarded without competitive bidding when the purchase is made from a federal contract 
available on the U.S. General Services Administration schedules of contracts. 
 
5.8 Inadequate Competition 
A contract may be awarded without competitive bidding if inadequate competition is determined after reasonable 
attempts to solicit bids from multiple sources as required within this policy result in only one bid being received. 
 
5.9 Awarding Agency Approval 
A contract may be awarded without competitive bidding with the express written authorization of the federal 
agency or state pass-through agency that awarded the federal funds so long as awarding the contract without 
competition is consistent with state law. 
 
5.10 Piggybacking 
Purchases from contracts entered into by any federal, state, or local government that have been competitively 
bid within the previous 12 months can be used under the guidelines in G.S. 143-129(g) if the contractor is willing 
to extend the same or more favorable prices, terms and conditions. Board approval is required at a regular 
meeting after at least 10 days public notice. 
 
5.11 Service Contracts 
All service contracts in which the contractor will perform work while on Town property must be in writing. 
Contracts must be reviewed and signed by the authorized executor, pre-audited by the Finance Officer, and be 
filed in the vault. The executed contract should be attached to the purchase order (if applicable) then forwarded 
to the Finance Department. Annual contracts will be reviewed prior to renewal and whenever possible structured 
to coincide with the fiscal year. 
 
5.12 Vendors with Town Accounts 
The Town should have accounts with certain vendors where possible in order to expedite the purchasing process 
for frequently needed minor items. In the event the Town has an account with a certain vendor, Town employees 
should not use credit cards to obtain goods or services from the vendor. Proper purchasing procedures must be 
followed, and only authorized purchases may be charged to Town accounts.  

Town of Granite Quarry Page 131



VI. DELIVERY AND PERFORMANCE 
 
A completed and accepted purchase order by the parties concerned must produce the intended results or 
objectives before it can be considered a successful or completed purchase. The terms and conditions must clearly 
define the delivery and performance requirements of the services, supplies, or equipment. 
 
6.1 Partial Deliveries 
The importance of the delivery schedule will be emphasized to the vendor. Delivery requirements will be clearly 
written and fully understood by all vendors. If several items are required by the purchase order, there may be a 
different delivery schedule for each item. In some cases, the vendor may complete timely delivery on some items, 
referred to as "partial delivery". Upon receipt of a partial delivery, the delivery receipt or invoice must be 
forwarded to Finance with indication from which line item(s) the purchase order is to be paid. 
 
6.2 Non-Performance 
If a vendor fails to meet any requirements(s) of the specifications or terms and conditions of the contract or 
purchase order, the vendor can be cited for non-performance. The seriousness of non-performance will be 
evaluated based upon the circumstances of each violation. 
 
Life, safety, and successful operation of expensive equipment and supplies may depend upon how well a 
purchased item meets design and performance specifications. Goods and materials should be inspected for 
damage and defects, and must comply with the specifications. If damage is found or the goods fail to comply with 
the specifications, the item(s) shall be rejected as outlined below. 
 
6.3 Rejection 
In order to protect the Town's rights in the event of rejection, for whatever reason, the vendor shall be informed 
immediately. Reasons for the rejection must be documented in writing.  Whenever applicable and practical, 
photos illustrating the reasons for rejection shall also be taken.  All such documentation shall then be attached to 
a copy of the purchase order and/or invoice and forwarded to Finance in a timely manner. 
 
6.4 Damaged Goods 
One of the major reasons for immediately inspecting the goods or materials upon receipt is to detect any visible 
damage. All damage, including evidence of concealed damage, shall be documented in writing, and photographed 
whenever applicable and practical.  All documentation shall then be attached to a copy of the purchase order 
and/or invoice, forwarded to Finance, and reported to the vendor as soon as possible. In cases that the extent of 
the damage causes the goods to be worthless, they will be rejected. 
 
6.5 Latent Defects 
Latent defects may be the result of damage in transit or failure of the manufacturer to conform to specifications. 
Consequently, it is often difficult to fix responsibility for the defective material. If specific liability for the defect 
cannot be determined between the carrier, the vendor, or the manufacturer, the Town may file a claim against all 
parties. Attach any photos and written documentation to a copy of the purchase order and forward to Finance. 
 

  

Town of Granite Quarry Page 132



VII. VENDOR RELATIONS 
 
Good vendor relations are valuable business assets established through mutual confidence and satisfactory 
business communication between buyer and seller. An important contribution toward promoting and preserving 
these relations is a clear understanding of the contract method between buyer and seller. Any conflicts which may 
arise should be reported to Finance. 
 
VIII. SALE OF TOWN PROPERTY 
 
The Town Manager has been delegated authority by the Board to declare as surplus a single asset, personal 
property, or a group of assets with a value of up to $30,000.00, to set its fair market value, to convey title to the 
property, and to advertise electronically the sale of any personal property. Listing an item for auction on sites such 
as GovDeals satisfies the advertising requirement. The Town Manager shall sign the Sale of Property Authorization 
form prior to the sale or disposal of any Town property. Finance shall keep all approved forms, which will record 
a description of the property sold or exchanged and the amount of money or other considerations received for 
each sale or exchange. Sections 2.10 through 2.13 of this policy and G.S. 160A-265 through G.S. 160A-280 should 
be referenced before the sale of any Town property in order to ensure statutes and procedures are followed 
properly. 
 
IX. FUEL CARDS 
 
Fuel cards will be assigned to Town-owned vehicles and are required to be used to purchase fuel for Town vehicles, 
or in some instances to purchase fuel for other job-related equipment such as: weed-eaters, lawn mowers, leaf-
blowers, etc. It is not appropriate for Town employees to use fuel cards to purchase fuel for any other vehicle or 
equipment other than that for which the card was issued. Fuel cards are required to remain with the assigned 
vehicle and any missing cards should be reported to the supervisor immediately. Employees are required to use 
an assigned PIN when purchasing fuel. Any unauthorized use of a PIN not assigned to the employee, or a Town-
owned vehicle or piece of equipment, is subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination. Fuel card 
statements are carefully reviewed and monitored for discrepancies. Fuel card statements are reconciled on a 
monthly basis and compared to prior months.  Purchase orders are not required for fuel purchases. 
 
X. CREDIT CARDS 
 
Credit cards exist to provide the Town a flexible and efficient way to make small purchases and empower the 
cardholder to acquire necessary materials to conduct business and/or deliver services in a more convenient and 
expeditious manner. Credit cards are not to be used to purchase items or services not directly related to Town 
business. 
 
10.1 Employee Responsibilities 
No purchase over $100.00 shall be made using the credit card without a purchase order. Credit cards assigned to 
employees have approval limits set by the Town Manager and Finance. If a Department Head wishes to increase 
the limit set on the credit card for a specific purchase, a request must be made to the Town Manager and Finance, 
and written approval must be received prior to purchase. The following credit card guidelines must be followed: 
 

• The credit card that each cardholder receives shall only be used by the cardholder unless authorization is 
given by the Department Head. The cardholder may make transactions on behalf of others in their 
department; however, the cardholder is responsible in both his/her personal and professional capacities 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 133



for all purchases charged to his/her card. 
• Receipts are required for all purchases. The cardholder is responsible for maintaining receipts of all card 

transactions and submitting them to Finance, with purchase order when required. Failure to submit 
receipts in a timely manner, or repeated lost/missing receipts may result in a cardholder losing credit card 
privileges. 

• Credit cards may be used for lodging and for training/professional activities and expenses related to 
training/professional activities with prior approval. 

 
10.2 Unauthorized Purchases 
The following list of items have been deemed inappropriate for purchase by Town employees using a Town issued 
credit card or any other payment method: 
 

• Personal purchases or for personal identification 
• A single purchase that exceeds the cardholder’s purchase limit 
• Cash advances 
• Gift cards 
• Alcoholic beverages 
• Purchase of in-room movies or entertainment during a hotel/motel stay while on Town business 

 
10.3 Improper Use of Credit Cards 
A cardholder who makes unauthorized purchases or carelessly uses a credit card will be liable to the Town for the 
total dollar amount of such purchases plus any administrative fees charged by the bank or card company in 
connection with the misuse. The cardholder’s employment may also be terminated and the cardholder will be 
subject to legal action. 
 
Cardholders are expected to obtain the best prices available on purchases. Purchase of an item above market 
prices where the vendor gives the employee any form of gift, bonus, or premium - whether in the form of cash or 
merchandise - is considered a kickback, is illegal, and is subject to disciplinary action up to and including 
termination of employment and lawful prosecution. Town policy strictly forbids anything in exchange for making 
a purchase. 
 
XI. FRINGE BENEFITS 
 
Any item purchased for an employee must be a valid business expense and not considered wages to the individual. 
Clothing, non-monetary awards, meals, travel, and other items may be considered wages depending on 
circumstances. Awards of cash or cash equivalents are always considered wages regardless of the amount 
awarded. All awards and purchases considered wages to an employee must be processed through payroll and will 
be subject to all applicable taxes. Any award of cash or cash equivalents must be pre-approved by the Town 
Manager. Please contact Finance with any questions. 
  

Town of Granite Quarry Page 134



XII. EXHIBITS 
 
Exhibit A. Example of Qualified-Based Selection Exemption 
 

 

 

Town of Granite Quarry 
143 N Salisbury Avenue Granite Quarry, NC 28146 

PO Box 351 Granite Quarry, NC 28072 
704.279.5596 Office | 704.279.6648 Fax 

 
 

 
TO: Project File for (Project to be Exempted) 
FROM: Town Manager 

RE: Exemption from NCGS §143-64.31 
DATE: DD/MM/YYYY 
 
 
The contract for architectural, engineering, surveying, construction management at risk services, design-
build services, or public-private partnership construction services for the above-referenced project is 
hereby exempted from the requirements of NCGS §143-64.31.  The estimated total cost of this contract 
is less than the exemption threshold of $50,000 as per §143-64.32. 
 
For the purposes of documentation and transparency, the justification behind the decision to exempt this 
project under the provisions of §143-64.32 was based on: 

• Established relationship with representatives of the selected firm of ___________, and the 
baseline familiarity with the Town of Granite Quarry that relationship has afforded. 

• The benefits to critical project scheduling and cost savings that preexisting baseline familiarity 
with the Town of Granite Quarry that relationship affords. 

• The small contract amount of this project (estimated not to exceed $XX,XXX). 
 
As presented to the Granite Quarry Board of Aldermen and duly authorized by the Board to proceed at its 
Month Day, 20XX regularly scheduled monthly meeting, approval to use this exemption is confirmed by 
the manager’s signature below. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
_________________________      ________________ 
(Name)         Date 
Town Manager 
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 135



Exhibit B. Sale of Town Property Authorization 
 

SALE OF TOWN PROPERTY AUTHORIZATION 
 

The Department Head is required to obtain authorization from the Town Manager prior to the sale 
or disposal of any Town Property, regardless of value. Include any additional relevant information 
necessary. Please attach a photo of the item requested to be sold if available. 

Complete the table below prior to the disposal of property: 

DESCRIPTION 
OF ITEM 

 SALE 
PROCEEDS 
ESTIMATE 

 

PROPERTY 
CONDITION 

 DEPT/BUDGET 
WHICH MADE 
THE ORIGINAL 
PURCHASE 

 

YEAR  TOWN I.D. #  

MILEAGE  VIN / SERIAL #  

MAKE  LICENSE 
PLATE# 

 

MODEL    

Other description, notes: 
 

 
 

Department Head Signature:   Date:  /  /   
 

Town Manager Signature:   Date:  /  /   

Complete the table below after the disposal of property: 

NAME OF 
INDIVIDUAL 
OR BUSINESS 
THAT ROPERTY 
WAS SOLD TO: 

 DATE PAYMENT 
RECEIVED BY 
TOWN: 

 

SALE 
PROCEEDS 
ACTUAL 

$ SIGNATURE OF 
TOWN EMPLOYEE 
RECEIVING 
PAYMENT: 

 

 
This completed/ signed and authorized form must be submitted to the Finance Department along with 
the proceeds of any sale of property. If an item is scrapped or disposed of with no proceeds this 
completed/ signed and authorized form must be submitted to the Finance Department within 5 days of 
the disposition of property. 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 136



Agenda Item Summary 
Regular Meeting 
June 14, 2021 
Agenda Item 17                                   Clyde Adams Plaque 

      
          
 
 

Summary: 
 

Chief Cook will present the follow up design of the Clyde Adams 
plaque. 

Action Requested: 
 

Motion to proceed with the purchase of plaque as presented. 

Motion Made By: 

Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  

Second By: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  
 
 

 

For: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  

Against: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  

 
 
In case of tie: 
Mayor Bill Feather 

 For              

 Against      
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 137



Agenda Item Summary 
Regular Meeting 
June 14, 2021 
Agenda Item 18                                     Annexation 2016-09-06 Ratification 

      
          
 
 

Summary: 
 

While reviewing records in 2019 we discovered that the 2016 
annexation of the “Barringer / Faith Rd property and a sewer easement” 
was not properly recorded with the Secretary of State.  The Town 
Attorney has been working with the Secretary of State’s Office to 
resolve that annexation’s filing issues.  Attached is a ratification of that 
annexation action to allow us to get it properly filed. 
 
Attachment: 
 
Ratification of Annexation action 

Action Requested: 
 

Motion to adopt the proposed ratification as presented. 

Motion Made By: 

Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  

Second By: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  
 
 

 

For: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  

Against: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  

 
 
In case of tie: 
Mayor Bill Feather 

 For              

 Against      
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 138



Town of Granite Quarry Page 139



Town of Granite Quarry Page 140



Town of Granite Quarry Page 141



Town of Granite Quarry Page 142



Town of Granite Quarry Page 143



Town of Granite Quarry Page 144



Town of Granite Quarry Page 145



Agenda Item Summary 
Regular Meeting 
June 14, 2021 
Agenda Item 19                                 Civitans / Legion Hut Agreement 

      
          
 
 

Summary: 
 

At its June 3rd budget workshop the Board reviewed the 2010 Civitan 
Agreement for use of the Legion Hut, and the current rental fee amount 
slated to be updated and applied to that Agreement.  Town Attorney 
Chip Short has supplied the attached draft of the updated Agreement.  If 
approved, the Civitan Club advised they will discuss it at their June 
meeting. 
 
Attachment: 
 
Civitans / Legion Hut Agreement 
 

Action Requested: 
 

Motion to approve the revised Agreement with the Civitan Club 
for use of the Legion Building as presented. 

Motion Made By: 

Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  

Second By: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  
 
 

 

For: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  

Against: 
Jim Costantino  

Kim Cress  

John Linker  

Doug Shelton  
  

 
 
In case of tie: 
Mayor Bill Feather 

 For              

 Against      
 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 146



 

 
 

PROCLAMATION IN HONOR OF  
THE 100th BIRTHDAY OF  

MR. HARRY DRURY 
 

 

WHEREAS, Mr. Harry Drury holds the distinction of being a Granite 
Quarry NC Centenarian; and   

WHEREAS, Mr. Drury, with his late wife Dot, has been a resident of 
Granite Quarry for more than 75 years during which they raised their two 
children, Harriet and Terry; and 

WHEREAS, Mr. Drury has been described as an amazing man whose 
vitality, energy, and positive attitude belie his advanced age; and 

WHEREAS, Mr. Drury celebrated his 100TH birthday on February 18, 
2021. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT PROCLAIMED, that I, William D. Feather, 
by virtue of the authority vested in me as Mayor of the Town of Granite 
Quarry, North Carolina, do hereby proclaim and celebrate the life of 
distinguished citizen, Mr. Harry Drury 

 
On this the 14th Day of June, 2021. 

 
    

         _____________________________ 
         William D. Feather, Mayor  
ATTEST:  
 
_____________________________ 
Aubrey Smith, Town Clerk  

Town of Granite Quarry Page 147



June 2021 
  

Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday 

  1 2 3 4 5 
  

 
 
 

   
 

  

6 7 8 9 10 11 12 
  

 
 
Planning Board 6pm 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
Centralina Executive 
Board Mtng 5pm 

 
 
 
CAC 6pm 

  

13 14 15 16 17 18 19 
  

 

Business After Hours 5pm 
BoA Regular Mtg. 7pm 

 
 
Revitalization 3:30pm 

 

 
Parks Community 
Input Session Lake 
Park Shelter 5pm 

   

20 21 22 23 24 25 26 
  

 
P.E.R.C. 5pm 
ZBA 5:30pm 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
MPO TAC 5:30pm 

Power in 
Partnership 
Breakfast 7:30am 
 

  

27 28 29 30    
  

 
 

  
 
 
 

   

 

Town of Granite Quarry Page 148


	June 14, 2021 Board of Aldermen Regular Meeting Agenda
	1. Approval of Agenda
	2. Approval of Consent Agenda
	2. A. Approval of Minutes
	2. A. 1) 5/10/2021 Draft Regular Meeting Minutes
	2. A. 2) 5/21/2021 Draft Budget Workshop Minutes
	2. A. 3) 6/3/2021 Draft Budget Workshop Minutes

	2. B. Departmental Reports
	2. C. Financial Reports
	2. D. Chamberlain Exterminators, LLC Annual Agreement

	4. A. Amy Smith, Rowan County
	5. Town Events
	6. Town Manager Report
	7. Public Hearing FY21-22 Proposed Budget
	8. Public Hearing UDO Text Amend ZBA Membership
	9. Public Hearing UDO Text Amend Flood Damage Prevention Ord
	10. Public Hearing UDO Text Amend Conflict of Interest
	11. Reappointments - Planning Board
	12. Reappointment - Community Appearance Commission
	13. Reappointments - Zoning Board of Adjustment
	14. Reappointment - Parks, Events, and Recreation Committee
	15. Social Media / Website Updates and Recommendation
	16. Purchasing Policy
	17. Clyde Adams Plaque
	18. Annexation Ratification
	*19. Civitan / Legion Hut Agreement
	20. Proclamation - Harry Drury 100th Birthday
	June 2021 Calendar

	Back: 


